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Introduction
On behalf of the Board, I would like to present the Annual Report 
of the NRF for the 2018/19 financial year. The organisation 
continued to place emphasis on key deliverables as reflected on 
in its Strategy 2020, including the Annual Performance Plan for 
the 2018/19 to 2020/21 planning cycle.

High-level overview of strategy and 
performance 
The NRF Strategy 2020 was developed with a strong focus on 
addressing the poor participation of South African society in 
knowledge generation by leveraging the funds, research infrastructure 
platforms and extensive national and global science networks of the 
NRF.  This resulted in a deliberate choice of a suite of core key 
performance indicators (KPIs) that committed the organisation to 
increasing the quality and quantity of research outputs; recognising 
and rewarding outstanding researchers; and deliberately changing 
the diversity of researchers. The strategic choices pursued included 
designing instruments to fund postgraduate students and research 
fellows, the acquisition and maintenance of research infrastructure 
and beginning the necessary engagement between science 
and society. The NRF Strategy 2020 and the succeeding Annual 
Performance Plans ensured that the organisation remained aligned 
to national policies, evolving plans and priorities, among which the 
National Development Plan 2030; the White Paper on Science and 
Technology of 1996; the White Paper for Post-school Education and 
Training; the Ten-year Innovation Plan; and the National Research 
and Development Strategy that provided an anchoring framework.  

Through its well-designed programmes and directed funding 
instruments, the organisation continued to demonstrate its 
unwavering commitment to contribute to the resolution of the 
country’s triple challenges of unemployment, poverty and 
inequality. During the 2018/19 financial year, the NRF participated 
actively in the development of the recently published White 

Paper on Science, Technology and Innovation, which retains 
the focus on transformation, the competitiveness of the national 
system of innovation and the need to accelerate participation 
in the development and adoption of the fourth industrial 
revolution technologies that can leapfrog South Africa’s pace of 
development.  The organisation also welcomes the publication 
of the amendments to the NRF Act, Act 23 of 1998, which 
expand and clarify the scope of its mandate as well as roles for 
governance, policy making and execution. 

The NRF has navigated challenges of fiscal constraints and 
the prudent use of funds to increase research support; steep 
increases in the cost of higher education, human capital and 
research infrastructure acquisition and maintenance; and 
increasing geo-political threats to the global scientific network of 
collaborations. The impact of these challenges on service delivery 
commitments was mitigated through focused oversight by the 
Board over the performance and risk processes and outcomes of 
the organisation. The NRF maintains a positive trend of achieving 
success rates above the national average for the number and 
diversity of supported postgraduate students and researchers. 
This is the result of unreserved commitment to the acceleration of 
its transformation agenda on the part of the NRF.

Strategic relationships
Significant advances have been made in fostering and enhancing 
the strategic partnerships of the organisation locally and globally 
within the private and the public sector. This is intended to foster 
execution of strategy to leverage networks and relationships to 
enhance the capacity of the NRF to achieve larger outcomes 
and broader impacts. The NRF continues to play a critical role 
in a number of multilateral collaborations, such as the Global 
Research Council, the Science Granting Council in Sub-Saharan 
Africa and the OR Tambo Research Chairs Initiative, to support 
the promotion and development of science. The NRF participates 
actively in these strategic collaborations to advance science 
globally and on the African continent. South Africa, through the 
NRF, is a member of the global Square Kilometer Array (SKA) 
consortium. The formalisation of the SKA Convention on 12 March 
2019 will enhance the standing of South Africa as a host country 
and further advance our standing in astronomy research globally.

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON 
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Challenges faced by the Board
Transformation of the research landscape remains a national 
priority. It is thus crucial that the different NRF funding instruments 
should undergo periodic reviews to remain the primary drivers of 
the transformation agenda.  

The NDP has set a target of producing more than 100 doctoral 
graduates per one million of the population by 2030. This presents 
another challenge for PhD graduates to secure traditional 
employment opportunities in the relatively small National System 
of Innovation (NSI). Transformation should go beyond training 
and knowledge creation. The transformation footprint can thus 
be broadened through innovative public private partnerships 
(PPPs), fostering joint appointments with institutions of higher 
education, international exchanges, technology transfer, and 
most importantly, strategic collaboration with industry to facilitate 
innovation and development.  

The critical role of science, technology and innovation (STI) cannot 
be ignored in helping to solve some of the pressing and grand 
societal challenges. In a time of fiscal constraints and competing 
national interests, the call for prioritisation of investments in STI 
should be elevated for the country to take special care of the 
‘goose that lays the golden eggs’.

Medium- to long-term goals of the entity
The fourth industrial revolution presents new opportunities to 
reshape the research landscape to enable convergence in 
scientific disciplines, processing of big data and augmentation 

of human capabilities made possible by, among other things, 
universal broadband, artificial intelligence, internet of things, 
supercomputing and robotics. The NRF embraces these 
opportunities and will continue to incorporate these and other 
emerging and country-relevant priorities in the development of 
the NRF Strategy 2030 and its subsidiary implementation plans 
to enhance its relevance in contributing towards the achievement 
of the aspirations spelt out in the South African Constitution and 
the National Development Plan. This will enable the NRF to give 
effect to its legislative goal of contributing to national development.

Acknowledgements/appreciation
I would like to thank the previous Minister of Science and 
Technology, Ms Mmamoloko Kubayi-Ngubane, MP, and officials 
of the Department for their support of the NRF and its work.  I 
would also like to express my gratitude to fellow Board members, 
the Executive Management and all the employees of the NRF for 
their dedication and contribution to the continued success of the 
organisation.

Conclusion
The fiscal environment will remain constrained for the foreseeable 
future due to modest economic growth, locally and globally. The 
NRF will continue to use the very scarce resources appropriated 
to it in a prudent and judicious manner to strike a balance between 
the measurable goals and objectives as articulated in its plans to 
drive a holistic and integrated high-performance culture through 
robust governance and business management.

Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh  
NRF Board Chairperson

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON 
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OVERVIEW BY THE CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

An annual report is a crucial accountability document of any 
entity and I am delighted to present the NRF Annual Report for 
the 2018/19 financial year. This Report provides the NRF with an 
opportunity to present its progress in advancing knowledge through 
supporting, promoting and conducting research and human capacity 
development in fulfilment of its mandate. The year was marked by 
some significant changes at both international and national level, 
symptomised by ongoing global geo-political changes and locally, 
the national and provincial elections leading to the establishment of 
the sixth administration and parliament.  In addition, the increasing 
realisation of the importance of the fourth industrial revolution 
technologies has resulted in national efforts to ensure that the 
country joins the momentum. In this Report we give an account of 
achievements against our plans and mandate for the financial year.  

General spending trends and performance 
against the strategic outcome-orientated 
goals of the public entity 
The NRF continued to advance the knowledge and research 
enterprise through human capital development and the provision 
of access to infrastructure platforms over a wide spectrum of 
science disciplines through carefully designed and managed 
instruments.  In addition to investments, the organisation 
continued to pursue its transformation agenda by prioritising 
improvement in the equity profiles of students and researchers 
across the knowledge enterprise. 

During the financial year, 10 980 postgraduate students comprising 
4 990 masters and 3 265 doctoral students, with a focus on black 
students, were funded. The NRF continued to support growth 
of knowledge through grants for the conduct of research and 
provision of the necessary research infrastructure. As such, an 
amount of R2.5 billion in grants and bursaries was  invested to 
support  students, researchers and research infrastructure. 
This level of investment is a reflection of the NRF’s unwavering 
commitment to contribute towards the transformation trajectory 
of South Africa. The active promotion of NRF ratings led to an 
increase in the number of researchers that were rated during 
the financial year.  In this regard, a total of 3 957 researchers, 
among whom 1 207 black and 1 358 female students, received 
NRF ratings.  

A total of R825 million was spent on supporting strategic 
investments, consisting mainly of 238 Research Chairs and 14 
Centres of Excellence that were active during the financial year. 
Research Chairs supported 1 615 students, while Centres of 
Excellence supported 979 students. 

Investment in research infrastructure is primarily through the 
National Equipment Programme (NEP). In the year under review, 
there were 2 996 users of the funded equipment who, in turn, 
produced 682 research publications. Research undertaken with 
this infrastructure was in thematic areas such as communicable 
diseases, nanotechnology, biosciences and environmental 
management, including global change and energy, among others.

An enhanced relationship between science and society was forged 
during the financial year as a transformation imperative. Focused 
interventions were carried out in the areas of mathematics, 
sciences and technology to support 168 901 learners and 3 372 
educators. Members of the public were also reached through 
mass participation events and engagements at the National 
Research Facilities. A total investment of R122 million was made 
in science engagement activities during the financial year.

The National Research Facilities continue to be the primary 
mechanism to provide research infrastructure platforms to the 
national science system. In addition, these Facilities continue to 
provide support to the training of postgraduate students and early 
career researchers. The National Research Facilities published 
567 ISI scholarly articles during the 2018/19 financial year.

General financial review of the public 
entity
The national fiscal and monetary environment continued to be 
constrained, which had a significant impact on the availability of 
resources to deliver on the mandate of the NRF. Total income 
decreased by 8.6% in real terms and 13% in nominal terms, 
while total expenditure decreased from R4.7 billion in 2017/18 to 
R4.1 billion in the 2018/19 financial year in alignment with the 
lower income level. The NRF continued to exercise prudence in 
managing its costs against the commitment of improving internal 
efficiencies and cost-containment measures. Organisational 
overheads continued to be within the targeted threshold of 10% of 
total expenditure and capital expenditure decreased significantly 
compared with the previous financial year because of the 
completion of key projects such as the MeerKAT construction.  
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Dr Molapo Qhobela   
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

OVERVIEW BY THE CEO

Economic viability
During the year under review, the NRF continued to display 
sustainable financial performance and a resilient balance sheet. 

Audit Report matters
The Auditor-General expressed an unqualified audit opinion. 
However, an amount of R4 million was declared as irregular 
expenditure on the acquisition of goods and services, although full 
value for money spent had been received. Greater emphasis will 
continue to be placed on eliminating irregular expenditure through 
ongoing staff training and a focus on better contract management.

Future plans to address financial 
challenges  
The current resourcing model of the NRF is not ideal to enable the 
organisation to direct its resources effectively towards achieving 
expected outcomes in the delivery of its mandate. The current 
model results in some 75% of the total budget of the NRF being 
predetermined. This does not allow the organisation to respond 
strategically to emergent national priorities. A process has been 
initiated to develop an appropriate framework for funding the 
NRF mandate in consultation with National Treasury and the 
Department of Science and Technology.

Challenges experienced
A major and ongoing challenge remains centered on a need 
to increase public investment to resource the mandate of 
the organisation.  There is a significant need to increase the 
reach and quantum of funding for postgraduate students and 
researchers. Currently, the NRF supports less than 10% of 
registered postgraduate students and approximately 20% of 
researchers and academics at universities. Equally important is 
the renewal and acquisition of essential research infrastructure to 
enable support to researchers and postgraduate students.  

Discontinued activities
No activities were discontinued as operations during the 2018/19 
financial year.

New or proposed activities
There were no new or proposed activities.

Events after the reporting date
There were no events of impact to be reported on. 

Acknowledgements and appreciation
This Annual Report coincides with the final year of the NRF 
Strategy 2020 and the commemoration of 25 years of democracy 
that, notably, include 20 years of existence of the NRF. During 
that time, the NRF made significant strides towards advancing 
knowledge, transforming lives and inspiring the nation. 

On behalf of the NRF, I would like to express my appreciation 
to the Honourable Ms Mmamoloko Kubayi-Ngubane, MP, for her 
leadership as the Minister of Science and Technology during 
the financial year. The NRF welcomes the Honourable Dr BE 
Nzimande, MP, as the Minister of Higher Education, Science and 
Technology, and looks forward to working under his leadership in 
shaping the trajectory of science and innovation in our country. I 
also wish to express our sincere appreciation to the Parliamentary 
Portfolio Committee on Science and Technology for their guidance 
and diligence under the leadership of Ms Lindiwe Maseko, MP. 
We, similarly, look forward to working with Mr P Mapulane, MP, 
as the Chairperson of the Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on 
Higher Education, Science and Technology.

I also want to thank Prof Loyiso Nongxa for his guidance and 
leadership of the Board to the end of September 2018. The 
new Board under the leadership of Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh 
assumed their role with effect from October 2019. This Report is 
presented under the leadership of Dr Obokoh and management 
express their appreciation to the Board for their guidance and 
leadership.   

Lastly, I wish to express my gratitude to the entire stakeholder 
community of the NRF, including the management team and staff, 
for their endeavors and dedication in steering the organisation 
towards the achievement of its objectives.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF 
ACCURACY OF THE ANNUAL REPORT

Yours faithfully

  
Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
July 2019

 
Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh
NRF Board Chairperson
July 2019

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the Annual Report are 
consistent with the Annual Financial Statements audited by the 
Auditor-General.

The Annual Report is complete, accurate and free from any 
omissions. It has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines 
on annual reports as issued by National Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements on page 99 have been 
prepared in accordance with the standards applicable to the 
public entity. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation of the Annual Financial Statements and for the 
judgements made in this information.

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and 
implementing a system of internal control that has been designed 
to provide reasonable assurance about the integrity and reliability 
of the performance information, the human resources information 
and the Annual Financial Statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the Annual Financial Statements.

In our opinion, the Annual Report reflects the operations, the 
performance information, the human resources information and 
the financial affairs of the organisation for the financial year ended 
31 March 2019 fairly.

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
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1. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

Passion for excellence Respect

World-class service

Accountability

People-centredEthics and integrity

...  Catalysing knowledge production for societal benefit.

... To contribute to the knowledge economy in 
South Africa by attaining at least 1% of the global 
research and development (R&D) output by 2020.

The NRF Strategy 2020 is grounded in delivering on its mandate 
as articulated in the National Research Foundation Act (Act 23 
of 1998) (NRF Act), namely to, as far as national development is 
concerned, create value for the citizens of South Africa through 
the impact of knowledge and innovation derived from investment 
in research and human capacity development (HCD).  The 
environment within which the National Research Foundation 
(NRF) operates is evolving at a high pace and is hugely affected 
by global narratives that shape its strategic direction and 
trajectory, among which global competition for science resources, 
dependence of science on the ability to manage voluminous data 
and an increasing demand for publicly-funded science to yield 
societal benefits within shorter periods. As such, it is crucial that 
the NRF positions itself to leverage the value of an increasingly 
digital and networked world to contribute towards the development 
of the South African economy into becoming globally competitive 
through excellent science. 

During the fourth year of implementation of the NRF Strategy 
2020, the organisation was faced by multiple challenges due 
to limited funding. The dynamic higher education environment, 
which is influenced by numerous drivers of change such as 
student demographics, technology and politics, also presented 
the organisation with opportunity to reflect on its impact and to 
experiment with new and innovative initiatives to enhance its role 
as a state agency that drives the transformation of the research 
enterprise to the benefit of all South Africans and the world. 

NRF vision 
The NRF vision statement is:

 

NRF mission
The NRF mission is: 

NRF values 
The NRF values underpin the strategic intent of the organisation 
and inform its approach to delivering on its public mandate. These 
are grounded in inclusivity and a tapestry of individual, cultural 
and societal values and ethics, and promote strength in diversity, 
equality, equity, community and sustainability. The values are cited 
in Figure 1 and are built on the foundation of the four core tenets 
of the NRF, namely transformation, excellence, sustainability and 
a service culture.   

Figure 1:  NRF values

PART A: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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2.1 NRF legislative mandate
The NRF was established in 1998 as a public entity through the 
NRF Act, as amended. The Act stipulates the mandate of the NRF 
as follows: 

2.2 NRF other policy mandates
The NRF mandate is contextualised in terms of national priorities 
as set out in the National Development Plan (NDP) 2030, and the 
Medium-term Strategic Framework (MTSF) 2014–2019, as well 
as applicable strategies and policies of the Department of Science 
and Technology (DST), the Department of Higher Education and 
Training (DHET) and other government departments.

2.2.1 National strategies

The NDP 2030

The NDP endeavours to “… chart a new course and write a new 
story” for South Africa. The Plan maps a way for the country to 
eliminate poverty, address inequality and ensure that all citizens 
have the ability to seize available opportunities. The DST and 
the DHET, supported by the NRF, aim to address the challenges 
through contribution to the following NDP goals:  

• Increasing the number of academic staff with doctoral 
qualifications from 34% to 75%;

• Increasing the number of postgraduate enrolments at higher 
education institutions (HEIs) from 16% to 25% or more;

• Growing the number of doctoral graduates per annum from 
2 000 to 5 000, and in so doing, increasing the number of 
doctoral graduates per million of the population from 36 in 
2015 to 100 by 2030. 

The National Research and Development 
Strategy (NRDS)

The NRDS highlights the importance of globally competitive and 
contextually relevant research outputs in addressing the needs 
of the country. These are expressed through the geographic and 
knowledge advantage areas.

National Plan for Higher Education

The Plan provides an implementation framework to realise the 
objectives of the White Paper on Science and Technology on 
transforming the higher education system to meet the social and 
economic development needs of the country.    

The Human Resources Development Strategy 
(HRDS)

The HRDS recognises the need to implement a systemic strategy 
for human resources (HR) development to address the disparities 
between wealth and poverty through the institutionalisation of 
HR development planning and implementation, as well as the 
effective monitoring of progress against national targets.  

2.2.2 Science and technology strategies and 
policies

The DST has developed a number of strategies and policies to 
shape the future landscape of the science system. These include:

• Ten-year Innovation Plan of 2007;
• Strategy for HCD for Research,
• Innovation and Scholarships;
• The DST Science Engagement Framework;
• The South African Research Infrastructure Roadmap (SARIR);
• The Ministerial Guidelines for Improving Equity in the 

Distribution of DST/NRF Bursaries and Fellowships; and
• Discipline-specific strategies and plans such as the National 

Strategy for Multiwavelength Astronomy; the South African 

2. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES

… To support and promote research through funding, 
human resource development and the provision of 
necessary research facilities in order to facilitate the 
creation of knowledge, innovation and development in all 
fields of science and technology, including indigenous 
knowledge and thereby to contribute to the improvement 
of the quality of life of all the people of the Republic. The 
NRF also supports and promotes awareness of, and 
engagement with science in order to improve science 
literacy and public participation in science, technology, 
engineering, mathematics and innovation.

PART A: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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Marine and Antarctic Research Strategy (MARS); and the 
Palaeoscience Strategy; and

• The new White Paper on Science and Technology.

2.2.3 International strategies

A number of international strategies that shape the future 
landscape of science systems on the continent are, among 
others, the following:

• The Science, Technology and Innovation Strategy for Africa 
(STISA) 2024;

• The Southern African Development Community (SADC) 
education and training protocol;

• The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; and
• Agenda 2063 of the African Union.

PART A: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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3. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

The NRF Board of Directors is appointed through the NRF Act, 
as amended, and functions as the highest decision-making 
governance body of the organisation. The Board is also the 
accounting authority of the NRF in accordance with the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) (PFMA), as amended. 
The CEO is appointed by the Board and serves as its executive 
member. Guided by the Board, the Corporate Executive 
Committee members and the CEO provide leadership concerning 

the development and implementation of the NRF Strategy 2020, 
governance functions and performance of the organisation to 
ensure that the value envisaged through the legislative mandate 
is achieved.  The structure of the organisation ensures alignment 
of roles and functions to strategic programmes, as well as 
operational and governance responsibilities.  Both the high-level 
governance structure and the functional structure of the NRF are 
provided below.

Figure 2:  High-level organisational structure

PART A: STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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The Auditor-General of South Africa (AGSA)/auditor currently 
performs the necessary audit procedures on performance 
information to provide reasonable assurance in the form of an 
audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on performance against 
predetermined objectives is included in an audit report to 
management, with material findings being reported under the 

heading, Predetermined Objectives, in the section covering other 
legal and regulatory requirements.  

Refer to page 95 for the Auditor’s Report in Part E: Financial 
Information.

4.  AUDITOR’S REPORT: PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

5.1 Service delivery environment and 
strategic partners

The National Research Foundation (NRF), as an agency of 
government, provides a world-class granting system in support 
of postgraduate human capacity development (HCD), cutting-
edge research, the provision of access to competitive research 
infrastructure, as well as science engagement. The NRF also acts 
as a research performer through the National Research Facilities.

The NRF discharges its mandate in alignment with the objectives 
of the Department of Science and Technology (DST) and other 
strategic partners that include the Department of Higher Education 
and Training (DHET), the Department of Trade and Industry 
(the dti) and science councils. The organisation also functions 
closely with the broader NSI stakeholder community, including 
the National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS), the Council 
on Higher Education (CHE), the Human Sciences Research 
Council (HSRC), the National Advisory Council on Innovation 
(NACI) and others.  Moreover, the organisation actively engages 
with the public and has fostered long-standing relationships 
with museums; professional associations; local private-sector 
partners; and international and multi-national organisations.

5.2  Organisational environment

Performance overview

The performance of the NRF is derived from predetermined Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) and targets as articulated in the 

Annual Performance Plan (APP) 2018/19–2020/21 and the NRF 
Strategy 2020.  The overall performance of the organisation 
against all performance indicators of its predetermined objectives 
in the APP 2018/19 is 62%. The performance against core 
indicators highlighted in the strategic plan is 88% achieved (see 
table 19 on page 60).

Challenges

The NRF reviews the organisational environment continuously to 
identify challenges that may influence its ability to deliver on its 
mandate. Ongoing challenges for the organisation remain centred 
around the need to:

• Increase investments significantly to improve adequacy and 
reach to diverse postgraduate students; 

• Renew and acquire essential research infrastructure to 
support researchers and students;  

• Enhance the relationship between science and society; and 
• Increase the research running cost components of grants.

Over the reporting period, the NRF identified the following primary 
challenges:

Financial and operational sustainability

The domestic economic growth outlook, although gradually 
improving, remains challenging. Pervasive financial constraints 
have affected the public sector and, specifically, investment in 
research and development (R&D). The further 1% decline of the 
NRF Parliamentary Grant in real terms, amidst rising operating 
costs, has escalated the risk of financial and operational 

5. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS
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sustainability beyond the mitigation of stringent cost-
containment measures. While the organisation has managed 
to deliver on its mandate to date, further funding deficits will 
impact performance negatively going forward. In response to 
this critical challenge, a resource allocation framework and 
policy are being developed to inform investment strategies with 
high yield and optimal impact to improve long-term, sustainable 
execution of the NRF mandate.

Ageing research infrastructure

The risk of ageing infrastructure is present throughout the National 
Research Facilities. A prime example is the 30-year-old separated 
sector cyclotron (SSC) at the iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator 
Based Sciences (iThemba LABS) that has, specifically, been 
identified as a major strategic risk to the future sustainability of the 
facility. A strategy has been developed to ensure that the facility 
will not only remain operational, but also improve its globally 
competitive research agenda. The strategy will be executed through 
the South African Isotope Facility (SAIF) project, underpinned by 
the acquisition of a new 70 MeV cyclotron. Concerted efforts to 
secure funding are underway.

Rate of system-wide transformation

Continued and enhanced transformation of our society and 
economy, specifically the research and innovation system as 
outlined in the National Development Plan (NDP), is a pertinent 
priority of the NRF. The organisation’s role in and contribution 
to the transformation agenda specific to the NSI, as well as the 
achievement of a transformed society, have been significant and 
evident within its limited scope. The NRF remains unrelenting in 
its pursuit of transformation and manages ongoing challenges 
actively to achieve related transformation targets. To this end, 
a policy for enhancing research excellence, A Catalyst for 
Transformation of the NSI, was developed to drive transformation 
in four main areas, namely the equity profile of postgraduate 
students and researchers; the knowledge enterprise; the 
relationship between science and society; and transformation of 
the NRF itself. 

Integration and operationalisation of structural 
changes

The implementation of a ’fit-for-purpose’ organisational structure 
to facilitate delivery of the NRF Strategy 2020, particularly in the 
light of proposed revisions in the NRF Amendment Bill, remains 
a priority for management. The challenge is the integration 

of these organisational changes to leverage synergies and 
improve the effectiveness and efficiency of mandate delivery 
in the context of a tight fiscal envelope. Examples of changes 
include the establishment of an autonomous Strategy, Planning 
and Partnership (SPP) function; greater emphasis on the 
relationship between science and society; closure of the medical 
treatment facility of iThemba LABS; and the repositioning of radio 
astronomy activities into the single South African Radio Astronomy 
Observatory (SARAO) National Research Facility. 

NRF management will continue to ensure adequate planning, 
robust change management and staff engagement to enable swift 
effective and efficient functioning of all new structures.

5.3  Key policy developments and 
legislative changes

White Paper on Science and Technology

The NRF welcomed the development of a new White Paper on 
Science and Technology. The process provided an opportunity 
to reflect on the numerous successes, as well as the lessons 
learned over the past 22 years since the 1996 White Paper on 
Science and Technology.

The NRF Amendment Bill

Amendments to the NRF Act were considered by the National 
Assembly through the Parliamentary Portfolio Committee (PPC) 
on Science and Technology. The scope of the amendments was 
'to provide for the Minister to determine national policies and issue 
policy guidelines for implementation; to extend the functions, 
powers and duties of the Foundation; to empower the Minister to 
make regulations relating to the determination of national research 
facilities; to provide for the withdrawal of the determination or 
transfer of a national research facility; to empower the Minister 
to declare a research institution and its eligibility to receive 
funding; to make certain textual alterations; and to provide for the 
liquidation of the Foundation'.

The President has now promulgated the Amendment Bill into 
law.  According to the new, amended Act, the objectives of the 
Foundation are as follows. 

• Supporting and promoting research through funding, 
representative HCD and the provision of the necessary 
research infrastructure to facilitate the creation of knowledge, 
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innovation and development in all fields of science and 
technology, including the humanities, social sciences and 
indigenous knowledge; 

• Supporting and maintaining National Research Facilities;
• Supporting and promoting public awareness of and 

engagement with science; and 
• Promoting the development and maintenance of the national 

science system and the support of government priorities. 

The organisation negotiated a more streamlined approach to 
managing DST contracts. These were reduced to five main 
contracts, namely Strategic Science Missions; HCD; R&D 
Infrastructure Platforms; Science Engagement; and Management 
of the Square Kilometre Array (SKA) project.  The major benefit of 
the consolidated contract arrangement is that there will be greater 
administrative and accountability efficiency in terms of planning 
and reporting, respectively. 
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The NRF’s strategic outcomes and objectives were crafted to 
execute an array of legislative mandates and national strategic 
priorities.  The NRF is a diverse organisation that leverages 
the complementarity of its various and geographically diverse 
business units. The strategic outcomes and objectives were 
developed to enable the organisation to contribute to a vibrant 
and globally competitive NSI to ultimately culminate into positive 
livelihoods for the citizenry of South Africa. By virtue of its 

mandate, the NRF’s objectives integrate seamlessly with the 
objectives of the DST and are complementary to the objectives of 
the DHET and other government departments.

Figure 3 depicts a suite of strategic outcomes and objectives. The 
alignment between outcomes and objectives is demonstrated 
through a system of colours that has been applied throughout this 
document.

6. STRATEGIC OUTCOME-ORIENTATED GOALS

Figure 3:  NRF strategic outcomes linked to strategic objectives
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innovation
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7.1.3 Functions

• Provide strategic leadership and management oversight;
• Promote good governance as a strategic asset;
• Provide leading-edge information communication and technology 

(ICT) systems;
• Provide effective combined assurance;
• Provide comprehensive human resources (HR) and legal 

services; and
• Facilitate internal and external communication and stakeholder 

engagement.

Performance against strategic objective 5: 
Grow NRF influence, impact and reputation

 ▪ Multilateral collaboration to promote and 
support the development of science

Global Research Council (GRC)

The NRF was selected competitively to host the 2020 GRC Annual 
Meeting in South Africa in conjunction with United Kingdom 
Research and Innovation (UKRI). This is the first time that the 
meeting will be hosted in Africa. The GRC is a virtual organisation 

7.1 Programme 1: Corporate

7.1.1  Introduction

The scope of this Programme is the provision of an enabling 
governance and shared services structure to support the 
organisation through business systems, policies and procedures.  
The Programme also provides thought leadership, strategic 
foresight and impact assessments both internally to the NRF and 
to the NSI in its entirety. 

The Corporate Programme is a cross-cutting support function 
responsible for providing enabling systems and structures that 
support the organisation. It is premised on a shared service 
model that sets the tone and direction for good governance, 
policy direction and statutory compliance, and is underpinned by 
fair and transparent business practices and the responsibility to 
drive organisation-level compliance through a system of policy 
and legislative frameworks. 

7. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME

This division facilitates 
both internal and external 
communication; brand 
building and awareness; and 
stakeholder relations, and is 
a key enabler of the science 
engagement strategy.

This division provides 
strategic leadership and 
management oversight for 
macro-organisational system 
planning and foresight, 
information and analytical 
assessments, and advances 
the strategic partnerships 
of the organisation in both 
bilateral and multilateral 
contexts locally and 
internationally.

This division supports the 
organisation through the 
interpretation and application 
of legislated frameworks 
and best practice, as well as 
the creation and support of 
enabling business systems 
and processes.

This division provides the 
NRF with comprehensive 
HR management services, 
legal advisory and contract 
management services, and 
industrial relations support 
services, including talent 
management to ensure that 
the organisation has the right 
people in the right places. 

Strategy, 
Planning and 
Partnerships

Finance              
and Business 

Systems

Human 
Resources 
and Legal 
Services

Corporate 
Relations

7.1.2 Operational divisions
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representing all publicly-funded science granting councils (SGCs) 
in the world. 

The Science Granting Councils Initiative in Sub-Saharan 
Africa (SGCI) 

A five-year agreement between the NRF, the UK’s Department 
for International Development (DFID) and Canada’s International 
Development Research Centre (IDRC) was concluded in 2015 
with the aim of strengthening the capacity of SGCs in 15 African 
countries. The conclusion of a partnership with the Swedish 
International Development Agency (Sida), as a fourth funding 
partner of the SGCI, extended SGCI activities to the 2024 
financial year, and will expand the reach and effectiveness of the 
programme, including a focus on open science and gender.

International Science Council (ISC) 

The NRF, as South Africa’s adherence organisation to the 
largest global scientific body in the world, finalised its revised 
ISC membership framework during the financial year. Through 
NRF support, successful nominations of South African experts 
to the global platforms of the ISC include Prof Daya Reddy as 
the President of the ISC, Prof Saths Cooper to the Governing 
Board, Prof Loyiso Nongxa as Vice-President of the International 
Mathematical Union (IMU), and Prof Rosemary Maguire to the 
Governing Council of the International Union of Food Science and 
Technology (IUFoST).

African Open Science Platform (AOSP)

As the largest continental open science platform, the strategic 
plan of this multi-partner initiative to promote and support both 
intellectual and physical infrastructure towards open science 
was launched in December 2018. This initiative is implemented 
through an agreement between the NRF, the Committee on 
Data for Science and Technology (CODATA) and the Academy 
of Science of South Africa (ASSAf), and is overseen by the DST.

 ▪ Leverage of funds from partnerships

The following strategic partnerships were carried out during the 
financial year:

Carnegie Corporation of New York

In partnership with stakeholders, the NRF successfully solicited 
a grant of USD450 000 from the Carnegie Corporation of New 
York. The grant is to fund a two-year programme, led by the NRF, 
to document and review current postdoctoral offerings on the 
continent, and to develop a set of best practices and knowledge 

products for future programmes. This programme commenced in 
October 2018 and the first convening of this initiative took place 
in April 2019.

OR Tambo Africa Research Chairs Initiative

The Minister of Science and Technology launched the framework 
for this initiative during December 2018, and the first phase of the 
call was published successfully. In facilitating applications from the 
15 SGCs (excluding South Africa), focusing on universities resorting 
under the African Research University Alliance (ARUA) network, the 
NRF co-hosted a briefing session in Mozambique. The applications 
are currently under review and a funding agreement with the 
Canadian IDRC and Wageningen University, together with the OR 
Tambo Foundation, is in the final stage of approval.

 ▪ Partnerships with national departments

Research Output Submission System (ROSS)

The ROSS system was developed on behalf of the DHET to 
facilitate that Department’s research output subsidy submission 
and review processes. The NRF’s SPP division was responsible 
for the development, rollout and refinement of the system, as well 
as the provision of first-line support to higher education institutions 
(HEIs). The system had a significant impact on streamlining DHET 
processes, including the panel review process, as well as the 
analysis of data required for the DHET’s annual research output 
submissions report. The development and management of the 
ROSS system can be described as a remarkable achievement and 
a very successful collaboration between the NRF and the DHET.

 ▪ Communication of science and research 
achievements

Various focused strategic initiatives were launched during the 
2018/19 financial year to engage the public and communicate 
science and research achievements. These initiatives are 
designed to provide a platform for the communication of research 
and engagement with public audiences. To that end, the following 
activities were performed during the year:

• Publication of a new science magazine (online and print) 
called Science Matters;

• Hosting of the NRF Science for Society Lectures Series and 
science-and-cocktails events; 

• Hosting of two highly acclaimed Nobel lectures under the 
Nobel themes of peace and physics; and

• Publication of NRF-funded research communication articles in 
partnership with the online platform, The Conversation Africa 
(TCA). 
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 1a:  Performance against strategic objective 5 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020 

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Contribute to building the NRF brand through the provision of 
consistently excellent customer-centred service offerings.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Provide system intelligence that informs strategy and policy;
• Communicate science and research achievements 

(including the Mzansi for Science Project);
• Build NRF brand through partnerships and service 

excellence; and
• Leverage the NRF reputation through strategic public, 

private sector and international partnerships.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Objective 4 links to:

• MTSF Priorities 11 and 14. 

Table 1b:  Performance against strategic objective 5 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19 

5 Grow NRF influence, impact and reputation

Indicators 
Actual 

2017/18
 Target 
2018/19

Actual 
2018/19 Variance 

Summary of comment 
on variance

Number of internal and external users of 
the NRF Business Intelligence Systems 
(BISs)

129 80 150 88%
Growth in the number of users regained 
momentum due to the increased demand 
for analytics provided by the BISs.

Indicators 
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance 
Summary of comment 

on variance
Multimedia coverage items 125 87 112 130 130 - Target has been met

Number of internal and external users of 
the NRF BISs 3 74 129 150 150 - Target has been met

A reputable and influential 
agency shaping the science 

and technology system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME

Performance against strategic objective 6: 
Optimise NRF return on investment

To maximise returns on the investment of public funds,          
Programme 1 provides a system of shared services to all NRF 
business units, which allows the NRF to, efficiently and effectively: 

• Promote good governance as a strategic asset;
• Provide leading-edge business systems and operational 

processes; and 
• Provide effective combined assurance to the accounting and 

executive authorities.

Promote good governance as a strategic asset.

 ▪ Corporate governance

Corporate governance underpins ethical and effective leadership 

through a system of rules that supports the creation of effective 
controls to ensure good performance, transparency and an 
ethical culture. A system of rules that enables the organisation 
to provide assurance and account for holistic value creation 
beyond financial performance is created. The resultant outcome 
of those compliance- and assurance-based systems is that the 
organisation is able to maintain and measure its compliance in 
terms of regulations and best practice as a corporate-governance 
imperative. 

The design, development and implementation of NRF 
accountability obligations are co-ordinated by facilitating the 
compilation and submission of strategic plans, annual performance 
plans, quarterly reports and annual reports. This is to ensure that 
there is adherence to compliance cycle activities in accordance 
with prescripts of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 
1999) (PFMA), as amended, and requirements of the DST. 
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Provide leading-edge ICT systems to support 
effective and efficient operations.

 ▪ ICT and Knowledge Resources

The Information Technology and Knowledge Management 
Resources unit makes provision for the creation and management 
of systems that support the effective and efficient collection, 
management and sharing of NRF information. Fit-for-purpose 
ICT applications and platforms in support of NRF business are 
provided. These include the development and implementation of 
compliant policies and procedures governing the management of 
internal and external information and knowledge generated as 
products of the NRF offering.

Information and Communications Technology (ICT)

A service improvement pilot program was implemented during the 
financial year to assess the effectiveness of potential improvements 
to be made within the ICT business area. The pilot program resulted 
in the following enhancements in the service quality metrics:

• A review of the bespoke business systems was carried out 
during the quarter.  In this regard:
- The NRF online submission system was technically 

reviewed concerning compliance with the Information 
Technology Infrastructure Library (ITIL) and Open Web 
Application Security Project (OWASAP). Approximately 
75% of the required system enhancements has been 
implemented to improve the stability and performance of 
the system. However, due to the extensive call schedule 
for grant funding, the remaining enhancements and load 
testing have not been done. 

- The ‘One Call’ was implemented in February 2019. ‘One 
Call’ forms part of the call rationalisation project to streamline 
the NRF granting process and reduce the risk of complexity 
internally, while limiting the administrative burden on the 
research and academic communities.

CV Central (CVC)

Phase one of the system focused on the harvesting and collation 
of metadata on journal articles, while conference proceedings, 
books and chapters will be harvested and collated in the next 
phase. A multitude of additional information can be collated using 
CVC, since it has the ability to synchronise with institutional 
repositories at universities. This system capability can be taken 
advantage of in the future. CVC sources currently include the NRF 
Online Submission System, ORCID and SCOPUS that are key 
collaborators to the project.  The Information Technology (IT) team 

of the University of Cape Town (UCT), which is responsible for the 
implementation of CONVERIS, collaborated with the CVC team. 

Digital content and curation management

An open access framework for the NRF is currently being drafted 
and will consider key initiatives in the global arena. The Research 
Data Management (RDM) plan will form part of the open access 
framework and future policy.  

Records and documents management

Over the reporting period, a review of the file plan was initiated 
with a view to developing a new, optimised file plan supported by 
structural changes at an organisational level. One main series, 
two sub-series and 86 files were developed during the reporting 
period. In total, 126 amendments were made to the existing main 
series in the NRF file plan.

Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)

ERP will be implemented to create synergy among, and integration 
of, various business functions on a single consolidated ICT 
platform.  A supply chain management (SCM) process commenced 
during the 2018/19 financial year. Implementation activities will be 
carried out during the 2020 to 2022 planning cycle.

Provide effective, combined assurance to the 
accounting and executive authorities.

 ▪ Corporate Finance

Provision of the core financial system of the organisation, 
including management accounting support; financial management 
and control; and statutory reporting is the core function of the 
Corporate Finance capability. Processes managed within the 
Corporate Finance realm lead to compliance with the statutory 
obligations of a Schedule 3A public entity in terms of the PFMA. 
Sound internal controls were maintained for the financial year and 
a number of policies and guidelines were developed or amended 
in line with best practice to ensure that the financial records are 
accurate and free from material misstatements. 

 ▪ Supply Chain Management (SCM)

The SCM capability is strategic within the NRF as it carries out 
enterprise-wide demand management and legislative processes 
in terms of the acquisition and nature of goods and services. 
The outcome of that is value for money and cost containment, 
resulting in corporate overheads remaining below 3%, and overall 
NRF overheads remaining below 10%.
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Report on preferential spending.

The transformation agenda within the NRF is driven through 
Board-approved policies that draw on legislation, such as the 

Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act (Act 5 of 2000) 
(PPPFA) and Treasury Notes on SCM.  This transformation 
is driven as an empowerment imperative to address the social 
challenge of inequality.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 2a:  Performance against strategic objective 6 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Design and implement customised enabling support systems 
based on compliance.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Promote good governance as a strategic asset;
• Provide leading-edge ICT systems to support efficient and 

effective operations; and
• Provide effective combined assurance.

LINKS TO MTSF NRF Objective 6 links to: 
• MTSF Priority 4 – Decent employment through inclusive 

growth through the promotion of governance and 
compliance as a strategic asset, and compliance with 
respect to B-BBEE and the IPAP.

Table 2b:  Performance against strategic objective 6 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19 

6 Optimise return on investment  

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Unqualified audit report Yes Yes Yes 0%

Corporate overheads: 
calculated as a 
percentage of total 
expenditure

1.8% <3% 2.5% 0%

The upward movement is related to the implementation of NRF 
Board approval of a corporate, fit-for-purpose structure and the 
capacitation of the Strategy, Planning and Partnerships unit. The 
creation of this unit was funding-neutral, largely through the transfer 
of staff and funds from the RISA IR&C function.

Organisational 
overheads: calculated 
as a percentage of total 
expenditure

6.2% <10% 7.5% 0%
Within threshold, though the upward movement of the organisational 
overheads is largely due to the transfer of the NZG to SANBI as of 
01 April 2018 and the operationalisation of MeerKAT during the year.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance 
Summary of comment 

on variance

Corporate overheads: 
calculated as a 
percentage of total 
expenditure

1.4% 1.4% 1.8% <3% 2.5% 0%

The upward movement is related to the 
implementation of NRF Board approval of a 
corporate, fit-for-purpose structure and the 
capacitation of the Strategy, Planning and 
Partnerships unit. The creation of this unit was 
funding-neutral, largely through the transfer of 
staff and funds from the RISA IR&C function.

Organisational 
overheads: calculated 
as a percentage of total 
expenditure

6% 5.3% 6.2% <10% 7.5% 0%

Within threshold, though the upward movement 
of the organisational overheads was largely 
due to the transfer of the NZG to SANBI as of               
01 April 2018 and the operationalisation of 
MeerKAT during the year.

Investment in ICT 
platforms 69.52 83.87 - 15 757 16 432 4% Revamp of the website was deferred and the 

Mzansi for Science Project is on hold. 

A reputable and influential 
agency shaping the science 

and technology system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME



21NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Performance against strategic objective 8: 
Improve NRF talent management

Talent management includes the successful attraction, placement, 
retention and continuous development of committed, skilled and 
representative staff.

Achieve employment equity and transformation.

The NRF Employment Equity Plan is at the core of the NRF’s 
commitment to achieve representative employment of people from 
designated groups at all occupational levels and within the various 
categories of its workforce. This gives effect to the NRF Employment 
Equity and Redress Policy adopted by the Board and ensures legal 
compliance with the Employment Equity Act (Act 55 of 1998). The 
Plan includes the objectives, activities, numerical goals and targets 
to move progressively towards the achievement of representation of 
designated groups across the organisational structure.

 ▪ Occupation and qualification analysis

For the financial year, 170 employees held doctoral qualifications, 
while 125 held master’s degrees. In total, 34 employees were 
enrolled for doctorates and 59 for master’s qualifications. 

 ▪ Appointments, separation and turnover

The controllable staff turnover for the year stood at 8.04% as it 
includes resignations, expiring contracts and retrenchments. While 
this was above the NRF’s ambitious target of 6%, it remained 
below the industry acceptable range of between 10% and 15%.

Create a learning organisation based on the NRF 
values.

The NRF recognises the need for on-going skills development 
at all levels of staff and across a range of skills development 
areas. In addition to development programmes that are domain 
specific, there are development areas that are common across 
the organisation. These programmes are facilitated by the 
HR and Legal Services unit and include the areas of people 
management, leadership, safety, stakeholder relations and 
financial management.

A work place skills plan (WSP) that addresses both functional 
(core) and support (behavioural) skills needs across business 
units is in place and is maintained in line with performance plans, 
requirements and legislation. Over the reporting period, the NRF 
invested R1.6 million in the training of staff (refer to table 34 on 
page 83).  

Ensure union representation.

The labour relations climate in the organisation was generally 
stable and union representation comprised 47.03%, with staff 
belonging to two unions, none of which is a majority union. 

The overall representation of black staff was 72.0% 
against a target of 77%, while female representation 
(foreign nationals excluded) was 40.5% against a target 
of 44%. Key challenges remain gender representation 
at executive and senior management levels and that 
of blacks in the three highest employment categories. 
People with disabilities accounted for 0.6% against a 
target of 1.72%.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 3a:  Performance against strategic objective 7 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Strive to attract, retain and train a vibrant, skilled and 
representative staff cohort.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Provide policy direction and strategy for effective HR 
management;

• Cultivate a learning organisation based on the NRF 
values; and

• Facilitate academia-NRF exchanges.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Objective 8 links to:

• MTSF Priorities 4 and 5.

Table 3b:  Performance against strategic objective 7 performance Indicators in the APP 2018/19

8 Improve talent management

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Proportion of South 
Africans from designated 
groups in senior technical 
and managerial positions 
(Peromnes 1-8)
Female 

Black 277 300 315 15% Progress is being made with the implementation of 
an Employment Equity Plan.

Female  185 230 197 -14%
Key challenges remain in achieving the desired level 
of gender representation at executive and senior 
management levels. The NRF`s transformation 
framework will continue to address the gap. 

% staff turnover 8.5% 6% 8.04% -2.04%
Management actions will be implemented to retain 
staff and to find innovative ways of engaging and 
incentivising staff to reduce the risk of losing key 
personnel. 

Number of staff with postgraduate 
qualifications (Masters and PhD) - 305 295 -3% The NZG staff that formed part of this target were 

transferred to SANBI.
Investment in staff training and 
professional membership fees (Rm) - 8.8 16.8 24% The NRF made a substantial investment in training, 

including the roll-out of MDPs.  

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Proportion of 
South Africans 
from designated 
groups in senior 
technical and 
managerial 
positions 
(Peromnes 1-8)

Black number 275 287 277 275 315 15%
Progress is being made with the 
implementation of an Employment Equity 
Plan.

Black % 45% 46% 52% 46% 49% 0.03%
Female 
number 195 198  185 192 197 3%

Female % 32% 32% 35% 33% 31% 2%

Key challenges remain in achieving the 
desired level of gender representation at 
executive and senior management levels. 
Although the target has been missed 
marginally, the NRF's transformation 
framework will continue to address the gap.

% staff turnover 10.5% 7% 8.5% 6% 8.04% -2.04%
Management actions will be implemented 
to retain staff and to find innovative ways 
of engaging and incentivising staff to 
reduce the risk of losing key personnel.

A skilled, committed and 
representative NRF research 

and technical workforce

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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7.2 Programme 2: Science Engagement
7.2.1  Introduction 

Programme 2 supports the growth of the knowledge economy through 
science engagement, communication and education initiatives.  This 
is performed within the ambits of the DST Science Engagement 
Strategy to enable the relationship between science and society.

To promote a scientifically literate and engaged society, the 
NRF is mandated to promote engaged research and entrench 

science engagement throughout the organisation, the NSI and 
within the broader society. The imperative is executed through an 
integrated science engagement model led by the South African 
Agency for Science and Technology Advancement (SAASTA).
The model maps a clearly articulated implementation plan that 
is in alignment with the DST Science Engagement Strategy. Its 
goals are in support of a meaningful connection and discourse 
between science and society and are achieved through three 
focus areas, namely science education, science awareness and 
science communication.

7.2.2 Functions

• Science education – support the creation of tomorrow’s 
scientists and innovators by contributing to the improvement 
of teaching and learning in science, technology, engineering, 
mathematics and innovation (STEMI).

• Science communication – celebrate the country’s research 
achievements; expand the public’s appreciation of science; 
encourage engagement with science issues that impact on 
the daily lives of ordinary people. 

• Science awareness – encourage exploration through hands-
on experience, while creating enthusiasm for STEMI. 

Performance against strategic objective 7: 
Entrench Science Engagement

Strategic objective 7 is achieved by promoting engagement of 
society with science through the implementation of effective 
science awareness, education and communication activities. 
Programme 2 responds by cultivating science awareness through 
education and communication, and implementing effective science 

engagement initiatives within and across all NRF programmes.

Cultivate science awareness through education 
and communication and implement effective 
science engagement initiatives.

 ▪ Learner and educator support 

Learner support

The main activities in this strategic area focus on improving 
learner and educator participation in programmes based on 
science, engineering and technology (SET). Projects include 
science camps, STEMI olympiads, technoyouth programmes and 
educator development programmes. These programmes target 
both learners and educators. 

Through numerous focused interventions in the areas of 
mathematics, physical science, life science, natural science, 
technology and life orientation (career guidance), 168 901 learners 
were reached against a target of 225 000. Coverage in the western 
part of Limpopo, the southern part of the Free State and in the 

SAASTA is the national 
coordinating unit for the science 
engagement strategy.

SAASTA

Research grant holders engage with and 
communicate research outcomes and 
impact, science and technology policies.

RISA

National Research Facilities are mandated 
to support discipline-specific knowledge 
dissemination to their stakeholder 
communities and engage with the public 
at large through access, collaboration and 
community outreach initiatives.

National 
Research 
Facilities
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Eastern Cape still needs urgent attention. Figure 4 above reflects 
the breakdown according to nature of activity.

12% of the activities focused on supporting learner participation and 
performance in the critical areas of mathematics and science, which 
will contribute towards quality learning achievements and HCD 
concerning much-needed skills in STEMI careers in the country. 

A far greater percentage of activities, namely 77%, focused on 
identifying learners with potential through STEMI olympiads and 
competitions. Once learners are identified, they are placed in 
programmes that are intended to improve their performance in 
mathematics and physical science. Such programmes include 
camps and extra tuition, and systems are currently being put 
in place to assist in monitoring and tracking the learners who 
participated in STEMI olympiads and competitions, as well as 
camps and extra tuition. It is anticipated that this will enable the 
NRF to increase the pipeline of talented learners who will pursue 
their STEMI studies at HEIs and also identify any challenges, thus 
contributing towards the supply of graduates to the labour market.

Lastly, 11% of the activities focused on exposing learners to 
role models tasked to inspire young minds to be more aware 
of science. Apart from the role modelling campaigns, these 
learners are also exposed to career exhibitions and provided with 
appropriate career resources and bursary information.

Educator support

To ensure that learner performance in the critical areas of 
SET is improved, continuous educator development is vital. To 
achieve this, the NRF collaborates with the Department of Basic 
Education (DBE) (mathematics, natural science and technology 
[MST] coordinators, curriculum advisers and district managers), 
and professional associations (the South African Association 
of Science and Technology and the South African Institute of 
Physics). The collaborations are intended to conceptualise and 
implement content and methodology on educator development 
activities across the country.

In total, 3 372 natural science, physical science, life science and life 
orientation educators were reached against a target of 3 000. The 
National Research Facilities also contributed to these initiatives 
through a focus on subject matter and/or emerging technologies.

 ▪ Undergraduate and postgraduate support

The NRF provides support for student career development through 
a mix of role modelling and exposure to various industries. These 
include identifying and placing students as volunteers at host 
institutions in various fields, thus providing them the opportunity 
to gain work experience. In total, 1 382 undergraduate and 426 
postgraduate students based at HEIs and science institutions 
across the country were reached.  Undergraduate students 

Figure 4:  Comparison of learner support according to nature of activity

Science camps, 
extra tuition and 

workshops 
12%

Career profiling 
and role modelling 

11%

Olympiads and 
competitions 

77%
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are supported in their second- to fourth-year courses through 
interaction with role models in STEMI and industry visits, while 
unemployed SET graduates are placed as volunteers at host 
institutions to gain experience and exposure to prepare them for 
employment.

 ▪ Public outreach and awareness

The NRF grows awareness of science through exploration, 
exhibitions and actual experience to inspire society (learners, 
educators, politicians and the general public) about the wonder 
and application of SET, while at the same time encouraging the 
greater public’s awareness of and engagement with science and 
its risks.  

The objective is to stimulate the communication of SET and 
provide access to relevant scientific and technological information 
through exhibits and resources. The NRF works towards this 
objective by supporting and staging mass participation events 
such as festivals, awareness events and exhibitions.

During the period under review, the total reach of members of the 
public was as follows: 

• 1 217 298 through festivals and mass participation events;
• 12 137 through open public access to facilities; and 
• 14 441 through guided tours.

 ▪ Scientists and researchers

Science is only effective if it can be shared. To enable scientists 
to communicate their research to society effectively, SAASTA 
enabled or contributed to communication workshops and strategic 
sessions to facilitate skills development. 

During the period under review, 84 researchers were profiled in 
the media (online and in newsletters and print articles) and 349 
researchers engaged with the public (activities included lectures, 
presentations and resource development).

 ▪ Science communication

The essence of science communication lies in providing credible 
and accurate information that is accessible to all South African 

communities in partnership with  scientists, researchers and 
the media. This could be achieved through direct science and 
society engagements, information technology, and science sector 
collaborations. Highlights for the period included: 

• The Science and Technology Youth Journalism programme 
has 26 science and technology youth journalism interns 
contracted into the programme. These interns were deployed 
to cover the hydropower launch at Kwa-Madiba in the Eastern 
Cape, the South African Environmental Observation Network 
(SAEON) Science Symposium in Phalaborwa in Limpopo 
and a briefing session by Minister Kubayi-Ngubane on the 
new draft of the White Paper on Science, Technology and 
Innovation in Pretoria, Gauteng;

• Science Ubuntu in partnership with Mams Radio organised the 
first-ever science fair and expo titled Loxion Science Fair and 
Expo in  Mamelodi; and

• SAEON scientists from the Arid Land, Egagasini, Grassland 
and Fynbos Nodes published more than 20 articles in the 
national media.

 ▪ Internationalisation and mobility

SKA South Africa (SA) facilitated Microsoft 365 training to 22 
educators from Carnarvon High School in Carnarvon, Northern 
Cape. Training by Microsoft SA included an introduction to 
Microsoft 365, a demonstration on how to use the software for 
collaborative learning and an introduction to the various tools and 
online support community for educators. 

SAASTA and the South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 
(SAIAB) are key partners in the NUCLEUS project funded by 
the European Union (EU) an have made significant strides in 
embedding the principles of responsible research and innovation 
(RRI) within SAIAB, which was used as a pilot site in the 
international project.  Talented high school mathematics and 
science learners were sent to London to join the international 
Youth Science Forum as part of their prizes in the annual National 
Science Olympiad.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 4a:  Performance against strategic objective 7 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Engage with society for the promotion of a vibrant national 
research culture through the implementation of effective 
science awareness, science education and science 
communication activities.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Cultivate science awareness through education and 
communication and the implementation of effective 
science engagement initiatives;

• Implement science engagement in RISA; and
• Implement science engagement in Programmes 4 and 5.

LINKS TO MTSF NRF Objective 7 links to:
• MTSF Priorities 1 and 14.

Table 4b:  Performance against strategic objective 7 performance Indicators in the APP 2018/19

7 Entrench science engagement

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Interaction with the public (learners, 
educators and the general public), 
focusing on science awareness 
activities (SAASTA)

Approximate 
number of 
members of the 
public reached

1 191 892 1 080 000 1 243 876 15%
Improved coordination of public 
interaction between SAASTA and 
National Research Facilities had a 
positive impact on performance.

Interaction focusing on educator 
development and learner 
performance in MST

Educators 
reached 2 741 15 800 3 372 -79% Memoranda of Understanding 

between SAASTA and the 
Departments of Basic Education in 
Limpopo, Mpumalanga, North-west 
and Gauteng enabled SAASTA to 
have ease of access to educators.

Learners 
reached 179 315 380 000 168 901 -56%

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Investment in science engagement 
activities (SAASTA and National 
Research Facilities) (Rm)

100.78 106.1 105.7 139 552 122 451  -12% Anticipated resources did not 
materialise.

Interaction 
with the public 
(learners, 
educators and 
the general 
public), focusing 
on science 
awareness 
activities 
(SAASTA)

Number of 
interactions 7 10 12 13 12 -8%

National Research Facilities 
added to the number of 
interactions by hosting open 
nights that provided the public 
access to the facilities through 
guided tours.

Approximate 
number of 
members of 
public reached

1 013 716 1 084 760 1 191 892 1 090 000 1 243 876 14%
Improved coordination of public 
interaction between SAASTA and 
National Research Facilities had 
a positive impact on performance.

Interaction 
focusing on 
educator 
development 
and learner 
performance in 
MST

Number of 
interactions 12 17 16 12 15 25% Memoranda of Understanding 

between SAASTA and the 
Departments of Basic Education 
in Limpopo, Mpumalanga, 
North-West and Gauteng enabled 
SAASTA to have ease of access 
to educators.

Educators 
reached 19 410 17 997 2 741 3 000 3 372 12%

Learners 
reached 371 624 374 457 179 315 225 000 168 901 -25%

Number of interactions with 
learners was scaled down due to 
limited resources.

Scientifically literate 
and engaged society

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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7.3  Programme 3: Research and 
 Innovation Support and 

Advancement (RISA)

7.3.1 Introduction

Programme 3, RISA, executes the central granting function 
of the NRF. The division supports and promotes research 
through the development of human capacity, the generation of 
knowledge and the provision of, and access to, cutting-edge 
research infrastructure. Structuring of the Programme is flexible 
and responsive to adapt seamlessly to the varying needs of the 
NSI. The business of Programme 3 is informed by a range of 
national government policies, strategies and priorities, including 
the strategy for HCD for research, innovation and scholarships, 
and the 2013 Ministerial Guidelines for Improving Equity in 
the Distribution of DST/NRF Bursaries and Fellowships. RISA 
contributes to a sustainable and globally relevant NSI by:  

• Promoting international competitive research as the basis for a 
knowledge economy; 

• Providing cutting-edge research, technology and innovation 
platforms; and 

• Operating a world-class granting, review and evaluation 
system.

7.3.2 Functions

• Human and Infrastructure Capacity Development (HICD) 
• Knowledge Advancement and Support (KAS)
• Research Chairs and Centres of Excellence (RCCE)
• Grants Management and Systems Administration (GMSA)
• Reviews and Evaluations (RE)

Through the use of a defined strategy for the development of high-
end human capital and research skills, the NRF is able to function 
across the grant-making value chain. Through RISA, the NRF 
invests in knowledge, people and infrastructure, while advancing 
equity and transformation across the system.

Performance against strategic objective 1: 
Promote globally competitive research and 
innovation

Invest in next-generation, emerging and established 
researchers through the HCD pipeline.

Grants are provided through a variety of dynamic strategic 
programmes that cover a myriad of modalities and allow for 
prioritisation of specific imperatives, such as transformation, to 
progress researchers. As presented in Figure 5, a significant 
investment is made in the area of next-generation (postgraduate 
student) support. By following this approach over the last few 

Figure 5:  NRF investment trends in the HCD pipeline (R'mil) 
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In total, 12 771 bursaries across all three postgraduate levels, 
with a focus on persons from designated groups, were awarded 
as follows: honours 4 478, masters 5 008 and doctoral 3 285. 

Postgraduate students are supported in the following eight broad 
categories:

• Medical and health sciences;
• Mathematical science;
• Law;
• Engineering;
• Economics;
• Computer and information sciences;
• Arts, humanities and social science; and
• Chemistry and physics.

 ▪ Emerging researchers (early career researchers)

Emerging researchers consist largely of postdoctoral fellows 
and early career researchers that the NRF supports through the 
following instruments:

Thuthuka Research Grant

562 grant holders (471 or 84% black, 91 or 16% white and 359 
or 64% female) were funded, while 538 students were supported 
through Thuthuka grant-holder-linked bursaries.  85% of the latter 
were black and 62% female.

Newton Fellowships

Eight grants were awarded (three or 38% black and five or 62% 
white). One grant (13%) was awarded to a female and seven 

years, the NRF continues to contribute to transforming the 
researcher cohort of the future. The second largest investment is 
in strategic investment areas such as the Centres of Excellence 
(CoEs) and the South African Research Chair Initiative (SARChI) 
to build excellence in chosen areas, thereby improving the 
country’s global relevance and competitiveness in R&D. Going 
forward, the support for emerging and established researchers 
will be assessed to ensure continued critical throughput at an 
optimal level. 

 ▪ Next-generation researchers (postgraduate 
student support)

The investment in next-generation researchers is implemented 
through the competitive awarding of free-standing scholarships, 
grant-holder-linked bursaries and academic block-grants bursary 
allocations to institutions aimed at honours, masters and doctoral 
students.

Figure 6:  Distribution of grants to black and female students

1 0%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Black     Female
Honours

R'
mi

l

Black     Female
Masters

Black     Female
Doctoral



29NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

1.  South African race classification of black (inclusive of Africans, Coloureds, Indians and Asians) and whites, only applies to South African citizens, including permanent residences.

(87%) to males. Only five awardees, comprising two or 40% black 
and three or 60% white, claimed funds to an amount of R1.2m at 
the end of the financial year.

nGAP Research Development Grant

A total cohort of 52 scholars consisting of 34 new and 18 continuing 
scholars received grants.  At the end of the financial year, 31 black 
scholars claimed their funds. Of those, 14 or 45% were female.

Postdoctoral fellowships

79 postdoctoral fellows were funded, comprising 40 continuing 
fellows and 39 new fellows.  The 39 new awards were made to 
82% blacks, 56% females and 3% to persons with a disability. At 
the end of the financial year, 78 of the 79 (99%) fellows claimed 
funds to an amount of R23m.  

Green Economy and the World Academy of Sciences 
(TWAS) fellowships

125 fellows participated by the end of the financial year and of 
those, 110 awardees, comprising 86% blacks and 54% females, 
claimed funds.  

 ▪ Established researchers

The investment in established researchers supports and 
promotes research at the top end of the HCD pipeline. Established 
researchers are professional or career researchers based 
at HEIs, National Research Facilities, institutes and science 
councils. Established researchers contribute to the generation 
of knowledge and also provide supervision and training of future 
researchers through the following funding instruments: 

South African Research Chairs Initiative (SARChI)

To date, a cumulative total of 238 SARChI chairs were awarded to 
22 universities, science councils and National Research Facilities 
in various disciplines of scientific research, including the natural 
sciences, engineering, humanities and the social sciences. 

Special efforts were made to encourage participation in under-
represented research areas of national importance and strategic 
interests such as space science, astronomy and emerging 
research areas such as nanotechnology. The number of female 
chair awardees for the financial year was 107, comprising 45% of 
all chairs awarded. In terms of South African race classification1, 
white SARChI chair holders account for 50.4% and blacks for 
24.8%, while foreign or international SARChI chair holders 
recruited from outside South Africa account for 20.6%.

At the end of the financial year, the SARChI funded 1 615 
postgraduate students.  That included masters, doctoral and 
postdoctoral fellows. 

Centres of Excellence (CoEs)

CoEs supported a total of 979 students, of whom 821 were 
postgraduates (honours, masters and doctoral), 112 postdoctoral 
and 46 undergraduates. A total of 1 143 peer-reviewed 
publications were produced by the CoEs, the National Institute 
for Theoretical Physics (NITheP) and the Centre in Indigenous 
Knowledge Systems (CIKS).

Support multidisciplinary research and innovation 
– knowledge development.

The research landscape is surveyed continuously to track and 
analyse global research trends to determine the need for a review 
of the national system and develop new fields of knowledge.  This 
is because most of the knowledge-generating funding instruments 
within the NRF are intended to:

• Generate new knowledge and/or grow the knowledge base; 
and

• Train and develop a transformed research cohort.

The SANTRUST-FUNDISA initiative supported two doctoral 
cohorts totalling 52 candidates in 2015, 37 of whom attained their 
doctoral qualifications. This initiative was concluded at the end of 
the 2018/19 financial year.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 5a:  Performance against strategic objective 1 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Drive research competitiveness through the support of high-
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and the development of human capacity in critical 
areas.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Increase and provide support for next-generation, 
emerging and established researchers to grow the 
doctoral pipeline; and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 1 links to: 

• MTSF Priorities 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10 through the 
implementation and support of the HCD excellence pipeline, 
including the creation of Research Chairs and CoEs.

1 Promote globally competitive research and 
innovation 

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of 
researchers 
supported

Black 1 698 2 193 1 853 -16% At the time of setting targets for the Strategy, the target 
was based on budget growth projections that were 
essential to realise the Strategy targets and outcomes. 
However, budget growth over the period was significantly 
below expectations and hence, the targets were not 
realised.

Female 1 786 2 550 1 825 -28%

Number of 
postgraduate 
students funded per 
designated group

Black 11 328 10 850 10 980 1%

Female 8 266 8 990 7 692 -14%
The variance is attributed to the slow rate of 
transformation within the HCD pipeline from next-
generation and emerging to established researchers.

Number of NRF-rated
researchers from 
designated groups

Black 1 069 1 026 1 207 18% Increased recognition of the status of being NRF-rated 
among emerging researchers led to an increase in 
applications from designated researchers.Female 1 285 1 292 1 358 5%

An internationally 
competitive, transformed 

and representative 
research system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME



31NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

Performance against strategic objective 2: 
Enhance strategic international engagements

Promote system-wide international engagement 
and facilitate access to local and international 
research platforms.

The NRF facilitates the enhancement of international scientific 
collaboration between individual scientists, HEIs, research 
bodies, and scientific and professional associations (unions) in 
South Africa and abroad.

 ▪ Africa co-operation

The NRF and the DST commissioned a science, technology 
and innovation (STI) profiling study, the objective of which is to 
conduct an in-depth analysis of the STI systems in 13 partner 
countries in Africa.  The study will provide the DST and its entities 
with in-depth information intelligence and data processing of STI 
systems to address a myriad of socio-economic challenges. The 
intent is also to take advantage of opportunities present on the 
continent.  The study will continue into the 2020 financial year. 

The NRF, the DST and START jointly hosted the Future Earth 
Africa Conference to determine how to bring practical solutions 

to sustainability challenges in Africa. The Conference was 
attended by researchers, policy makers and practitioners who 
observed that science innovation could assist in implementing the 
sustainable development goals (SDGs) in Africa.

 ▪ International co-operation

South Africa/UK Newton Fund

The Fund is the largest government partnership between the UK 
and South Africa. Joint funding from the two countries serves as a 
catalyst to stimulate socio-economic development in South Africa 
and, more widely, across Sub-Saharan Africa. The PhD training 
project was launched within the ambit of this initiative in 2015 and 
ended in October 2018. It provided for 11 grants to be awarded, 
with ten students from the UK and South Africa benefiting. The 
large-scale joint research project provides long-term funding to 
support innovative and ground-breaking research and ensures 
sustained collaboration. It is expected that researchers who will 
be supported through this initiative will constitute a mixture of 
established and emerging researchers. A call will be made in the 
2020 financial year to focus on inequality in all its dimensions and/
or as it relates to the SDGs, economic development and welfare 
reform.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment

on variance

Number of NRF-
funded researchers 
from designated 
groups

Black 1 355 1 563 1 698 2 182 1 853 -15%
The budget growth over the period was significantly 
below expectations. Hence, the targets were not 
realised.

Female 1 610 1 699 1 786 1 520 1 825 20%

Black females were prioritised for new Thuthuka 
awards for 2018 as part of the concerted efforts 
to address the transformation imperative. The 
net result was that the target was significantly 
exceeded.

Number of 
postgraduate 
students funded per 
designated group

Black 8 980 10 747 11 328 9 350 10 980 17% The standardisation of bursary values attracted 
more students, which contributed to targets being 
exceeded.Female 7 032 8 017 8 266 7 119 7 692 8%

Number of NRF-
rated researchers 
from designated
groups

Black 866 970 1 069 1 026 1 207 18% Increased recognition among researchers of the 
status of being NRF-rated, as well as the NRF's 
effort to promote rating, led to an increase in 
applications from designated researchers. 

Female 1 054 1 176 1 285 1 292 1 358 5%

Number of 
postgraduate 
students funded per 
level

Masters 4 853 4 995 5 435 4 582 4 990 9% The targets were adjusted down due to funding 
cuts from the Scarce Skills Fund.  Active awarding 
of grants and high uptake by new and continuing 
students contributed to targets being exceeded.

Doctoral 3 181 3 363 3 519 3 066 3 265 6%

Table 5b:  Performance against strategic objective 1 performance Indicators in the APP 2018/19
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Other co-operations

Various calls were made within the ambits of collaboration 
agreements that were entered into with countries such as Iran, 
Oman, Mexico, the United States of America (USA), Japan, South 
Korea, India, China, Poland, Sweden and France.

 ▪ Strategic initiatives

NRF/ERC Research Collaboration

The NRF, in collaboration with the European Research Council 
(ERC), developed an implementation framework to provide South 
African early to mid-career scientists/researchers with research 
opportunities in Europe. One proposal was approved for funding 
under this call and eligible proposals are currently under review 
for funding in the 2020 financial year.

BRICS Partnership

The 2nd BRICS (Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa) 
call was launched and closed, and 32 joint multilateral projects 
were approved for funding at the BRICS Ministerial Meeting in 
July 2018. Eleven of the approved projects resort under South 
African researchers. 

ESASTAP 2020 Partnership

The ESASTAP 2020 consortium consists of ten partners from 
seven countries, namely South Africa (DST, NRF, TIA and ASSAf), 
Italy (APRE), Greece (FORTH), France (IRD), Norway (RCN), 
Germany (DLR-PT) and Austria (ZSI). The NRF leads WP2 of this 
Partnership, an objective of which is to coordinate and strengthen 
research and innovation activities between South Africa, all EU 
member states and associated countries to find synergies and 
facilitate the implementation of joint programmes for impact and 
value-add successfully.

LEAP4FNSSA Partnership

The NRF formed part of the LEAP4FNNSA consortium that 
applied for a Chemical Structure Association (CSA) grant on 
food and nutrition security under the EU H2020 programme. The 
LEAP4FNSSA consortium is exactly the same as the LEAP-Agri 
consortium (with additional new members). The LEAP4FNSSA 

consortium includes 42 funding agencies from 24 countries 
(nine African and 15 European). In this consortium, the NRF is 
involved in WP2, which involves improvement of the effectiveness 
of the AU-EU FNSSA partnership by contributing to the creation 
of strategic FNSSA Alliances in Research and Innovation. The 
LEAP4FNSSA consortium was successful in its application and 
by the end of October 2018, the partners had already finalised the 
signing of the grant agreement with the European Commission 
and the consortium agreement among the consortium members. 
The kick-off meeting for this project took place in Accra, Ghana 
(30 January–01 February 2019).

The Southern African Systems Analysis Centre (SASAC)

SASAC’s high-level systems analysis capacity strengthening 
programme for emerging researchers was rolled out from 
September 2018 and focused on advanced methodology, research 
skills and academic article writing within a systems analysis 
framework. The SASAC doctoral scholarships programme is 
supporting 42 continuing students and made eight new awards 
for 2019 funding. An alumni programme was also launched to 
stimulate an active network on systems analysis approaches and 
opportunities. 

Japan Hope Meetings

The NRF funded two South African researchers to attend the 
10th Japan Hope Meeting hosted by the Japanese Society for 
the Promotion of Science (JSPS) in Yokohama, Japan. The 
objective of the meeting was to advance science and technology 
in the Asia-Pacific and African regions by providing talented 
young researchers the opportunity to engage in interdisciplinary 
discussions with Nobel laureates, other distinguished scientists 
and young researchers. 

NRF-Fulbright Doctoral Programme

During the period under review, the NRF, in partnership with 
Fulbright, funded six new candidates in the areas of aerospace 
engineering, nanotechnology, law, political studies, development 
economics, education and occupational studies. The NRF 
already funds 17 Fulbright doctoral students, bringing the total 
number to 23. 
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Performance against strategic objective 3: 
Provide best-practice systems in support of 
grant making, reviews and evaluation

Provide a system of planning, evaluation and review 
in support of research ratings; institutional and 
programme reviews; and the assessment of funding 
proposals through peer-review processes.

 ▪ Reviews and evaluations

The NRF processes, plans and performs evaluations and reviews 
related to individual rating programmes and institutions.

 ▪ Rating of researchers

During the 2018/19 financial year, 3 963 researchers were rated 
through the NRF rating system.  That constituted an increase 

from the 3 885 rated during the previous financial year.  Research 
development grants awarded to the y-rated researchers amounted 
to 41.

The individual ratings are within the following categories:

 A – Leading international researchers (119);

 B – Internationally acclaimed researchers (773);

 C – Established researchers (2 345);

 P – Prestigious awards (16); and

 Y – Promising young researchers (710).

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 6a:  Performance against strategic objective 2 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Promote system-wide international engagement and 
collaboration to support emerging knowledge fields and 
provide local researchers with access to innovative research 
infrastructure.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Promote system-wide international engagement; and
• Facilitate international research platform access.

LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 2 links to: 
• MTSF Priorities 10 and 11 

 Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of active grants emanating from 
binational, multinational and agency-to-
agency agreements

1 161 1 008 996 990 1 052 6%

A slightly higher than anticipated 
number of bilateral and 
multilaterals were realised and 
concluded, resulting in more 
grants being awarded. 

2 Enhance strategic international engagements

Table 6b:  Performance against strategic objective 2 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of active grants emanating from 
binational, multinational and agency-to-
agency agreements

996 1 545 1 052 -32%

At the time of setting targets for the Strategy, 
the target was based on budget growth 
projections that were essential to realise the 
Strategy targets and outcomes. However, 
budget growth over the period was significantly 
below expectations and hence, the targets 
were not realised.

An internationally 
competitive, transformed 

and representative 
research system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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 ▪ Grants Management and Systems 
Administration (GMSA)

Grants Management and Systems Administration (GMSA)

The GMSA capability implements grants management and 
relevant systems administration for the entire grant-making 
function of the NRF. 

One NRF Call

Progress was made to ensure the implementation of the One NRF 

Call by February 2019 and the GMSA is driving this process. 

The process for implementation of the One NRF Call is as follows:

• One Call for all application categories opened in February 
2019;

• All applications for funding must be submitted on pre-
determined dates to fit within one or two review periods; and

• Processes will be streamlined to complete funding decisions 
for 2020 funding by the end of November 2019.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 7a:  Performance against strategic objective 3 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Support research and innovation through the provision of 
world-class grant-making, rating and evaluation systems 
while striving to double the investment in research to R8bn 
over the five years.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Pursue best-practice grant-making, evaluation and rating 
systems.

LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 3 indirectly links to: 
• MTSF Priorities 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Total number of researchers rated 
through the NRF system 3 369 3 663 3 885 3 750 3 963 6%

Increased recognition among 
researchers of the status 
of being NRF-rated and 
the NRF's effort to promote 
rating led to an increase in 
applications from designated 
researchers.

3 Provide best-practice systems in support of 
grant making, reviews and evaluations

Table 7b:  Performance against strategic objective 3 performance Indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Total number of researchers rated 
through the NRF system 3 885 3 800 3 963 4%

Increased recognition among researchers of the 
status of being NRF-rated and the NRF's effort to 
promote rating led to an increase in applications 
from designated researchers.

World-class benchmarking 
and grant-making 

systems

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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Performance against strategic objective 4: 
Leading-edge research and infrastructure 
platforms

Provide science infrastructure in priority areas. 

The NRF facilitates access to global infrastructure such as the 
European Synchrotron Radiation Facility (ESRF); the European 
Organization for Nuclear Research (CERN), including the Large 
Hadron Collider (LHC); the Joint Institute for Nuclear Research 
(JINR), and the International Centre for Theoretical Physics (ICTP).

Incubate, nurture and locate research platforms 
strategically.

The NRF places emphasis on research infrastructure investment 
at HEIs through RISA grants that enable researchers to access 
equipment both nationally and internationally.

 ▪ National Equipment Programme (NEP) 
and National Nanotechnology Equipment 
Programme (NNEP)

The NRF received 177 annual progress reports  from 158 grant 
holders, comprising 147 for the NEP and 30 for the NNEP. In total, 
2 996 users utilised the research equipment during the 2018/19 
financial year, and the total number of publications emanating from 
the usage of equipment funded by the NEP and NNEP amounted 
to 682.  Research conducted through use of the equipment has 
advanced research infrastructure in the following thematic areas:

• Communicable diseases; 
• Nanotechnology; 
• Biosciences and environmental management;
• Global change and energy; 

• Cellular and molecular biology; and 
• Physical science, mining and engineering.

 ▪ Centre for High-resolution Transmission 
Electron Microscopy (C-HRTEM)

The SA-Swedish collaboration is jointly funded by the NRF and 
the Swedish Foundation for International Cooperation in Research 
and Higher Education. The C-HRTEM was awarded a three-
year grant to the value of R850 000 as part of the NRF of South 
Africa/National Centre for Research and Development (NCBR) of 
Poland Joint Science and Technology Research Collaboration. 
This funding was awarded for studying the role of interfaces in 
multi-layered and coated structures. Extensive experimental work 
with exposure to top international research facilities resulted in 
a presentation by South African researchers at the Joint South 
Africa-Sweden Research Collaboration Workshop. 

 ▪ Research Equipment Database (EQDB)

A total of 919 pieces of equipment from 35 research institutions 
was uploaded on the NRF EQDB, making it an invaluable tool 
for researchers wishing to utilise multi-user equipment and/or 
to motivate for the acquisition of new equipment. The number 
of equipment records on the site increased from 899 to 919 in 
the 2018/19 financial year and there was a total of 6 464 visitors/
sessions by the end of the 2018/19 financial year. 

The EQDB plays an important role in:

• Informing continued investment in research equipment and 
platforms;

• Advising researchers of what equipment is available nationally;
• Facilitating access to multi-user equipment; and
• Stimulating new applications for research infrastructure.



NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

36

7.3.4  Special project

DST/NRF Internship Programme

The DST-NRF Internship Programme serves as an enabling 
platform that provides accelerated work experience to 
unemployed graduates in the broader SET disciplines. The aim 
of this Programme is to:

• Establish and increase a pool of skilled HR for the public and 
private sectors, science councils and science institutions;

• Provide university graduates and postgraduates with work 
experience in SET fields commensurate with their qualifications, 

thus increasing their chances of employment;
• Provide SET graduates and postgraduates with exposure to 

research and development projects that are critical to the NSI; 
• Attract interns to pursue careers in the NSI; and
• Build capacity in research management at HEIs and research 

institutions throughout the country.

In total, 601 interns were placed at various participating host 
institutions throughout the country to be trained under the guidance 
of experienced mentors, while having the necessary resources 
at their disposal. Focus group interviews held with all involved, 
revealed that the interns received valuable work experience. 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 8a:  Performance against strategic objective 4 performance indicator targets in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Provide and facilitate access to world-class equipment and 
infrastructure through the acquisition of high-end equipment 
and the support of National Research Facilities.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Provide science infrastructure in priority areas; and
• Incubate, nurture and strategically locate research 

platforms.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 4 links to: 

• MTSF Priorities 2 and 10, since the provision of research 
equipment and platforms supports research across all areas 
of the HCD excellence pipeline.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment on variance

Number of users of equipment that 
was funded by the NEP and NNEP 2 360 2 950 2 881 2 641 2 996 13%

The number of users per equipment 
fluctuates from year to year and the 
over performance is an indication of 
demand.

Number of publications emanating 
from the usage of equipment funded 
by the NEP and NNEP

1 105 779 908 695 682 -2%
The number of new equipment 
awards per annum was substantially 
reduced, which resulted in fewer 
publications than anticipated.  

4 Establish and maintain research infrastructure 
and platforms

Table 8b:  Performance against strategic objective 4 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
 Target 
2018/19

Actual 
2018/19 Variance

Summary of comment 
on variance

Number of users of equipment that 
was funded by the NEP and NNEP 2 881 2 200 2 996 36%

The number of users per equipment fluctuates 
from year to year and the over performance is an 
indication of demand.

Number of publications emanating 
from the usage of equipment funded 
by the NEP and NNEP

908 2 800 682 -76%
The number of new equipment awards per 
annum was substantially reduced, which resulted 
in fewer publications than anticipated.  

Leading-edge research and 
infrastructure platforms

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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7.4  Programme 4: National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms (NRIPs)
The NRF is mandated to provide leading-edge research 
infrastructure platforms in support of knowledge generation.  
Programme 4 effects that through the maintenance of National 
Research Facilities in the following areas:  

• Nuclear science;
• Biodiversity and environmental sciences; and 
• Astronomy and geodetic sciences.

The overall global competitiveness of the science performed at 
the NRIPs is more accurately captured in the graph below.

Provision of access to adequate and relevant research infrastructure 
(RI) is a key enabler of globally competitive research, development 
and innovation and Programme 4 supports the optimisation of 
synergies, collaborations and shared services, where appropriate, 
across the various research infrastructure platforms.

In accordance with the South African Research Infrastructure 
Roadmap (SARIR), RI is infrastructure classified into four broad 
categories as follows:

Single-sited global RI: These are unique, geographically 
localised facilities where governance is fundamentally international 

in character. The NRF enables access to single-sited RI through:

• The brokering of bilateral country-to-country agreements with 
the support of the DST;

• Supporting inter-institutional collaborative agreements; and
• Providing mobility grants to allow for dynamic exchange 

between local and international researchers.

Globally distributed RI: These constitute national or institutional 
nodes that are part of a global network and where governance 
is fundamentally international in character. While there is an 
element of mobility, the primary commodity is access to data. 
In this context, the NRF supports the sharing of collection and 
observation data with global science networks.

National facilities of global interest: These are facilities 
with unique capabilities that are significant contributors to the 
global research network. The NRF is mandated to support and 
maintain National Research Facilities in South Africa as declared 
under the NRF Act.  In addition to providing a suite of National 
Research Facilities in the fields of nuclear science; biodiversity 
and environmental sciences; as well as astronomy and geodetic 
sciences, the NRF also provides access to global national facilities 
through mobility grants in support of collaboration.

Equipment and data provisioning: The provisioning of research 
equipment within the NRF is executed through its grant-making 
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division (RISA) and aims to provide cutting-edge small- to 
medium-sized equipment at the National Research Facilities, 
universities and science councils.

National Research Facilities

National Research Facilities, declared by the Minister of Science 
and Technology in accordance with the NRF Act, are created 
to provide a critical mass of equipment, cutting-edge platforms, 
unique technologies and researchers in support of domain-
specific research, HCD and knowledge generation. 

The main criteria for the establishment of National Research 
Facilities are:

• They should occupy a unique position in the South African 
knowledge production; 

• Their offer of core technologies, research methodology or data 
pools/collections should live up to international standards;

• Their goals should be well aligned with the overall objectives 
of the NSI, especially with regard to the diffusion of new 
knowledge;

• A critical mass of equipment, skills and users should be 
present; 

• The potential for networking and for attracting international 
collaborators to South Africa should be present;

• An ability to provide opportunities for HCD, with special 
efforts to involve researchers from formerly disadvantaged 
communities, should be present; and

• An ability to provide opportunities for the advancement of 
science and for the interface between science and society. 
(Please refer to Programme 2 for details.)

National Research Facilities support the national research and 
development strategy by exploiting geographic and knowledge 
advantage areas that are unique to Southern Africa. They 
provide unique and cutting-edge research platforms through 
a network of distributed institutions. These Facilities support 
research of strategic importance and provide access to 'big 
science' infrastructure to national and international researchers 
and research, and also contribute to the NRF strategic goal of 
growing a representative research workforce through focussed 
HCD initiatives. It is through these Facilities that South Africa can 
compete and co-operate effectively with international counterparts 
in selected strategic research areas. 

The education and training mandates of National Research 
Facilities enrich and empower individuals to function as productive 
knowledge workers. The NRF currently manages National 
Research Facilities in the following research clusters:

Nuclear science

 ▪ iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based 
Science (iThemba LABS)

iThemba LABS focuses on the development, operation and use 
of particle accelerators and related research equipment.  The 
accelerators are used to accelerate charged particles and ions for: 

• Basic nuclear and hadron physics research; 
• Radioisotope research and development;
• Radioisotope production and supply to the health sector;  
• Radiobiology research; and 
• Applications such as ion beam analysis, environmental 

studies, radiation hardness testing of electronic components 
used in satellites and detector calibration.

The research infrastructure is centred on a number of sub-atomic 
particle accelerators that include:

• A variable-energy SSC that produces a wide variety of high-
energy particle beams (proton energies of up to 200 MeV) and 
includes the two injector cyclotrons;

• A 6 MV tandem accelerator for accelerator mass spectrometry 
(AMS), ion beam analysis (nuclear microprobe and a 
spectrometer for heavy ions), as well as a beam-line devoted 
to low-energy nuclear reaction physics and astrophysics; and  

• A 3 MV Tandetron accelerator equipped with end stations for 
materials research, ion beam analysis techniques and studies 
in nanotechnology.

Biodiversity and environmental sciences

 ▪ South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 
(SAIAB)

SAIAB serves as a hub for national and international scientific 
research within the field of African aquatic biodiversity. The 
Institute is a National Research Facility for aquatic biodiversity 
science based on internationally recognised research expertise 
and competencies in this field, as well as the provision of unique 
research platforms to the broader NSI. These platforms include:

• Aquatic biodiversity collections, associated laboratories and 
services that integrate modern molecular and bio-banking 
systems to the physical specimens; 

• A research community-driven marine flagship programme (the 
African Coelacanth Ecosystem Programme – ACEP), which 
includes coastal research vessels, in situ instrumentation such 
as a remotely operated vehicle (ROV);
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• Remote video systems; 
• Marine geophysics mapping equipment; and 
• The Acoustic Telemetry Array Platform (ATAP).

Research infrastructure unique to SAIAB includes:

• A number of special-purpose laboratories that are available 
to internal and external research scientists and students for 
research in molecular science and eco-physiology;

• A wet collections facility including preservation laboratories, 
glass store, alcohol store, dermestarium and tissue preparation 
laboratory, as well as storage for the National Fish Collection, 
the African Amphibian Collection, the Aquatic Biodiversity 
Tissue Bank and the National Diatom Collection; 

• The marine research platform, which includes the Coastal 
Craft Fleet with vessels based in Durban and Port Elizabeth; 
ATAP, which has over 100 underwater base stations along the 
east coast of South Africa; and the Marine Remote Imagery 
Platform that manages a range of remote visual platforms 
such as ROVs, which are robots that dive hundreds of metres 
into the ocean; and 

• The largest document collection and resource centre for 
African aquatic biodiversity research in Africa.

 ▪ South African Environmental Observation 
Network (SAEON)

SAEON is a comprehensive, sustained, co-ordinated and 
responsive national network of in situ environmental observatories 
that delivers long-term reliable data for scientific research, 
and that informs decision making for a knowledge society and 
improved quality of life. SAEON offers public value through long-
term, multi-disciplinary observation programmes and platforms 
that are designed to clarify earth system dynamics and changes 
over multiple scales and to distinguish between natural and 
anthropogenic environmental change. Public value is also created 
through the development of open-access data systems and online 
decision-support tools.

The research agenda of SAEON focuses on acquiring greater 
understanding of the trends in global environmental change 
and its impacts, and promoting the development of strategies 
for adapting to the change. The agenda is premised on the 
acquisition of sufficiently long-term, detailed and consistent record 
of on-going changes in environmental variables. To this end, long-
term environmental observation sites have been established in 
key ecosystems around South Africa and they have demonstrated 
their worth as platforms for gaining and consolidating the 
understanding of human-environment interactions.

SAEON consists of six geographically dispersed environmental 
observation nodes and a data and knowledge management node 
(uLwazi Node), which serves a cross-cutting function.

Astronomy and geodetic sciences

Optical astronomy

The South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO) is the 
national facility for optical and infrared astronomy in South 
Africa. Its primary function is to conduct fundamental research 
in astronomy and astrophysics. SAAO operates a number of 
telescopes, including the Southern African Large Telescope 
(SALT). The latter is owned by the SALT Foundation formed by an 
international consortium of institutions, with the NRF as the major 
shareholder. The research agenda at SAAO includes:

• Planetary astronomy, since the geographic position of 
Sutherland, combined with its high-speed instrumentation 
capabilities, make it a key location in the global context;  

• Studies of interacting binary stars to advance the understanding 
of this class of object and provide the opportunity to explore a 
broad range of astrophysical phenomena, the most obvious 
being accretion;

• Transient events where SALT and SAAO telescopes take full 
advantage of the opportunities that transients present from 
various ongoing and future surveys like CRTS, Pan-Starrs, 
Skymapper and the Large Synoptic Survey Telescope (LSST);

• Nearby Milky Way companions – SALT provides unique 
opportunities to study this area in more detail;

• Galaxy formation and evolution – SALT and the Infrared 
Survey Facility (IRSF) instruments are used to address the 
question of how galaxies form and evolve;

• Galaxy clusters – which permit studies of the growth of the 
most massive structures in the universe;  

• Active galactic nuclei – as sources of variable extra-galactic 
objects; and

• Cosmology – here the work centres on exploitation of type 1a 
supernovae discovered as part of international collaborations. 

Radio astronomy

SARAO was declared a National Research Facility to be managed 
by the NRF. That declaration resulted in the merger of HartRAO 
and the SKA SA project to facilitate the consolidation of all radio 
astronomy activities in the country. SARAO is also responsible for 
the management and operations of MeerKAT and the hosting of 
the international SKA project. Currently, SARAO also hosts guest 
telescopes such as the Hydrogen Epoch of Re-ionization Array 
(HERA) and C-Bass that are part of consortia from countries such 
as the UK, the USA and South Africa.
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Areas of research at the facility include:

• Astrophysical masers;
• Technology development and instrumentation;
• Pulsars;
• Epoch of re-ionization;
• Galaxy formation and evolution;
• Interplanetary scintillation caused by the solar wind; 
• Radio-bright supernovae in other galaxies; 
• International Celestial Reference Frame to provide a link 

to optical astrometric measurements from the new GAIA 
spacecraft;

• Tests of the general theory of relativity; and 
• Positioning services to support astronomers and users of Global 

Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) precise positioning.

The consolidated facility has the following strategic objectives:

• Optimise South Africa’s contribution to, and benefit from, the 
international SKA project;

• Establish and sustain globally competitive and transformed 
radio astronomy and space geodesy research and 
infrastructure in South Africa and abroad, where appropriate; 

• Optimise associated national socio-economic benefit from 
radio astronomy and space geodesy activities; and 

• Promote radio astronomy and space geodesy in Africa. 

National Research Infrastructure Platform 
Performance

Nuclear, biodiversity and environmental 
sciences

Promote globally competitive research and 
innovation.

 ▪ Human Capacity Development (HCD)

• An international partner from SECB, the Frene for Nuclear 
Science and Technology (INSTN), was engaged for the 
presentation of a two-week Radiochemistry Course at 
iThemba LABS that will happen during the 2019/20 financial 
year.  This initiative will benefit the staff based at the Nuclear 
Medicine Department at iThemba LABS;

• SAIAB continues to contribute to HCD through ACEP, which 
supports marine science researchers and their students at 
four historically black universities. This programme supported 
69 students comprising 21 honours, 42 masters, six doctoral 
and two postdoctoral fellows; 

• SAEON provides support to 16 postdoctoral fellows, and to 
eight honours/BTech, 32 masters and 37 doctoral students. 
The supervision of these students led to eight students 
and 17 postdoctoral students publishing research papers 
in accredited journals.  SAEON also gave students an 
opportunity to communicate their science at local and 
international conferences, such as the 5th Regional Graduate 
Network in Oceanography discovery camp in Namibia, the 
International Conference on Research Infrastructure and the 
Arid Zone Ecology Forum. SAEON Professional Development 
Programme (PDP) doctoral student, Katherine Hutchinson, 
co-chaired a session on seasonal variability across all time 
and spatial scales at the European Geophysical Union 
Conference and presented on behalf of South Africa at the 
Royal Geographical Society to showcase the monitoring of 
oceans around South Africa; 

• SAEON’s Graduate Student Network (GSN) is an excellent 
platform for capacity building and the training of postgraduate 
students in skills they will require in their careers as scientists. 
SAEON’s GSN gave students an opportunity to network 
with their peers and established scientists through the 11th 
SAEON GSN Indibano that was held at the Wits Rural Facility 
in Limpopo. The theme of the conference was 'Selling your 
Science, Selling Yourself’, since the focus of that conference 
was on science communication training because science 
students are not given training opportunities on how to 
communicate their science effectively to the public; and

• SAEON scientists conducted training workshops for 
postgraduate students studying marine and terrestrial ecology 
to acquire new skills in an era when big data and cognitive 
computing are essential for conducting research. Some of the 
workshops conducted were on regional ocean modelling, data 
life cycle, R and QGIS.  

 ▪ Knowledge generation

• A first test run on six elephant blood samples (five from Knysna 
Elephant Park and one sample from Addo Elephant Park) 
was performed in collaboration with a wildlife veterinarian 
and National Geographic photographer. This pilot study will 
potentially pave the way for a new project in collaboration with 
the Clinical Radiobiology Group at GSI that will investigate  
the influence of the multiple copies of the tumour suppressor 
gene TP53 in elephants in the context of the Peto Paradox to 
develop new strategies for the prevention of radiation-induced 
cancers or help to sensitize cells to radiotherapy;

• Articles were written on involvement of SAEON in international 
long-term ecological research (ILTER), thus expanding 
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SAEON’s strategic role in ILTER and an ambitious ILTER 
workshop on the potential of a global environmental research 
infrastructure;

• SAEON published 74 research articles that not only contributed 
to science advancement, but was also instrumental in 
influencing decisions and legislation of other South African 
government departments;

• Johan Pauw (MD of SAEON) and Prof Tommy Bornman 
(Manager, SAEON Elwandle Node) participated in a ground-
breaking workshop organised by the ILTER Network and hosted 
by the South China Botanical Gardens on behalf of the Chinese 
Ecosystems Research Network with funding from the Chinese 
Academy of Science. The rationale was to develop conceptual 
inputs to next-generation global ecological/ecosystem/critical 
zone research infrastructure planning and implementation 
with reference to the Group of Senior Officers (GSO 2014) 
recommendations and progress report (GSO 2017);

• SAEON was involved in the development of three significant 
new data products that relied on the Semantic Framework 
and on interoperability specifications to serve as the start of a 
government-wide system of systems approach.  Input were made 
to the National Framework for Climate Services (NFCS), and the 
products developed within this guidance to date include a profiling 
tool that allows for impact, risk and vulnerability assessments to 
be made at a variety of scales, based on evidence from web-
based, distributed data sources; and integration of Department 
of Environmental Affairs (DEA) systems, specifically those 
dealing with climate change mitigation and adaptation, and it is 
linking to NERSA and bio-energy data;

• The field guide to offshore marine invertebrates edited by 
Dr Lara Atkinson (SAEON) and Dr Kerry Sink from the 
South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) was 
launched during a celebration at the Two Oceans Aquarium 
in Cape Town on 10 May 2018. The field guide provides local 
knowledge and understanding of deep-water invertebrates in 
South Africa to local and international researchers and the 
fisheries community; 

• SAEON and the Afromontane Research Unit (ARU) based 
at the Qwaqwa Campus of the University of the Free State 
will be sharing a Research Chair. This is intended to create 
a sustainability science hub to carry out solution-orientated 
transdisciplinary research, centred on the sustainable 
development goals and sustainability research in general.  
Research will be carried out on conservation and sustainable 
use of Afromontane biodiversity; sustainable futures for the 
people of the Afromontane; and will include living and doing 
business in the Afromontane themes.

Enhance strategic international agreements.

iThemba LABS staff collaborate with their international 
counterparts on research projects undertaken mainly in South 
Africa using iThemba LABS facilities, and also at cognate research 
facilities in other countries to complement the work undertaken 
locally. Most agreements are based on providing access to unique 
research facilities locally and globally, the training of postgraduate 
students and the mentoring and development of emerging 
researchers. iThemba LABS is hosting and coordinating the 
activities of the SA-CERN and SA-JINR collaborations on behalf 
of the NRF and the DST, and is in the process of forming a South 
African consortium to collaborate with the BNL, Fermi Lab and 
GSI/FAIR. At the end of the financial year, 18 agreements were 
concluded with international institutions.

SAIAB is both regionally and internationally actively involved at 
a number of levels. These include active research collaborations 
(both formal and informal); research capacity development; 
workshops and conferences; organisation representation; 
editorships of journals; and research visits. 13 joint international 
collaborations were concluded by the end of the fourth quarter.  

The internationalisation and mobility programme of SAEON 
showcases it as a leading international environmental research 
institution and seven collaboration agreements were concluded at 
the end of the financial year to support SAEON activities.

SAEON plays an increasingly active role in international forums 
that promote access to scientific and research data. Internationally, 
SAEON is currently a member of, or has contributed to, the 
International Council for Science (ISCU) World Data System; the 
Group on Earth Observation and Global Earth Observation System 
of Systems; the GEO Biodiversity Observation Network; the 
Research Data Alliance; the Committee on Data for Science and 
Technology; the Belmont Forum and International Geosampling 
Numbering; the Australian Antarctic Data Centre; WDC Soils; 
the Survey Research Data Archive; and the IMS Repository and 
Language Data Archive – Cologne. SAEON is also assisting 
CoreTrustSeal with the development of a certification widget 
for inclusion in member websites and is supporting EU-African 
Cooperation on Research Infrastructures for Food Security and 
Greenhouse Gas Observations (SEACRIFOG).

At present, seven joint international agreements are active to 
support SAEON activities. These are: Agulhas System Climate 
Array (ASCA); Marine and Environmental Science Center 
(Portugal); Seacrifrog; Sub-sea Sonics; Solstice; Weddell Sea 
Exploration Agreement; Institute of Environmental Engineering 
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and Management University of Witten/Herdecke, Germany and 
University of Szczecin, Poland. Within Africa there have been 
collaboration and science networking, particularly in the field of 
coastal and marine science as part of the Western Indian Ocean 
Marine Science Association (WIOMSA).

Establish and maintain research infrastructure 
and platforms.

 ▪ iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based 
Science (iThemba LABS)

Generally, the infrastructure is performing reliably and efficiently.  
That can be attributed to the maintenance programme carried out 
over the past two years. The following infrastructure projects were 
carried out during the quarter: 

• The new biological X-ray irradiator was installed in the 
designated room (CG12) of the radiobiology laboratory wing;

• The new server-class computer for Monte Carlo simulations 
was delivered and installed and a GEANT4 and TOPAS were 
also installed. Benchmarking and GENAT4 simulations were 
carried out and showed a 10-fold increase in computation 
speed over the 16-core server previously used.  Fine-tuning 
the GEANT4 description of the initial phase space of the beam 
at the entrance to the proton nozzle is still in progress; 

• The high-precision δ13C capacity in the 14C-graphitization line 
by means of a new laser analyser will be integrated to the 
AMS beam. Good δ13C capability is essential for Radiocarbon 
dates, but moreover many of the projects also stand on the 
δ13C results by themselves, as it is an important environmental 
proxy employed in climate, ecology, and paleo-dietary studies; 
and 

• Feasibility of studying laser-assisted ionization at the AMS ion 
source and the case for an automated graphitisation system 
will be carried out.

 ▪ South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 
(SAIAB)

SAIAB’s platform provision is integrated and also complements 
the two SARIR platforms: 

• A genomics 'hub' between SAIAB and Rhodes University 
centred on the Next-Gen sequencer was developed. This 
makes SAIAB the leading provider of genetic sequencing 
capabilities in the Eastern Cape. The platform is running 
smoothly, the lab is fully subscribed and analysis methodologies 

are being expanded; and
• A new bio-analyser, which allows for accurate sizing of DNA 

libraries, is up and running and key research staff received 
training.

 ▪ South African Environmental Observation 
Network (SAEON)

The following infrastructure expansion activities were carried out 
at SAEON:

• Marine spatial data that can be acquired quickly and at higher 
resolutions is crucial for research and this sometimes requires 
remote sensing platforms. Following the successful launch 
of the Shallow Marine and Coastal Research Infrastructure 
(SMCRI) platform, SAEON’s Elwandle Node acquired an 
aircraft that will be used as an airborne remote sensing 
platform.  A hyperbaric chamber was installed to treat medical 
diving emergencies to ensure that the safety of diving teams is 
prioritised in case of emergencies;  

• SAEON established the uLwazi Node for data and information 
platforms at the beginning of 2018. ULwazi is the Zulu word for 
'useful knowledge', which is exactly what the Node stands for 
in modern society. It is well-established and well-resourced by 
way of government contracts relying on SAEON infrastructure 
for hosting a range of technology platforms, integrated with 
SAEON’s research data infrastructure, data dissemination 
platform and associated systems such as the South African 
Risk and Vulnerability Atlas (SARVA), BioEnergy Atlas 
(BEA), South African Earth Observation System of Systems 
(SAEOSS),  South African Spatial Development Infrastructure 
(SASDI), the Marine Information Management System (MIMS) 
and the South African Carbon Atlas. These online systems all 
support decision making in the context of the objectives of the 
NDP 2030; and

• The Grasslands Node Maputaland Coastal Plain LTSER 
Platform has grown. It extends from St Lucia to Kosi Bay on the 
northern coast of KwaZulu-Natal. In addition to all groundwater 
monitoring sites, there is one full automatic weather station with 
live feed, six automatic rain gauge stations and new mini weather 
stations. These stations address a major gap in weather station 
data for the northern region that is solely dependent on rainfall 
for underground aquifer recharge. This observation platform is 
aimed at addressing local global change challenges through 
understanding the relative impacts of land use and climate 
(change) in the area. An approach to co-create knowledge is 
being used by linking into local community structures with the 
aim of doing science 'with and for society'. 
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Table 9a:   National Research Facilities (excluding Astronomy) performance against strategic objective 1 performance   
 indicators in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Drive research competitiveness through the support of high-
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and the development of human capacity in critical 
areas.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Increase and provide support for next-generation, 
emerging and established researchers to grow the 
doctoral pipeline; and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 1 links to: 

• MTSF Priorities 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10 through the 
implementation and support of the HCD excellence pipeline, 
including the creation of Research Chairs and CoEs.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of postgraduate 
students supported by 
National Research Facilities

- - 228 289 68 -76%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

ISI (WoS) publications at 
National Research Facilities - - 172 150 190 27%

The impact of research infrastructure renewal 
over the past few years is now evident in 
research outputs by the Facilities.  

Number of users of National 
Research Facilities - - 695 505 135 -73%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

Citation impact of National 
Research Facility outputs 
(annual cumulative)

- - 1.61 1.64 1.72 0.08
Papers published have a higher impact within 
the community and therefore citation has 
increased.

1 Promote globally competitive research and 
innovation 

Table 9b:  Nuclear science performance against strategic objective 1 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of postgraduate 
students supported by 
National Research Facilities

490 480 201 -58%
A redefinition of the performance descriptor during the 
financial year resulted in lower numbers being reported. 
Planning for the 2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

ISI (WoS) publications at 
National Research Facilities 357 232 357 54%

The impact of research infrastructure renewal over the 
past few years is now evident in research outputs by the 
Facilities.  

Number of users of National 
Research Facilities 1 361 1 267 527 -58%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor during the 
financial year resulted in lower numbers being reported. 
Planning for the 2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

Citation impact of National 
Research Facility outputs 
(annual cumulative)

- >2 - - Citation impact is only calculated for the three areas of 
science covered by the NRF combined and for each area.

An internationally 
competitive, transformed 

and representative 
research system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of postgraduate 
students supported by 
National Research Facilities

- - 262 235 133 -43%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

ISI (WoS) publications at 
National Research Facilities - - 185 105 167 59%

Impact of research infrastructure renewal over 
the past few years is now evident in research 
outputs, since research platforms at SAIAB 
are fully subscribed.  

Number of users of National 
Research Facilities - - 666 562 392 -30%

 A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

Citation impact of National 
Research Facility outputs 
(annual cumulative)

- - 1.29 1.2 1.16 -0.04
Although the desired citation impact was not 
met, papers published have a higher impact 
within the community.

Table 9c:   Biodiversity and environmental sciences performance against strategic objective 1 performance indicators in   
 the APP 2018/19
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Table 10a:   National Research Facilities (excluding astronomy) performance against strategic objective 2 performance   
 indicators in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Promote system-wide international engagement and 
collaboration to support emerging knowledge fields and 
provide local researchers with access to innovative research 
infrastructure.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Promote system-wide international engagement; and
• Facilitate international research platform access.

LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 2 links to: 
• MTSF Priorities 10 and 11. 

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of joint international 
agreements at National 
Research Facilities

- - 27 40 17 -58%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

2

Table 10b:  Nuclear science performance against Strategic Objective 2 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of joint international agreements 
at National Research Facilities 43 68 37 -46%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary comment

on variance
Number of joint international 
agreements at National 
Research Facilities

- - 16 21 21 0%

Table 10c:  Biodiversity and environmental sciences performance against strategic objective 2 performance     
indicators in the APP 2018/19

An internationally 
competitive, transformed 

and representative 
research system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME



NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART B: PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 

46

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 11a:  National Research Facilities (excluding astronomy) performance against strategic objective 4 performance   
 indicators in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Provide and facilitate access to world-class equipment and 
infrastructure through the acquisition of high-end equipment 
and the support of National Research Facilities.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Provide science infrastructure in priority areas; and
• Incubate, nurture and locate research platforms 

strategically.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 4 links to: 

• MTSF Priorities 2 and 10, since the provision of research 
equipment and platforms supports research across all areas 
of the HCD excellence pipeline.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Total infrastructure 
investment in National 
Research Facilities 
(R’000 000)

- - 66.50 45.45 33.60 -26%

Site infrastructure refurbishments 
postponed to 2019/20 due to resourcing 
constraints and delays in procurement 
of detectors for the GAMKA project at 
iThemba LABS.

4 Establish and maintain research infrastructure 
and platforms

Table 11b:   Nuclear science performance against strategic objective 4 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Total infrastructure investment in 
National Research Facilities (R’000 000) 114.8 26.60 72.77 174% More capital projects emerged after the 

Strategy was concluded. 

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17 
Actual 

2017/18
Target

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Total infrastructure 
investment in National 
Research Facilities 
(R’000 000)

- -   48.25 41.00 39.17 -4% This is due to roll-over of projects for 
SARIR from the previous year.

Table 11c:   Biodiversity and environmental sciences performance against strategic objective 4 performance     
 indicators in the APP 2018/19

Leading-edge research and 
infrastructure platforms

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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Astronomy and geodetic sciences

 ▪ Human Capacity Development (HCD)

• SAAO has introduced a support and mentoring programme for 
postgraduate students who are co-supervised by staff.  This is 
designed to provide financial, scientific and personal support 
throughout the tenure of students in the programme and 31 
students are currently being supported; and

• SARAO HCD continues to impact lives through its 
developmental programmes, e.g. the graduate programme 
that created 44 job opportunities for graduates. By the end of 
the fourth quarter, 101 scholarships and grants were awarded 
and 38 postgraduates were supervised by SARAO staff for 
their studies at different universities.

 ▪ Knowledge generation

• The first simultaneous observations using both SALT and 
MeerKAT were undertaken. The MeerLICHT and other SAAO 
telescopes were utilised and the observations were done as 
part of the ThunderKAT Programme, one of the key MeerKAT 
science programmes that aims to study transient radio sources. 
The ThunderKAT group has proposed nearby accreting white 
dwarfs in cataclysmic variable stars as excellent targets for 
multi-wavelength studies in the MeerKAT early science phase. 
This culminated with the observation of a magnetic cataclysmic 
variable star, UZ. This first successful milestone ushers in a 
new era for South African multi-wavelength astronomy, where 
MeerKAT, MeerLICHT, SALT and many of the other SAAO 
telescopes will be co-ordinated for simultaneous observations. 
The new SAAO 'Intelligent Observatory' initiative will play a 
major role in allowing South African astronomers to make a 
significant mark in transient and variability studies in the years 
to come.

• Scienitific contribution was made to the discovery of the 
bingeing white dwarf in which a small white dwarf star is 
cannibalising its larger sun-like companion. Such objects are 
actually quite common, but for this new object, the white dwarf 
binged on its neighbour at a massive rate, heating part of it to 
nearly a million degrees. Optical follow-up observations were 
conducted by SALT, the Polish OGLE telescope in Chile and 
the Las Cumbres Observatory (LCO) telescope network.  SALT 
also played an important role as part of the international Dark 
Energy Survey’s (DES) quest to pin down dark energy, the 
mysterious force accelerating the expansion of the universe 

• High-impact publications were also prepared, utilising the 
SAAO telescope to observe 33 new mid-eclipse times of 

the eclipsing polar UZ Fornacis spanning approximately 
eight years.  These observations were used to test the two-
planet model previously proposed to explain the variations 
in its eclipse times measured over the past 35 years.  A new 
eclipsing polar was also observed using the SAAO telescope.

• Earlier in the year, the South Africa node of the Korea 
Microlensing Telescope Network (KMTNet) was used for 
targeted study of near-earth asteroids.  SAAO astronomers 
with colleagues from the USA, recognised that the data from 
KMTNet’s large field of view could also be harvested for main-
belt asteroids (MBAs) that were serendipitously observed.  As 
a result, spectrophotometry was obtained for 1003 MBAs. 
These data allowed determination of asteroid taxonomies, 
with 836 of the observed targets confidently classified by 
means of a machine-learning algorithm approach.  Knowledge 
of asteroid properties increases understanding of the evolution 
of the Solar System, is needed for the development of 
asteroid-impact mitigation strategies and is becoming relevant 
to industry through asteroid-mining initiatives.

• The data collected for the two LSPs was shared with the 
science teams for analysis and in some cases, processes 
to prepare publications have commenced. Some science 
verification datasets were distributed to South African 
university teams for science exploitation. SARAO staff are also 
involved in preparing some of the early MeerKAT datasets for 
publication and the first such paper, based on galactic centre 
data, was submitted for publication. 72 Web of Science (WoS) 
publications were published during the financial year. 

Enhance strategic international agreements.

A new high-throughput spectrograph MaxE, to be built at SAAO for 
transient follow-up, is one of the immediate Gen 1.5 project items 
and this project kicked off towards the end of the financial year.  
SAAO will play a central role in defining, designing and building 
future instruments in collaboration with the SALT partners.

Lack of certainty concerning the future budget for the African 
VLBI Network (AVN) programme resulted in a re-prioritisation 
of activities to focus primarily on the completion and handover 
of the Ghana Radio Astronomy Observatory. That resulted in 
substantially reduced progress on the delivery of infrastructure in 
the other African partner countries. New funding strategies are 
being explored, including the option of co-locating space services 
with radio astronomy facilities in order to generate revenue. 
This provides operational funding for radio astronomy sites and 
provides leverage to access funding from sources such as the 
Development Bank of South Africa (DBSA). The space industry 
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has indicated an interest in establishing sites in other African 
partner countries. 

As part of the strategic foundation at SAAO to provide service, 
an 'Intelligent Observatory' (IO) concept was developed over the 
course of the past year, with the long-term goal of moving towards 
a networked observatory where multiple telescopes can (semi-)
autonomously react rapidly to triggers from alert streams.  One 
of the first steps in this process is to convert telescopes to be 
remotely operable with minimal need of human intervention at 
the location.  Thus, a Remote Operations Room in Cape Town 
received specific attention during the quarter. 

The importance of HartRAO as a fundamental geodesy 
and astronomy site was highlighted by the adoption of the 
new International Celestial Reference Frame (ICRF) by the 
International Astronomical Union (IAU).

All existing instruments, including single-dish radio telescopes, 
satellite laser rangers and GNSS reference receivers at the 
Hartebeesthoek and Matjiesfontein sites continued normal 
operations.  The VGOS antenna was installed and subjected 
to acceptance tests. An interim receiver is being installed for 
further tests. The Site Tie System (hardware and software) at the 
Hartebeesthoek facility was installed.  Initial tests and calibrations 

towards a fully automated system and product are underway. This 
System will eventually determine the inter-instrumental vectors 
on a regular basis. The NGI will participate in the setup and 
configuration of this automated system to ensure a world-class 
product. Other essential upgrades to basic infrastructure are also 
underway at the Hartebeesthoek facility to provide a safe working 
environment and to provide accommodation for students staying 
on-site during training programmes (such as the annual DARA/
Newton Programme). These upgrades are partially funded by 
infrastructure grants.

The Matjiesfontein site hosts several geodesy instruments and 
it was expanded with an additional GNSS reference station 
that is operated on behalf of the European Space Agency.  A 
GNSS receiver of the NGI was also installed at this site towards 
evaluating potential data sharing and equipment collocation.

Development of the Geodetic Research Data Management 
System (GRDMS) progressed well and the basic subsystems 
already implemented proved to be stable. Basic web front-
ends, real-time station status and health reporting, as well as 
automated streaming of data to international services such as the 
International GNSS Service (IGS) and the Incorporated Research 
Institutions for Seismology (IRIS), will be implemented in the 
2019/20 financial year.
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Table 12a:  Astronomy performance against strategic objective 1 performance indicators in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Drive research competitiveness through the support of high-
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and the development of human capacity in critical 
areas.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Increase and provide support for next-generation, 
emerging and established researchers to grow the 
doctoral pipeline; and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 1 links to: 

• MTSF Priorities 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10 through the 
implementation and support of the HCD excellence pipeline, 
including the creation of Research Chairs and CoEs.

1 Promote globally competitive research and 
innovation 

Table 12b:  Astronomy performance against strategic objective 1 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of postgraduate students 
supported by National Research 
Facilities

122 137 97 -29%
A redefinition of the performance descriptor during the 
financial year resulted in lower numbers being reported. 
Planning for the 2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

ISI (WoS) publications at National 
Research Facilities 217 165 210 27%

Excellent performance from both facilities reflects the 
impact of research infrastructure renewal at SAAO over 
the past few years. This is now evident in research 
outputs. 

Number of users of National 
Research Facilities 1 383 520 1 327 155% Infrastructure renewal at the facilities attracted demand for 

utilisation across the research community.
Citation impact of National Research 
Facility outputs (annual cumulative) 1.47 >2 1.54 -23% Papers were published in journals, with a lower impact 

than was intended.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of postgraduate 
students supported by 
National Research Facilities

109 118 122 125 97 -22%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

ISI (WoS) publications at 
National Research Facilities 136 141 217 142 210 48%

Excellent performance from both facilities 
reflects the impact of research infrastructure 
renewal over the past few years. This is now 
evident in research outputs. 

Number of users of National 
Research Facilities 137 1 293 1 383 1 370 1 327 -3%

Infrastructure renewal at the facilities attracted 
demand for utilisation across the research 
community.

Citation impact of National 
Research Facility outputs 
(annual cumulative)

1.33 1.32 1.47 >1.32 1.54 17%
Papers published have a higher impact within 
the community and citation has, therefore, 
increased.

An internationally 
competitive, transformed 

and representative 
research system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 13a:  Astronomy performance against strategic objective 2 performance indicators in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Promote system-wide international engagement and 
collaboration to support emerging knowledge fields and 
provide local researchers with access to innovative research 
infrastructure.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Promote system-wide international engagement; and
• Facilitate international research platform access.

LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 2 links to: 
• MTSF Priorities 10 and 11. 

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of joint international 
agreements at National 
Research Facilities

45 48 21 45 31 -31%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

2 Enhance strategic international engagements

Table 13b:  Astronomy performance against strategic objective 2 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

Number of joint international agreements 
at National Research Facilities 21 42 31 -26%

A redefinition of the performance descriptor 
during the financial year resulted in lower 
numbers being reported. Planning for the 
2019/20 financial year was performed in 
accordance with the redefined descriptor.

An internationally 
competitive, transformed 

and representative 
research system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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Table 14a:  Astronomy performance against strategic objective 4 performance indicators in the NRF Strategy 2020

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Provide and facilitate access to world-class equipment and 
infrastructure through the acquisition of high-end equipment 
and the support of National Research Facilities.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Provide science infrastructure in priority areas; and
• Incubate, nurture and locate research platforms 

strategically.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 4 links to: 

• MTSF Priorities 2 and 10, since the provision of research 
equipment and platforms supports research across all areas 
of the HCD excellence pipeline.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Total infrastructure 
investment in National 
Research Facilities 
(R’000 000)

372.57 625.59 649.89 315.17 200.00 -37%
Slower than anticipated progress during 
the pre-construction phase relative to  
SKA I and MeerKAT additional features.

4 Establish and maintain research infrastructure 
and platforms

Table 14b:  Astronomy performance against strategic objective 4 performance indicators in the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance
Total infrastructure investment in    
National Research Facilities (R’000 000) 649.89 62.66 200.00 -219%

Slower than anticipated progress during the 
pre-construction phase relative to SKA I and 
MeerKAT additional features.

Leading-edge research and 
infrastructure platforms

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

Table 15a:   Performance concerning number of ISI publications by National Research Facilities against targets set in   
 the NRF Strategy 2020   

OBJECTIVE STATEMENT Drive research competitiveness through the support of high-
quality research and innovation, as well as the generation of 
knowledge and the development of human capacity in critical 
areas.

CRITICAL IMPLEMENTATION 
ACTIVITIES

• Increase and provide support for next-generation, 
emerging and established researchers to grow the 
doctoral pipeline; and

• Support multidisciplinary research and innovation.
LINKS TO MTSF NRF Strategic Objective 1 links to: 

• MTSF Priorities 2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10 through the 
implementation and support of the HCD excellence pipeline, 
including the creation of Research Chairs and CoEs.

1 Promote globally competitive research and 
innovation 

Table 15b:   Performance concerning number of ISI publications by National Research Facilities against targets set in   
 the APP 2018/19

Indicators
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

ISI (WoS) publications published by 
National Research Facilities 574 390 567 43%

Impact of research infrastructure renewal over 
the past few years is now evident in research 
outputs as research platforms.

Indicators
Actual 

2015/16
Actual 

2016/17
Actual 

2017/18
Target 

2018/19
Actual 

2018/19 Variance
Summary of comment 

on variance

ISI (WoS) publications published 
by National Research Facilities - - 574 390 567 43%

Impact of research infrastructure 
renewal over the past few years is 
now evident in research outputs as 
research platforms.

An internationally 
competitive, transformed 

and representative 
research system

STRATEGIC
OUTCOME
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A detailed statement of the NRF’s financial position is provided in 
the Annual Financial Statements for 2018/19. The section below 
provides a brief analytical overview.

8.1 Income sources
The NRF has the following three primary income streams, and 
one minor source of income:

• Parliamentary Grant: The Medium-term Expenditure 
Framework (MTEF) Parliamentary Grant is utilised primarily to 
fund the programmes and operational activities of the NRF;  

• DST contract funding: Ring-fenced funding is received from 
the DST to fund specific projects, and thus funding can only be 
utilised for such projects; 

• Other contract income: Contract income represents formal 
contracts with other government departments and entities, as 
well as private and international organisations. Such funds 
can only be utilised according to objectives laid down by the 
respective sponsors through formal contractual agreements; 
and

• Other income: Represents interest received on funds 
invested and trading income derived from non-core business 
activities. 

The NRF’s total income decreased in nominal terms by 13% 
equating to a decline of 8.6% in real terms from R4 729m in 
2017/18 to R4 117m in 2018/19. Details of the income trends are 
highlighted in Figure 7 on the following page.

8.1.1  Income trend

The Parliamentary Grant decreased marginally in nominal terms 
by 2.3% in 2018/19 as a result of the transfer of the National 
Zoological Gardens (NZG) to the SANBI effective from 01 April 
2018.  Excluding the NZG transfer, the Parliamentary Grant 
increased with 5.2%, slightly above average inflation of 4.4%. In 
real terms this equates to a 0.8% increase. 

DST contract funding increased from R2 384m in 2017/18 
to R2 600m in 2018/19. The increase of 9% resulted from 
the additional funding of R197m for the NEP, which is funded 

in alternate years due to the lead times to acquire largely 
specialised research equipment. 

Other contract income decreased significantly from R1 249m in 
2017/18 to R470m in 2018/19.  The decrease amounts to R779m, 
representing 62% in nominal terms, partially due to the phase-
out, consolidation and downscaling of RISA contract funding 
received. Approximately 60 DST contracts were consolidated into 
five thematic areas/funding categories from 2018/19 onwards.  
Hence, these contracts are now reflected under DST contract 
funding instead of other contracts. 

Other income decreased by 17% as a result of the exclusion 
of NZG entrance fees in 2018/19 following the NZG transfer to 
SANBI.  Other income (excluding NZG) increased with 12%, 
mainly because of penalties levied on MeerKAT contracts for 
contractors not meeting agreed milestones (R15m).

Overall NRF income is largely dominated by contract funding, with 
corresponding expenditure dependant on when actual expense is 
incurred or when investment in infrastructure is capitalised. In this 
regard, the overall decrease in total income of R612m, compared 
with the previous year, resulted from movements in the following 
programmes:

• Transfer of the NZG to SANBI in 2018/19 reduced NRF 
baseline income and correspondingly the expenditure by 
R119m;

• Funding for SARAO decreased by R230m because of the 
finalisation of the MeerKAT construction project, resulting in 
reduced income being recognised in 2018/19 on the project;

• SARAO is still in the process of rolling out the infrastructure 
acquisitions for the African VLBI Project funded through 
the Department of International Relations and Cooperation 
(DIRCO) and amounting to R95m.

• Funding for the THRIP programme of the dti was reduced by 
R20m, since it is being phased out;

• Several projects and grant awards, such as the Marine and 
Coastal Research Initiative (R15m) and SARChI (R50m) have 
been partly completed or deferred to 2019/20;  

• The scarce skills bursary programme funding of the DHET, 
amounting to R63m, was only received in March 2019 and is 
expected to be spent in 2019/20.

8. FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
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8.1.2 Income ratios

The income ratios presented in Figure 8 reflect a level trend in 
the core Parliamentary Grant, while DST contract funds have 
been increasing over time because the DST is now including the 
transfer of certain contracts, which were previously transferred to 
the NRF as contract funds, in the MTEF allocation.  The pro-rata 

portion of all income streams remained stable in comparison with 
the previous financial year.  The 2017/18 figures were higher than 
normal, since they included the following DST contract income 
carried forward: R200m on the SKA project, R220m on SARChI 
and R75m on the NEP.  The 2018/19 figures do not reflect a 
significant reduction in amounts carried forward from 2017/18, but 
rather real income received during the financial year.

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
  Parliamentary Grant 851 286 878 399   882 805 925 964 904 752
  Contract income – DST 1 680 305 2 593 421 2 956 804 2 383 803 2 600 009
  Contract income – Other government  

 departments and organisations 389 285 448 254 439 380 1 249 078 470 606

  Other income 176 787 242 518 222 131 170 628 141 548
  Total income 3 097 663 4 162 592 4 501 120 4 729 473 4 116 915
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Figure 7:  NRF income trend 

Figure 8:  NRF income ratios    

Parliamentary 
Grant to total 

income

DST contract 
funding to 

total income

Other contract
income to total 

income

Other 
income to total 

income
  2015 27% 54% 13% 6%
  2016 21% 62% 11% 6%
  2017 20% 66% 10% 5%
  2018 20% 50% 26% 4%
  2019 22% 63% 11% 3%
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8.1.3  Income per business unit

The total income per business unit is shown in Table 16.

Table 16: Income per business unit

Programme Business unit
2018/19
R'000

2017/18
R'000

1 Corporate Support 155 023 121 158
2 South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement 92 809 87 414
3 Research and Innovation Support and Advancement 2 709 076 2 931 292
4 iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences 263 077 246 632
4 South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 32 527 31 299
4 South African Environmental Observation Network 74 034 72 521
4 National Zoological Gardens of South Africa - 118 850
4 South African Astronomical Observatory 96 438 90 656
4 South African Radio Astronomy Observatory 693 931 1 029 651
5 Square Kilometre Array Project 4 116 915 875 342

TOTAL 4 162 592 4 729 473

8.2 Expenditure

8.2.1  Expenditure trend 

The NRF income and expenditure trends (depicted in Figure 9 on 
the following page) are largely mirrored. The decrease of 13% in 
total expenditure from R4 733m in 2017/18 to R4 100m in 2018/19 
is mainly attributable to the transfer of the NZG to SANBI on              
01 April 2018 (R147m) and significantly lower capital expenditure 
resulting from the completion of a major infrastructure project, 
namely MeerKAT.  Grants and bursaries at RISA decreased in 
relation to decreased available funding (refer income section). 

Capital expenditure decreased because of the conclusion of the 
MeerKAT construction project, as well as delays within SARAO 
with the roll-out of the fibre network, infrastructure development 
and acquiring servitudes for SKA1.  In addition, SAEON 
experienced delays in the roll-out of the Expanded Freshwater 

and Terrestrial Environmental Observation Network (EFTEON) 
project. Operating expenditure increased, because R25m, as 
costs for isotope production, was reclassified from salaries to cost 
of sales.  In addition, depreciation increased significantly with the 
MeerKAT capitalisation. 

Decreased research funding expenditure of 5.5%, resulting from 
the corresponding decrease in funding, includes mainly the 
following programmes:

• R50m on SARChi;
• R63m on the DHET scarce skills bursary programme;
• R18m on energy research programmes; and
• R20m in THRIP grant expenditure to enable the phase-out of 

the programme. 

The employee remuneration decrease is attributed to the transfer 
of the NZG to SANBI.  However, the impact of the decrease was 
reduced with a general, average salary increase of 6.2%.
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8.2.2 Expenditure per business unit

The expenditure (including capital expenditure) per NRF business unit is presented in Table 17. 

Figure 9:  Major expenditure trends per category of expense 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
  Net capital expenditure 238 079 344 500 501 421 503 932 14 315
  Employees' remuneration 532 170 577 904 627 096 726 468 716 351
  Programme, operating and  

 other expenditure 512 665 666 001 786 203 783 624 827 958

  Grants and bursaries 1 788 421 2 556 223 2 599 677 2 718 821 2 569 761
  Total expenditure 3 071 335 4 144 628 4 514 397 4 732 845 4 099 755
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Table 17:  Expenditure per business unit

Programme Business unit
2018/19
R’000

2017/18
R’000

1 Corporate Support 118 722  108 046
2 South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement 97 338  93 358
3 Research and Innovation Support and Advancement 2 626 273 2 780 223
4 iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences 297 272  302 897
4 South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity 58 135  57 556
4 National Zoological Gardens of South Africa -  146 652
4 South African Environmental Observation Network 91 356   99 652
4 South African Astronomical Observatory 121 513  112 125
4 South African Radio Astronomy Observatory 689 146   1 032 336

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 4 099 755 4 732 845
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8.2.3 Overhead expenditure

The focus on ensuring operational and financial sustainability 
through improved cost management because of economic 
pressures and austerity measures, has resulted in greater emphasis 
being placed on the management of overheads, which remained 
well below 10%. However, the overhead percentage increased 
by 1.3% from 6.2% in 2017/18 to 7.5% in 2018/19.  The increase 
can be attributed mainly to the impact of the full-year costs for the 

new SPP unit that came into effect in August 2017; an increase 
in SAAO shared services as a result of maintenance on the 1,9m 
telescope dome in Sutherland coupled with refurbishments to site 
accommodation in Cape Town; and SAEON direct cost increases 
attributed to the SAEON-SARIR projects.

The consolidated overheads figure, on a multi-year basis, remains 
well within innovative system-type international benchmarks for 
similar organisations. The overhead ratio is reflected in Figure 10.

Figure 10:  NRF overhead ratio

RISA National facilities SAASTA Special projects Total NRF
  2015 4.0% 16.2% 12.9% 10.6% 7.5%
  2016 2.8% 13.4% 12.9% 9.9% 5.5%
  2017 3.1% 13.0% 8.6% 8.2% 5.3%
  2018 3.6% 13.1% 15.2% 11.3% 6.2%
  2019 4.2% 17.0% 15.8% 2.5% 7.5%
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8.2.4 Remuneration expenditure

The NRF’s highly technical and unique world-class infrastructure 
necessitates labour-intensive infrastructure programmes.  Such 
infrastructure acts as a catalyst within the NSI and the numerous 
initiatives aimed at enhancing related development necessitate a 
specialist HR capacity that is insourced.

At 17.5%, the NRF’s ratio of remuneration to total expenditure 
remains below its set benchmark of 22%. The ratio of each 

programme is in line with the level of operational activity 
performed by each programme. The National Research Facilities 
have the highest ratio of remuneration expenditure because of 
their largely labour-intensive research and technical maintenance 
staff complement required to develop and maintain research 
infrastructure platforms used by both local and international 
researchers. The ratio of remuneration to total expenditure per 
entity segment is disclosed in Figure 11 on the following page.
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Figure 11:  Remuneration expenditure

Corporate RISA SAASTA National facilities 
(incl. SKA) Total NRF

  2015 1.3% 3.0% 0.7% 12.3% 17.3%
  2016 1.0% 2.0% 1.0% 10.0% 14.0%
  2017 1.0% 2.4% 0.5% 9.9% 13.9%
  2018 1.2% 2.3% 0.6% 11.2% 15.3%
  2019 1.6% 2.8% 0.7% 12.4% 17.5%

Remuneration as % of total expenditure
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8.2.5 Grant expenditure

Approximately 96% of the NRF’s grant expenditure is managed 
by RISA (Figure 12). Compared with 2017/18, research funding 
expenditure in RISA decreased by 6%, mainly as a result of the 
reduction in funding for specific programmes (refer expenditure 

section).  Programme and operating expenditure decreased by 
11.6% because of the consolidation of Calls for Applications and 
the greater use of Virtual Peer Reviews. Salaries increased by 
3.4%, mainly as a result of annual inflationary adjustment.  RISA 
managed to contain salaries and operating expenditure to 8% of 
total grants and bursaries expenditure. 

RISA 2018 RISA 2019
  Grants and bursaries
  Salaries (% of grants)
  Programme, operating and other expenditure (% of grants)

3 000 000
2 500 000
2 000 000
1 500 000
1 000 000

500 000

RISA expenditure

4% 3% 5% 3%

-6%

Figure 12:  RISA grant expenditure
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8.3 NRF five-year financial trend
The five-year financial review as at 31 March 2019 provides a summary of financial trends for the period from 2014/15 to 2018/19 (refer 
Table 18).

Table 18: NRF five-year financial trend 

Financial indicators
2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2017
R’000

2018
R’000

2019
R’000

Income and expenditure
Total income 3 097 663    4 162 592    4 501 120    4 729 473    4 116 915 
Total expenditure 3 071 335    4 144 628    4 514 397    4 732 845    4 099 755 
Statement of Financial Position  
Current assets  
Current liabilities 1 970 808    2 143 119    1 998 576    1 534 182    1 843 249 
Total assets 1 969 808    2 094 018    1 941 962    1 478 813    1 784 259 
Ratio analysis 3 424 700    3 910 582    4 246 710    4 239 371    4 504 055 
Current ratio 1.00 1.02 1.03 1.04 1.03 
Employees and interns  
Number of permanent employees 1 389 1 404 1 444 1 485 1 219

Note: The key reason for the change in staff numbers is the transfer of the NZG from the NRF to SANBI.
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Table 19:  NRF performance highlights for 2018/19

Indicators Performance
Annual 
Target Variance % Variance

Number of NRF funded researchers from designated groups
Black 1 853 2 182 -329 -15%
Female 1 825 1 520 305 20%

Number of post graduate students funded from designated groups
Black 10 980 9 350 1 630 17%
Female 7 692 7 119 573 8%

Number of NRF-rated researchers from designated groups
Black 1 207 1 026 181 18%
Female 1 358 1 292 66 5%

WoS publications published at the National Research Facilities 567 397 170 43%
Number of active grants emanating from binational, multinational as well as 
agency-to-agency agreements 1 052 990 62 6%

Total number of researchers rated through the NRF system 3 963 3 750 213 6%
Number of users of equipment that was funded by the NEP and NNEP 2 996 2 641 355 13%
Number of publications emanating from the usage of equipment funded by 
the NEP and NNEP 682 695 -13 -2%

Number of internal and external users of the NRF business intelligence 
systems 150 150 - 0%

Corporate overheads: calculated as a percentage of total expenditure 2.5% 3% 0.5% 17%
Total overheads: calculated as a percentage of total expenditure 7.5% 10% 2.5% 25%
Approximate number of public reached through SAASTA’s science awareness 
activities 1 243 976 1 090 000 153 976 14%

Proportion of South Africans from designated groups in senior 
technical, and managerial positions incl SKA (Peromnes 1-8)

Black 315 275 40 15%
Female 197 192 5 3%
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9. INTRODUCTION

The governance structures of the National Research Foundation 
(NRF) consist of systems and processes that assist the NRF to 
be directed, controlled and held accountable. Legislation such as 
the NRF Act (Act 23 of 1998), the Public Finance Management 
Act (PFMA) (Act 1 of 1999), as amended, and the South African 
Companies Act (Act 71 of 2008), contributes to the compliance 
requirements of the entity, as do various national and departmental 
frameworks, instructions and policies. In addition, the NRF 
also applies leading governance practices by adhering to the 

requirements in the King Report on Corporate Governance for 
South Africa (King IV).

The NRF is accountable to Parliament through the Parliamentary 
Portfolio Committee (PPC) on Science and Technology. The 
Minister of Science and Technology is the Executive Authority 
in terms of the PFMA, and the Accounting Authority is the NRF 
Board. The Board of the NRF delegates the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) to act as the Accounting Authority of the NRF. 

10. PORTFOLIO COMMITTEES

The PPC on Science and Technology

The PPC on Science and Technology of the National Assembly 
processes legislation and conducts oversight concerning the work 
of the NRF. During the 2018/19 financial year, the NRF Board 

and the NRF Corporate Executive Committee interacted with the 
PPC on Science and Technology to allow the PPC to exercise 
oversight over the planning and performance of the organisation 
through the presentation of the NRF Annual Report for 2017/18 in 
September 2018. 

11. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY

Minister of Science and Technology as 
Executive Authority

The Honourable Mrs Nkhensani Kubayi-Ngubane was appointed 
as the Minister of Science and Technology in March 2018. Table 20 

below lists the accountability documents submitted to the Accounting 
Authority during the 2018/19 financial year.

Table 20:  Accountability documents submitted to the Minister of Science and Technology during 2018/19

Accountability report Date of submission

Annual Report 2017/18
Presentation to the Minister – Sept 2018

Tabling in Parliament – 26 Sept 2018

Annual Performance Plan 2019/20 to 2021/22
Presentation to the Minister – 05 Mar 2019

Tabling in Parliament – 

First Quarterly Report 2018/19 Submission to DST – 20 July 2018

Second Quarterly Report 208/19 Submission to DST– 22 Oct 2018
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Accountability report Date of submission

Third Quarterly Report 2018/19 Submission to DST– 21 Jan 2019

Fourth Quarterly Report 2018/19 Submission to DST – 22 Apr 2019

12. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

NRF Board as Accounting Authority

The NRF Board is appointed by the Minister of Science and 
Technology, and is empowered through the NRF Act and the 
PFMA. In terms of the aforementioned Acts, the NRF Board, 
as the Accounting Authority, exercises leadership, enterprise, 
integrity and good judgement. The NRF Board:

• Provides strategic direction;
• Exercises oversight in respect of investment decisions; 

financial and risk management; and organisational reviews;
• Is the custodian and driver of the social and ethics agenda of 

the organisation; and
• Exercises oversight over the compliance environment that 

impacts the organisation, including but not limited to, King IV.

NRF Board Charter

The functions of the Board of the public entity are outlined in the 
NRF Act and explicated in the Board Charter. The Board of the 
NRF has compiled a progressive Board Charter that outlines its 
role, responsibility and governance oversight. This document is 
available from the office of the NRF Corporate Secretary.

NRF Board term of office

The term of office of the current NRF Board extends from               
01 October 2018 to 30 September 2022.

Composition of the NRF Board

As at 31 March 2019, the NRF Board was constituted as set out 
in Figure 13 on the following page.

Table 20:  Accountability documents submitted to the Minister of Science and Technology during 2018/19 (continued)
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• eyeThenticate (Pty) Ltd
• Resolution Circle (Pty) Ltd
• Photovoltaic Technology Intellectual Property (Pty) Ltd
• The Metropolitan Trading Company (Pty) Ltd
• Gauteng City Regional Observatory (GCRO)

Prof S Sinha
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• SAMRC President & CEO, member of SAMRC Board
• Director of HCRISA
• Vice Chair: Orange Babies, South Africa
• Board Member: GARPD
• Audit & Risk Committee: UCT

Prof GE Gray
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• National Advisory Council on Innovation (NACI)
• Special Economic Zones Advisory Board 
• Board Investment Committee of the National Empowerment Fund
• South African Venture Capital and Private Equity Association VC sub-

committee member  
• Spartan Technology Rentals (Pty) Ltd Board
• Executive Advisory Board of SiMODiSA

Ms CA Busetti
(01 Apr 2017 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Growth Grid Venture Capital Partners (RF) (Pty) Ltd
• Sygnia Asset Management (RF) (Pty) Ltd
• Sygnia Collective Investments (RF) (Pty) Ltd
• Sygnia Itrix (RF) (Pty) Ltd
• Sygnia Life Limited
• Sygnia Limited
• Sygnia Nominees (RF) (Pty) Ltd

Prof HI Bhorat
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Wits Commercial Enterprise (Pty) Ltd
• Wits Health Consortium (Pty) Ltd
• Joint Institute for Nuclear Research, Dubna, Russia
• Academy of Science South Africa (ASSAf) - Council Member
• NECSA R&D sub-committee (co-opted as an advisor)

Prof Z Vilakazi
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Academy of Science South Africa (ASSAf) Council Member
• Higher Education HIV/AIDS Board Member 
• Organisation for Women in Science in Developing Countries (OWSD)
• USAF Research and Innovation Strategy Group
• German Research Foundation International Panel on Infectiology
• Elizweni Leisure Resort (Pty) Ltd
• Zaliomax CC trading as Paradiso Guest House
• Nelson Mandela University (NMU) Honorary Professor
• Meals on Wheels Community Services Eastern Cape Board Member
• Adventist Development Relief Agency Board Member

Prof RN Phaswana-Mafuya
(01 Apr 2019 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Mulabo Business Enterprise
• Fourth Industrial Revolution Presidential Commission

Dr NH Obokoh
(Chairperson of the NRF Board)
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Phaphamani Children’s Literature
• Eastern Cape Communications Forum

Prof NN Mkhize
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• The Standard Bank Tutuwa Community Foundation (NPC)
• Lethushaneng Advisory Services 
• Lethushane (Pty) Ltd
• Tower Group
• Transnet State-owned Enterprise
• The Standard Bank Tutuwa Community Foundation (NPC)
• Lethushaneng Advisory Services
• Lethushane (Pty) Ltd
• Tower Group Recruitment
• Vinton Holdings Empowerment Trust (trustee)
• Sapphire Corporate Solutions
• SA Women in Dialogue (trustee)
• Africa Harm Reduction Alliance

Ms Mpho Letlape
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Jungle Babies Shop
• MRL Human Capital
• MRL Auditing Services
• MRL Development & Project
• MRL Electrical & Consulting
• Siyaraga Accounting Services
• Ulwazi Consulting (Pty) Ltd

Mr MR Lubisi
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Board of Khulumani (NGO)
• Get Me To Graduation (NGO)

Prof T Maluleke
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2022)

• None

Dr BD Ngqulunga
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• Gauteng Education Development Trust

Prof NF Petersen
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

• University of the Witwatersrand  
• National Institute for the Humanities and Social Sciences 
• Department of Higher Education and Training 
• Department of Labour

Prof S Mosoetsa
(01 Oct 2018 to 30 Sept 2022)

Figure 13:  Board members as at 31 March 2019
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NRF Board members with board directorships

Additional directorships held by NRF Board members are shown in Table 21.

Table 21:  NRF Board members with board directorships for the period 01 April 2018 to 30 September 2018

Board member Directorship

Prof L Nongxa
(Chairman of the NRF Board)
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• Rothschild (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd
• Rothschild South Africa Foundation
• BP South Africa Education Foundation

Ms GM Campbell
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• GDE Science Education Centre t/a Sci-Bono Discovery Centre
• Gauteng Education Development Trust
• Independent Philanthropy Association of SA (IPASA)

Dr P Clayton
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• African Journals Online
• GBS Mutual Bank
• Rhodes University (Executive Council member)

Prof MV Leibbrandt
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• None

Prof SD Maharaj
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• Council of the Academy of Science of South Africa
• University of KwaZulu-Natal Retirement Fund

Prof S Mosoetsa
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• Member of Task Team for Department of Higher Education and Training
• Council member for Rhodes University
• Wits University (Staff)

Dr V Papu-Zamxaka
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• Sci-Bono Discovery Centre (NPC)

Prof R Singh
(01 Oct 2014 to 30 Sept 2018)

• Council of Higher Education (CHE)
• Council of the Nelson Mandela University (NMU)

Prof E Tyobeka
(01 Oct 2014 – Passed away June 2018)

• Namibia University of Technology 

Ms J Yawitch
(01 Oct 2014 to Sept 2018)

• National Business Initiative
• Trustee on the Boris Yawitch Trust
• Chairperson of the South African National Parks Board
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Competencies of NRF Board members

The competencies and experience of Board members are summarised in Table 22.

Table 22:  Highest qualifications and areas of expertise for the period 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Board member Highest qualification Areas of expertise

Prof L Nongxa* PhD Mathematics Higher education 
management

Ms CA Busetti Masters of Business 
Administration Investment banking Private equity and 

project finance
Small technology 
business support

Ms GM Campbell* B. Social Science 
[Social work] Honours Corporate social 

Dr P Clayton* PhD Research and 
development

Higher education 
management

Prof M Leibbrandt* PhD Development economics Poverty, inequality and 
labour markets

Ms Mpho Letlape Masters 
(currently busy with PhD) Procurement

Human resources 
management and 
STEM education

Governance

Mr MR Lubisi Chartered Accountant [CA] Accounting 
Auditing:
- Internal auditing.
- External auditing 
- Forensic auditing

Taxation, governance 
and ethics

Prof SD Maharaj* PhD General relativity Cosmology Relativistic astrophysics

Prof T Maluleke PhD Theology Higher education 
management

Prof S Mosoetsa PhD Economic sociology

Public sector/ higher 
education management
unemployment, 
employment, poverty 
and inequality

Dr V Papu-Zamxaka* PhD
Clinical research 
management (R&D in 
pharmaceuticals)

Prof R Singh* DPhil International higher 
education policy

Comparative higher 
education

Quality assurance in 
higher education

Prof E Tyobeka PhD Biochemistry
Ms J Yawitch* MSc Agricultural development General management

Dr N Obokoh
(Chairperson) PhD Plant biotechnology/

molecular biology
Agricultural biotech 
research, development 
and policy advocacy

Public sector – innovation 
support and protection (IP 
for SMMEs)

Prof H Bhorat PhD Economics 
Labour economics: 
poverty, inequality and 
inclusive growth 

Minimum wages, 
income distribution and 
development economics 

Prof G Gray

MBBCH FCPAED (SA) DSc 
(honoris causa, SFU) DSc 
(honoris causa SUN), Doctor 
of Law (honoris causa, Rhodes 
University)

Medical scientist, HIV 
vaccinology, AMR, 
paediatric infections, 
clinical research

SAMRC public entity R&D, clinical product 
development

Prof N Mkhize PhD
Historical studies, 
historiography, indigenous 
historical forms and 
vernacular writing

* Term ended 30 September 2018.
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Board member Highest qualification Areas of expertise

Dr B Ngqulunga PhD Sociology, history and 
education

Governance and the 
public sector Communications 

Prof RN Phaswana-
Mafuya
(Appointed Apr 2019)

PhD
MSc (Epi)
MA (SW)

Epidemiology, public 
health

Epidemiologist - HIV, 
HIV co-morbidities, 
chronic NCDs 

Higher education 
management and 
governance

Research leadership and 
management

Research capacity 
building 

Prof N Petersen

PhD (higher and teacher 
education) (UJ) 
Med (adult and higher education 
education) (cum laude) (RAU) 
BED Honours (adult and 
Community education) (cum 
laude) (RAU) 
BA Ed (UNISA) 
HED (RCE) 

Teacher education 
Higher education 
management 
  

Higher education and 
training 

Adult and community 
education 

Prof S Sinha

Academic: PhD(Eng)
MEng (Microelectronics) (cum 
laude)
BEng(Electronic) (cum laude)
Professional: Pr Eng, FSAAE, 
FSAIEE, SMIEEE

Engineering Electronic engineering Microelectronics

Prof Z Vilakazi PhD Nuclear physics Higher education 
management Global science platforms

NRF Board committees – purpose and 
composition

The NRF Board appointed four standing committees to deal with 
relevant issues on a regular basis:

• Audit and Risk Committee;
• Remuneration and Human Resources (HR) Committee;
• Research Development Committee (established November 

2015); and
• Procurement Committee.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee ensures that the assurance 
coverage provided by management, risk management, as well 
as the internal and external audit functions, is optimised and 
adequately focuses on priority risk areas. The Committee plays 
an integral role in the risk management of the organisation and 

oversees the annual risk-based internal audit in terms of King 
IV. The Committee engages with external audit initiated by the 
Auditor-General in line with the PFMA. The Committee also 
evaluates the organisation’s integrated reporting with specific 
focus on:

• Financial reporting;
• Risk management;
• Internal controls;
• Fraud risk as it relates to financial reporting; and
• IT governance.

The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference through the 
Audit and Risk Committee Charter in line with the requirements of 
Section 51 (1) (a) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 
and 27.1.10. The Committee discharged all its responsibilities for 
the year in line with the Charter. During 2018/19, the Committee 
held three meetings. For more information on the meetings held 
by the Audit and Risk Committee, refer to Table 24.

Table 22:  Highest qualifications and areas of expertise for the period 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 (continued)
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Remuneration and HR Committee

The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference and 
monitors the performance of the organisation regarding HR 
and remuneration. Within the terms of the agreed policy, the 
Board, through the HR Committee, determines the scope of 
the remuneration packages of the executive and general staff, 
including, where appropriate, bonuses and incentive payments 
schemes; sets the CEO’s performance contract; and oversees 
the general organisational climate and ethical conduct, as well 
as any other matters formally delegated to the Committee by the 
Board from time to time. During the 2018/19 financial year, this 
Committee held three meetings. For more information on the 
meetings, refer to Table 25.

Research Development Committee

The work of this Committee facilitates the effective exercise of the 
NRF Board’s responsibility of governance oversight of the core 
mandate of the NRF, namely to support research and research 
capacity development; promote science engagement and 
knowledge transfer; and advise the Minister on relevant research-
related matters.  The Research Development Committee 

convened three times during the year being reported on (refer 
Table 27). 

Procurement Committee

The Committee was formed mainly to facilitate the supply 
chain management (SCM) requirements of the organisation, 
considering the time-bound nature of some activities. The 
approved terms of reference allows the Committee to consider 
and approve procurement requests above R10m and to consider 
and recommend procurement requests over R20m to the NRF 
Board in line with the Delegation of Authority Framework. The 
Committee has regular, scheduled meetings, but can also 
convene at short notice should urgent matters require approval. 
The Committee held three meetings during the 2018/19 financial 
year. Refer to Table 26 for more information.

Meetings of the Board and its committees

The NRF Board met six times during the 2018/19 financial year. 
In addition, the Board met once during the reporting period for its 
annual strategic planning meeting. The dates and the attendance 
of members of those meetings are indicated in Table 23 below.

Table 23:  Attendance of Board meetings: 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Board members

25 & 26 July 
2018

(Annual Strategic 
Planning 

Workshop)
27 July 

2018

11 & 12 
Oct 2018 

(Induction 
Workshop)

28 Nov 
2018

28 Jan 
2019

27 Mar 
2019

Chairperson Prof L Nongxa ● ● ■ ■ ■ ■

Board term of 
office came 
to an end on               
30 Sept 2018

Ms GM Campbell x x ■ ■ ■ ■
Dr P Clayton ● ● ■ ■ ■ ■
Prof M Leibbrandt ● ● ■ ■ ■ ■
Prof SD Maharaj ● ● ■ ■ ■ ■
Dr V Papu-Zamxaka ● ● ■ ■ ■ ■
Prof R Singh ● ● ■ ■ ■ ■
Prof E Tyobeka Passed away June 2018 ■ ■ ■ ■
Ms J Yawitch ● ● ■ ■ ■ ■

Chairperson Dr NH Obokoh ■ ■ ● ● ● ●

Board term 
of office 
commenced 
on 01 Oct 2018

Prof HI Bhorat ■ ■ x ● x ●
Ms CA Busetti ● ● ● ● ● ●
Prof GE Gray ■ ■ ● ● ● ●
Ms M Letlape ● ● x x x ●
Mr MR Lubisi ● x ● ● ● ●
Prof T Maluleke ● x ● x ● ●
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Board members

25 & 26 July 
2018

(Annual Strategic 
Planning 

Workshop)
27 July 

2018

11 & 12 
Oct 2018 

(Induction 
Workshop)

28 Nov 
2018

28 Jan 
2019

27 Mar 
2019

Board term 
of office 
commenced 
on 01 Oct 2018

Prof NN Mkhize ■ ■ ● ● ● ●
Prof S Mosoetsa x x ● x x x
Dr BD Ngqulunga ■ ■ ● x x ●
Prof RN Phaswana- 
Mafuya [Appointed 
20 Mar 2019]

■ ■ ■ ■ ■ ■

Prof NE Petersen ■ ■ ● ● ● ●
Prof S Sinha ■ ■ ● ● ● ●
Prof Z Vilakazi ■ ■ ● ● ● x

Ex-officio Dr M Qhobela ● x ● ● ● ●

● In attendance      x Absent with apology      ■ Not an attending member

Table 24:  Audit and Risk Committee meetings: 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Board members 17 July 2018 12 Nov 2018 18 Mar 2019

Chairperson
(01 Apr 2018 – 30 Sept 2018)

Dr P Clayton ● ■ ■

Prof M Leibbrandt ● ■ ■
Dr V Papu-Zamxaka ● ■ ■

Chairperson
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019)

Mr MR Lubisi ● ● ●

Ms CA Busetti ● ● ●
Prof HI Bhorat ■ ● x
Dr BD Ngqulunga ■ ● ●

Ex-officio Prof L Nongxa
(01 Apr 2018 – 30 Sept 2018) ■ ■ ■

Dr NH Obokoh
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) ■ ■ ■

Invited member Dr M Qhobela ● ● x
Mr B Singh ● ● ●

● In attendance      x Absent with apology      ■ Not an attending member

Table 23:  Attendance of Board meetings: 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 (continued)
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Table 25:  Remuneration and HR Committee meetings: 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Board members 02 July 2018 6 Nov 2018 12 Mar 2019

Chairperson
(01 Apr 2018 – 30 Sept 2018)

Ms M Letlape ● ■ ■

Ms G Campbell x ■ ■
Prof SD Maharaj ● ■ ■
Ms J Yawitch ● ■ ■

Chairperson
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019)

Prof S Mosoetsa ■ ● ●

Ms M Letlape ■ x ●
Prof NM Mkize ■ ● ●
Prof S Sinha ■ ● ●

Ex-officio Prof L Nongxa
(01 Apr 2018 – 30 Sept 2018) ■ ■ ■

Dr NH Obokoh
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) ■ ■ ■

Invited member Dr M Qhobela ● x ●
Mr P Thompson
(Retired 30 Sept 2018) ● ■ ■

Mr K Oagile ■ ● ●

● In attendance      x Absent with apology      ■ Not an attending member

Table 26:  Procurement Committee meetings: 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Board members 14 Nov 2018 12 Mar 2019

Chairperson Ms CA Busetti ● ●
Mr MR Lubisi ● ●
Prof S Mosoetsa ● x
Prof Z Vilakazi ● ●

Ex-officio Dr NH Obokoh ■ ■
Invited members Dr M Qhobela x ●

Mr B Singh ● ●

● In attendance      x Absent with apology      ■ Not an attending member

Table 27:  Research Development Committee meetings: 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Board members 6 July 2018 4 Mar 2019

Chairperson
(01 Apr 2018 – 30 Sept 2018)

Prof M Singh ● ■

Prof T Maluleke ● ■
Prof S Mosoetsa ● ■
Ms J Yawitch ● ■
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Board members 6 July 2018 4 Mar 2019

Chairperson
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019)

Prof S Sinha ■ ●

Prof GE Gray ■ ●
Prof TS Maluleke ■ x
Prof NF Petersen ■ ●

Ex-officio Prof L Nongxa
(01 Apr 2018 – 30 Sept 2018) ■ ■

Dr NH Obokoh
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) ■ ■

Invited members Dr M Qhobela x ●
Dr B Damonse x ●
Dr P Matutu x ●
Dr G Pillay ● ●

● In attendance      x Absent with apology      ■ Not an attending member

Remuneration of the Board

The remuneration of the NRF Board is determined in line with National Treasury guidelines. The NRF Board was categorised at level A1 for 
the financial year under review. Table 28 offers a summary of the remuneration of the Board for the financial reporting period.

Table 28:  Remuneration of Board members (2018/19)

Name Remuneration Other allowance
Other

reimbursements TOTAL
Prof HI Bhorat
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 23 328.00 Nil Nil R 23 328.00
Ms CA Busetti
(01 Apr 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 75 816.00 Nil Nil R75 816.00
Ms GM Campbell
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 3 888.00 Nil Nil R 3 888.00
Dr P Clayton
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 21 585.00 Nil Nil R 21 585.00
Prof GE Gray*
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Prof M Leibbrandt
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 19 440.00 Nil Nil R 19 440.00
Ms M Letlape
(01 Apr 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 36 936.00 Nil Nil R 36 936.00
Mr MR Lubisi
(01 Apr 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 69 729.00 Nil Nil R 69 729.00
Prof SD Maharaj
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 19 440.00 Nil Nil R 19 440.00
Prof TS Maluleke
(01 Apr 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 38 880.00 Nil Nil R 38 880.00

Table 27:  Research Development Committee meetings: 01 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 (continued)
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It should be noted that Board members are not paid a daily 
allowance when travelling for NRF purposes. However, all travel 
costs (such as airfares and car hire) are covered by the NRF. 
‘Other reimbursements’ include actual costs incurred by Board 

members for incidental expenses such as airport parking costs, 
toll fees, Gautrain fares and use of personal vehicles (reimbursed 
per kilometre in accordance with NRF travel policies).

Name Remuneration Other allowance
Other

reimbursements TOTAL
Prof NM Mkhize
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 46 656.00 Nil Nil R 46 656.00
Prof S Mosoetsa*
(01 Apr 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Dr BD Ngqulunga
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 29 160.00 Nil R 818.76 R 29 978.76
Prof L Nongxa
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 47 070.00 Nil Nil R 47 070.00
Dr NH Obokoh*
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Dr V Papu-Zamxaka
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 19 440.00 Nil Nil R 19 440.00
Prof NF Petersen
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 42 768.00 Nil R 361.00 R 43 129.00
Prof R Singh
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 23 328.00 Nil Nil R 23 328.00
Prof S Sinha
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 56 376.00 Nil Nil R 56 376.00
Prof E Tyobeka
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) 
(Passed away June 2018) Nil Nil Nil Nil
Ms J Yawitch
(01 Apr – 30 Sept 2018) R 23 328.00 Nil Nil R 23 328.00
Prof Z Vilakazi
(01 Oct 2018 – 31 Mar 2019) R 27 216.00 Nil Nil R 27 216.00

* In accordance with National Treasury regulations, government employees/civil servants who serve on a board of a state entity do not qualify for   
 board remuneration.

Table 28:  Remuneration of Board members (2018/19) (continued)
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13. NRF CORPORATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The CEO, in co-operation with the Corporate Executive 
Committee, ensures that the organisation meets its mandate 
while operating within an established control environment. This 
structure provides combined assurance to the NRF Board. The 

CEO is the Chairman of the Corporate Executive Committee, 
which is the formal internal NRF decision-making structure and is 
constituted as shown in Figure 14 below.

Figure 14:  Corporate Executive Committee

14. RISK MANAGEMENT

The NRF adopts a balanced approach to enterprise risk 
management (ERM) in the pursuit of achieving strategic goals, 
while safe-guarding the direct interests of the organisation’s 
stakeholders. The NRF ERM Framework provides a common 
‘risk language’ and describes the roles and responsibilities of 
key players in managing enterprise risk.  It also measures the 
risk appetite of management. The implementation of the ERM 
Framework contributes to:

• Identifying, managing and monitoring enterprise risks 
proactively to minimise losses and disruption to the NRF;

• Promoting and embedding a risk-conscious culture and 
behaviour throughout the NRF;

• Complying with relevant legal and regulatory requirements; 
and

• Integrating risk into the internal audit methodology so that 
internal audit becomes risk based.

Risk management and the tabling of the strategic risk register of 
the organisation is a standing item on the agenda of the Corporate 
Executive Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee of the 
NRF Board. During the financial year, the Corporate Executive 
Committee reviewed the operational and strategic risk registers 
of the organisation. Operational risks are managed on an ongoing 
basis and all business units report on critical operational risks as 
part of the quarterly reporting cycle.

Dr Molapho Qhobela 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

Dr Gansen Pillay  
Deputy CEO: 
Research and 

Innovation Support 
and Advancement 

(RISA) 

Dr Clifford Nxomani 
Deputy CEO: 

National Research 
Infrastructure 

Platforms (NRIP) 

Dr Phethiwe Matutu  
Group Executive: 
Strategy, Planning 
and Partnerships 

Mr Bishen Singh 
Chief Financial 

Officer (CFO) and 
Group Executive: 

Finance and 
Business Systems 

Dr Beverly Damonse 
Group Executive: 

Science Engagement 
and Corporate 

Relations 

Mr Kedirang Oagile
Group Executive: 

Human Resources 
and Legal Services  
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15. INTERNAL CONTROL 

The NRF has established a centralised internal control 
development unit in support of the organisational philosophy 
to integrate control across the organisation through a set of 
policies and procedures. These internal controls are developed, 

reviewed and implemented in, inter alia, risk management, policy 
development, system design, corporate governance, audits, 
standard operating procedures, and legislative compliance and 
sustainability initiatives.

16. INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit function derives its mandate from the PFMA, 
as amended, and Treasury Regulations.  The terms of reference 
of the Audit and Risk Committee is pivotal in ensuring that the 
Internal Audit function is independent and has the necessary 
standing and authority to discharge its functions. For a summary 
of meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee, refer to Table 23. 

The Audit and Risk Committee tasks the in-house Internal Audit 
function with compiling a risk-based, three-year rolling annual 
audit plan that is approved on an annual basis. 

The NRF Internal Audit unit has adopted a co-sourced model 
in terms of which the organisation makes use of an internal 
audit service provider, as well as an in-house audit, to meet the 
mandate and responsibilities of the unit. The purpose, authority 
and responsibility of the Internal Audit unit of the NRF are defined 
in a Board-approved charter that is consistent with the definition of 
internal auditing of the Institute of Internal Auditors, the Treasury 
Framework on Internal Audit and the principles of King IV. 

The primary scope of assurance includes: 

• Evaluating the reliability and integrity of information and the 
means used to identify, measure, classify and report such 
information; 

• Evaluating the systems established to ensure compliance with 
policies and procedures; plans; and legislation that could be 

significant to the organisation; 
• Evaluating the means of safe-guarding assets and, as 

appropriate, verifying the existence of such assets; 
• Evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency with which 

resources are employed; 
• Evaluating operations or projects to ensure results are 

consistent with established objectives, and that operations are 
being carried out as planned; 

• Monitoring and evaluating governance processes; and 
• Monitoring and evaluating the risk management process. 

The Internal Audit unit audited the following business processes 
during the 2018/19 financial year:

• Grant management;
• Travel management;
• Leave management;
• Procure to pay (SCM and accounts payable);
• Performance information;
• Remuneration;
• Governance and ethics;
• Enterprise risk management;
• Combined assurance;
• Fixed assets management; and
• Implementation of corrective actions on previously reported 

findings (Internal and external auditors).
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17. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The NRF uses a Priority Compliance Listing that identifies 
applicable pieces of priority legislation, regulations and codes 
of best practice. This list is monitored and updated continuously. 
King III urges the organisation’s leadership to not only drive 

compliance with laws, but to also focus on non-binding rules, 
codes and standards. Tables 30 and 31 contain some key (but not 
all-inclusive) laws and best practice codes applicable to the NRF’s 
operations and mandate.

Table 29:  Priority compliance listing of applicable legislation and best practice

 No. Legislation RISA SAEON SAASTA SAIAB SAAO SARAO
iThemba 

LABS
1 National Research Foundation Act 23of 1998 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
2 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
3 National Water Act 36 of 1998 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
4 NEMA – National Environmental Management               

Act 107 of 1998 √ √ √ √ √ √ √

5 Public Finance Management (PFMA) Act 1 of 1999 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
6 New Companies Act 71 of 2008 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
7 Intellectual Property Rights from Publicly Finance 

Research and Development Act 51 of 2008 √ √ √ √ √ √ √

8 Skills Development Act 97 of 1998 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
9 Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998 √ √ √ √ √ √ √

10 Labour Relations Act 66 of 1995 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
11 Basic Conditions of Employment Act 75 of 1997 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
12 National Environmental Management: Biodiversity           

Act 10 of 2004  √  √   

13 National Environmental Management: Biodiversity 
Act, 2004 (Act 10 of 2004): Threatened or Protected 
Species Regulations

 √  √   

14 Astronomy Geographic Advantage Act 21 of 2007     √ √
15 Mine Health and Safety Act 29 of 1996      √
16 Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development              

Act 28 of 2002      √

17 Marine Living Resources Act 18 of 1998    √   
18 National Environment Management: Air Quality                 

Act (NEM:AQA) 39 of 2004       √

19 National Environment Management: Waste                        
Act 59 of 2008    √  √ √

20 Promotion of Access to Information Act 2 of 2000 √ √ √ √ √ √ √
21 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993:  

Diving Regulations    √   

22 Occupational Health and Safety Act 85 of 1993: 
Construction Regulations      √

23 National Radioactive Waste Disposal Institute               
Act 53 of 2008       √
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 No. Legislation RISA SAEON SAASTA SAIAB SAAO SARAO
iThemba 

LABS
24 National Health Act 61 of 2003       √
25 South African National Space Agency Bill 20 of 2008     √ √  
26 Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases 

Act 130 of 1993 √ √  √  √  √  √  √

27 Animal Protection Act 71 of 1962  √      

Table 30:  Applicable sustainability best practice codes and standards

 No. Best practice codes and standards RISA SAEON SAASTA SAIAB SARAO SAAO
iThemba 

LABS
1 King IV Code of Corporate Governance for SA √ √ √ √ √ √ √
2 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for 

Financial Reporting √ √ √ √ √ √ √

3 ISO 14001 2004 Environmental Management System  √  √ √  √
4 ISO 9001 2008 Quality Management System √  √ √ √  √
5 Current Good Manufacturing Practices (cGMP)       √
6 International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) standards       √

18. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The NRF has an all-encompassing policy entitled ‘The Prevention, 
Detection and Resolution of Fraud and Corruption’ that includes 
a Fraud Prevention Plan. The Policy was reviewed during the 
reporting period. The organisation subscribes to the National Anti-
Corruption Hotline (NACH), which ensures that all allegations of 
fraud and corruption cases are appropriately investigated in line 
with policy and NACH turnaround times.

Depending on the outcome of investigations and based on the 
recommendations of the oversight committee, issues raised are 
reported to the NRF Board in terms of the Act for consideration. 
Over the reporting period, a pre-populated risk and control 
framework template for fraud risk self-assessments was made 
available. Internal Audit conducted various fraud awareness 
sessions. 

Table 29:  Priority compliance listing of applicable legislation and best practice (continued)

19. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A conflict of interest occurs when an individual or an organisation 
is involved in multiple interests, and where there is potential to 
corrupt the motivation to act in one another’s interest. While it 
is understood that conflict of interest can be voluntarily identified 
and defused before corruption occurs, the NRF, given its strategic 
role in the national landscape, minimises the risk of such conflicts 
by ensuring that the proper segregation of duties exists at all 

levels of the organisation. In the area of grant management, the 
business adopts the process of independent external review and 
evaluation, as opposed to taking those decisions internally.

All the organisation’s processes and operating processes are 
open to audit, evaluation and review and the NRF engages in an 
organisation-wide review once every five years as set out in the 
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White Paper on Science and Technology. Specific programmes 
and units are also open to external review, as necessary, or as 
part of the governance of the programme or unit.

From a finance and SCM perspective, all members of the 
various committees throughout the process – from the drafting 
of specifications to the award of a bid – are requested to sign 

a disclosure statement concerning conflict of interest. The 
organisation takes the non-disclosure of interest very seriously 
and punitive action is set out as part of the NRF disciplinary 
code if any member of staff breaches the policy with regard to 
disclosure. Employees are required to disclose business interests 
in writing on joining the NRF and any changes thereto to the 
relevant business unit and corporate HR office.

20. CODE OF CONDUCT

The NRF adopted a Code of Ethics, Values and Business Conduct 
(the Code) as part of its suite of Consolidated HR Policies and 
Procedures. The Code is complementary to the conditions of 
service of the NRF and is a statement of the values that the NRF 
pursues in its dealings with people and organisations, internally 
and externally. The spirit of the Code is to support ethical conduct 

by all individuals covered by it. To help employees comply with 
both the letter and spirit of the Code, the NRF has developed a 
set of guidelines that are published with the Code. A breach of 
the Code attracts censure and is dealt with in terms of the NRF’s 
Disciplinary Code.

21. HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Act, Act 85 of 
1993, prescribes specific compliance requirements for specific 
environments. Given the diverse nature of the NRF, health and 
safety requirements vary and specific interventions are required to 
meet specific needs. The risk function in the organisation ensures 
that specific needs are met by customising the compliance 
solutions across the NRF.  

The following activities were completed during the year under 
review:

• The carbon footprint assessment exercise was concluded 
to confirm verification of the NRF’s greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions footprint for the reporting period 01 April 2017 to       
31 March 2018; 

• Standardised OHS assessments were conducted at SAAO 
Sutherland and SAEON’s Head Office.

22. SOCIAL AND ETHICS RESPONSIBILITY

The NRF has conducted, and will continue to conduct business 
in a manner that meets existing needs without compromising 
possibilities for future generations. The NRF takes cognisance of 
the impact that the business has on its stakeholder community. To 
this end, the NRF Board enhanced the Board’s terms of reference 
to include the implementation of legal requirements and prevailing 
codes of best practice and standards with regard to social and 
ethics matters. 

Guided by Section 72(4) of the Companies Act, read with 
Regulation 43 in the Companies Regulations and King IV, the 
organisation will ensure the implementation of the codes of 
best practice and standards with regard to social and ethical 
responsibilities. These include the following: 

• Good corporate citizenship by ensuring that the organisation 
is, and is seen to be, a responsible corporate citizen through:
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- The promotion of equality (including employment equity 
and fair remuneration) and the prevention of unfair 
discrimination; and 

- The prevention of corruption in all its forms.  
• The establishment and maintenance of sound stakeholder 

relations by ensuring beneficiary relationships, including 
the organisations’ advertising. The Board should exercise 
oversight of stakeholder relationship management and, in 
particular, ensure that it results in the following:

• The environment, health and public safety, including the 
impact of all activities, products and services of the entity in 
terms of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI);

• Labour and employment, including:
- The International Labour Organization Protocol on decent 

work and working conditions; 
- The Employment Equity Act; and
- The entity’s employment relationships, and its contribution 

to the educational development of its employees. 
• Social and economic development, including the NRF’s 

standing in terms of:
- The ten principles set out in the United Nations Global 

Compact; 
- The OECD recommendations on corruption; 
- Enabling ethical research conduct; and
- The Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) 

Act.

The social and ethics agenda is addressed at various levels of 
the organisation. Members of the Board, corporate executives 
and other assurance providers within the organisation attended 
comprehensive King IV training sessions in 2018 to equip 
themselves with skills to discharge their duties and accountabilities 
adequately, specifically relating to the governance outcomes of 
ethics, performance, control and legitimacy.

Corporate social investment
The NRF participated in the following social investment 
programmes through its business units: 

• Community outreach – SAIAB continues to provide 
assistance to the Good Shepard School Library and the 
Library for the Blind in Makhanda (formerly Grahamstown).

• Mandela Day initiative – SAIAB donated a whiteboard, 
carpet, door and cupboard to, and also contributed towards 
ingredients for and the cooking of a big stew and rice for the 
Nomzamo Crèche. NRF staff supported the DST on Mandela 
Day 2018 by pledging R25 000.00 for the school windows of 
the Morelese High School Laboratory to be fixed, and also 
volunteered to assist in painting the Sedilega Clinic.

• Dignity Drive for National Women’s Month – During 
Women’s Month (August), the SAIAB Wellness Committee 
promoted a drive for the collection of sanitary towels to be 
donated to the Grahamstown Primary School. This included 
the purchase of re-usable packs from Dignity Dreams. 
SAASTA also donated sanitary towels to 1 200 learners 
from eight schools in the rural areas outside Tzaneen. In 
collaboration with Letaba Hospital, Nkowankowa Circuit and 
Black Women in Science, SAASTA organised a role model 
campaign for the female learners, focusing on STEMI careers 
and life skills. SAIAB also facilitated a presentation on gender-
based violence by Dr Zethu Mkhize from Rhodes University.

• SAASTA contributed toiletries and other goods to two 
orphanages, namely the Holy Cross Home and Leamogetswe 
Safety Home, which provide care and support to orphaned, 
abused, abandoned and neglected children. 

23. CORPORATE SECRETARY

The Corporate Secretary function is mandatory in terms of the NRF 
Act and plays a pivotal role in the governance of the organisation. 
The Corporate Secretary provides a central source of guidance 
and advice to the Board in terms of governance principles and 

legislative compliance, and in this way supports the Board and 
all the committees of the Board. The Corporate Secretary of the 
NRF is also the formal point of contact between the organisation, 
its Board, the Ministry and the relevant parliamentary committees.
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Corporate Human Resources (HR) and Legal Services responded 
to the needs expressed in the strategic and annual performance 
plans of NRF divisions and business units for 2018/19 by 
contributing to a qualified staff complement through several 
processes, tools and interventions in the HR value chain:

• Ensuring transparent, fair and equitable recruitment processes 
to attract staff who are qualified, motivated and competent to 
excel in their appointed positions;

• Inculcating commitment to organisational goals, fostering 
a positive client-centric organisational culture and building 
competencies among staff and management in line with the 
strategic goals and needs of the NRF on an ongoing basis;

• Ensuring that key competencies are maintained, and 
managing the risks and planning for long-term succession in 
strategic and key management and leadership positions;

• Building relationships and maintaining harmony among staff, 
management and stakeholder labour organisations; and

• Striving to improve the execution and effective management of 
a set of basic processes and tools to ensure current and future 
success continuously. 

Overview of HR matters
Priorities include a range of strategic shifts and adjustments in 
policy and processes and the implementation of related tools 
intended to enable the organisation to adapt to the changing 
demands in the environment and among stakeholders. For the 
year under review, these priorities included:

• Continued implementation and refinement of the performance 
management framework and associated reward mechanisms 
to ensure alignment to the team- and client-centric culture 
required to meet the organisation's performance-delivery 
expectations by a range of internal and external stakeholders;

• Increased investment in staff development through the review 
of the Part-time Education Assistance Scheme funding levels;

• The graduation of candidates in the 2018 management 
development programmes and implementation of the 2019 
management development programmes;

• Continued implementation of the NRF executive and leadership 
coaching programme as one of the various interventions and 
strategies for learning and skills transferal that offers development 

opportunities for the NRF’s management and leadership to 
acquire skills from expert and experienced coaches;

• Evaluation of the customised NRF diversity management 
programme in partnership with the Wits Centre for Diversity 
Studies by an independent panel of reviewers.

Workforce planning framework and key 
strategies to attract and recruit a skilled 
and capable workforce
The main objective of the NRF Staff Planning Policy is to align the 
organisation's HR strategically with its business direction, thereby 
ensuring that the NRF has the correct number of people with the 
right skill sets or competencies in the right jobs at the right time. 
The process, therefore, enables the organisation to:

• Determine and source HR that are capable of meeting strategic 
and operational objectives;

• Obtain the required quality and quantity of staff;
• Make optimum use of available HR;
• Anticipate and manage surpluses and staff shortages; and
• Develop a multi-skilled, representative and flexible workforce 

that enables the organisation to adapt rapidly to the changing 
environment in which it functions.

This planning process is integrated, both in approach and in the 
engagement of senior and line management. It takes into account 
the organisation's strategic direction, and is reconciled with 
available budget.

Employee performance management 
framework
The NRF strives to be a high-performance knowledge organisation 
that yields on-going, long-term value to its stakeholders. It 
therefore needs to maintain total commitment to high standards 
of performance; collaboration and teamwork; openness to new 
ideas; and on-going learning. This needs to be done in line with the 
NRF Act and the strategic objectives of the NRF vision, and must 
be underpinned by the NRF values. It is within this context that the 
NRF’s Integrated Performance Management System (IPMS) and 
its requirements are positioned, driven and implemented.

24.  INTRODUCTION 
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The overall aim of the NRF’s IPMS is to enable the NRF and 
its employees to strive for excellence in the achievement of 
set goals at all levels through effective performance planning; 
performance monitoring and measurement; and appropriate 
skills development. The key principles that underpin the aims of 
the IPMS are the enhancement of organisational performance; 
recognition of individual and team contributions; and the effective 
management of underperformance.

More specifically, the objectives of the IPMS are to facilitate and 
ensure the following:

• Alignment among organisational, divisional, business unit, 
departmental and individual goals and objectives;

• Agreement on clearly defined employee performance goals 
and objectives in alignment with business goals;

• Monitoring and measurement of employee and team 
performance against agreed-on goals and objectives;

• Provision of regular feedback between management/
supervisors and their direct reports on performance relative to 
agreed-on goals and objectives;

• Improvement of performance through multi-faceted employee 
development approaches and appropriate skills development;

• Effective discussions on career-pathing, which may inform 
employee development and movement considerations; and

• Enhancement and reinforcement of a culture of performance 
and teamwork among employees at all levels in the organisation.

Improve staff and succession planning
The NRF reviewed its staffing and succession plans in key 
positions. This systematic process ensures that:

• Risks to the organisation are managed;
• Resources are optimally used; and
• Sustainability of the organisation is assured.

Areas of improvement were identified and remedial action was 
incorporated into the short- to medium-term implementation plans.

Employment Equity Plan
The Employment Equity Plan is at the core of the NRF's 
commitment to transformation and to achieve representivity 
in all occupation levels and categories of its workforce, as well 
as to give effect to the NRF Employment Equity and Redress 
Policy adopted by the Board. The organisation's Employment 
Equity Plan sets out the measures to be taken to ensure legal 
compliance with the Employment Equity Act, Act 55 of 1998, as 
well as the business imperative to be representative of the areas 
in which the NRF operates. This includes the setting of objectives, 
activities, numerical goals and targets to move progressively 
towards achieving representivity of the designated groups across 
the organisational structure.

Progress towards achievement of long-term employment equity 
targets continues at a steady pace. The overall representation 
of black staff is 72.0% against a target of 77%, while female 
representation is 40.5% against a target of 44% (foreign nationals 
excluded) for the 2018/19 financial year. Key challenges remain 
gender representation at executive and senior management 
levels and that of blacks in the three highest employment 
categories. People with disabilities account for 0.6% against a 
target of 1.72%.
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Table 31:  Personnel cost by programme 

Occupational level

Personnel 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure as a % 
of total expenditure 

(R’000)
Total 

employees

Average personnel 
cost per employee 

(R’000)
Programme 1 – Corporate 61 975 9% 68 911
Programme 2 – Science Engagement 34 008 5% 69 493
Programme 3 – Research and Innovation 
Support and Advancement (RISA) 105 168 15% 185 568
Programme 4 – National Research 
Infrastructure Platforms 495 425 71% 897 552

TOTAL 696 576 100% 1 219 571

Personnel cost per salary band
Table 32:  Personnel cost per salary band as at 31 March 2019

Occupational level

Personnel 
expenditure 

(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure 

No. of 
employees

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 

(R’000)
Top management 20 070 3% 8 2 509
Senior management 39 936 6% 26 1 536
Professionally qualified and experienced specialists 
and mid-management 245 050 38% 292 839
Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, 
junior management, supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents 309 194 49% 717 431
Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 13 328 2% 72 185
Unskilled and defined decision making 9 387 1% 78 120
TOTAL 636 966 100% 1 193 534

25.  HUMAN RESOURCES OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

Personnel cost by programme
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Performance rewards  
Table 33:  Performance rewards as at 31 March 2019

Occupational level

Performance 
rewards 
(R’000)

Personnel 
expenditure 

(R’000)
No. of 

employees

Personnel 
expenditure 

as a % of total 
expenditure

Top management 936 39 936 5 15%
Senior management 1 039 245 050 9 16%
Professionally qualified and experienced specialists 
and mid-management 3 149 309 194 53 12%
Skilled technical and academically qualified workers, 
junior management, supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents 1 529 13 328 108 24%
Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 30 9 387 5 0%
Unskilled and defined decision making 5 636 966 1 0%

TOTAL 6 688 1 253 862 181 68%

Training cost 
Table 34:  Training costs 

Directorate/business unit Intervention

Training 
expenditure 

(R`000)

No. of 
employees 

trained

Average 
training cost 
per employee

IT and Knowledge Resources Electronic records management 6 804 1 6 804
Corporate HR Conflict management 41 600 13 3 200
Corporate HR Monitoring and evaluation 40 480 8 5 060
Corporate HR Report-writing course 79 243 32 2 476
Corporate HR Effective executive assistant 34 500 13 2 654
Corporate HR - RISA Conflict management 28 800 9 3 200
Corporate HR - SAIAB Strategy planning 46 045 8 5 756
Corporate HR - SAIAB Advanced report writing 29 716 12 2 476
GMSA Customer service 67 092 50 1 342
iThemba LABS Aseptic processing 34 800 6 5 800
iThemba LABS ICP/AA 63 513 3 21 171
iThemba LABS Interviewing skills 18 377 2 9 189
iThemba LABS Talent management and succession planning training 15 999 2 7 999
SAAO Short-range radio certificate 3 400 1 3 400
SAAO First aid levels 1 – 3 26 328 8 3 291
SAAO First aid levels 2 – 3 8 618 4 2 155
SAAO First aid level 3 4 922 3 1 641
SAAO Conflict management 32 000 10 3 200
SAAO Sea safety – handling of winches 5 295 3 1 765
SKA Fundamentals of Windows 9 900 1 9 900
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Directorate/business unit Intervention

Training 
expenditure 

(R`000)

No. of 
employees 

trained

Average 
training cost 
per employee

SKA Operations management 13 110 1 13 110
SKA Samtrac Nosa 18 360 1 18 360
SKA Creo 4.0 7 200 2 3 600
SKA Acquisition management 390 000 26 15 000
SAEON 2nd African Drone Summit 15 000 3 5 000
SAEON National office health and safety orientation 1 500 15 1 500
SAEON Induction and orientation arid lands staff 5 000 2 2 500
SAEON Induction and orientation Cape Town and Limpopo staff 8 000 2 4 000
SAAO PPA training 12 107 1 12 107
SAAO E ROMERO 6 619 1 6 619
SAAO SCOOP-J Bernardo 6 794 1 6 794
SAAO BSICS of guiding 21 000 1 21 000
SAAO J van Wyk 1 588 1 1 588
SAAO Unit standard OHS – 4 days 4 852 1 4 852
SAAO Fall arrest training 13 800 1 13 800
SAAO ETHERNET 1 CH X2 PORT 19 563 2 9 781
SAAO Service fees – HITESH 121 1 121
SAASTA Monitoring and evaluation 75 900 4 4 400
SAASTA Prince 2 12 175 1 12 175
SAASTA Initiating and chairing disciplinary hearing 13 052 1 13 053
SAASTA Change management workshop 121 51 121
SAASTA Transformation workshop 35 994 6 5 999
SAASTA First aid levels 1 – 3 1 500 1 1 500
SAASTA NMG benefits training 1 500 30 50
iThemba LABS Research visit 6 000 1 6 000
iThemba LABS CNR*18 3 000 1 3 000
iThemba LABS Research visit 30 000 1 30 000
iThemba LABS Research/training visit 3 000 1 3 000
iThemba LABS Research visit 65 000 1 65 000
iThemba LABS Research visit 65 000 1 65 000
SAIAB Class IV commercial dive supervisors 2 405 1 2 500
SAIAB Category R skipper’s licence 3 300 1 3 300
RISA Project management training 3 300 15 220
SAASTA/RISA Finance for non-finance 16 962 15 983
SARAO Solid works 20 700 2 10 350
SARAO M-Tech consulting engineering 16 554 1 16 554
SARAO GEMCCON Conference 4 000 1 4 000
SARAO SAFe 46 103 28 1 647
SARAO GEW spectrum 74 000 4 18 500
SARAO Machine learning 8 000 1 8 000

Table 34:  Training costs (continued)
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Directorate/business unit Intervention

Training 
expenditure 

(R`000)

No. of 
employees 

trained

Average 
training cost 
per employee

SARAO Employment equity training 29 150 8 3 644
SARAO Maintenance shutdown and project management 16 554 1 16 554
Corporate HR Managers development programme 54 105 45 1 202
Corporate HR Coaching 440 532 8 55 066
Corporate IT Advanced Microsoft SharePoint Solution exam 1 390 1 800
RISA Presentation skills and public speaking workshop 24 000 6 4 000
SAIAB Competency in security awareness (STC) 1 670 1 1 670
SAIAB Sea safety familiarization training 11 205 10 1 121
SAIAB Skipper’s ticket 9 743 2 4 872
SAIAB Class IV commercial diver training 11 500 1 11 500
SAIAB Adult learn-to-swim programme 4 720 2 2 360
SAIAB Occupational health and safety course – on-line 27 000 2 13 500
SAEON First aid training – Elwandle 1 640 2 820
SAEON ATT accounting course – Una 8 592 1 8 592
SAEON Dive chamber operator – Elwandle 23 000 2 11 500
SAEON ATT accounting course – Busii 3 367 1 3 367
SAEON ATT accounting course – Una 880 1 880
SAEON Swimming lessons – arid lands 3 000 1 3 000
SAEON Hazardous material handling – Elwandle 1 575 2 787
iThemba LABS Supervisory training 66 881 10 6 688
SARAO Introduction to Python 22 301 2 11 150
SARAO Solid works essentials 47 600 7 6 800
SARAO Solid works electrical 59 060 5 11 812
SARAO NOSA 14 000 1 14 000
SARAO SAFe for teams 56 068 19 2 950
SARAO Product solutions 8 200 1 8 200
SARAO First aid 21 869 5 4 373
SARAO Programming 9 270 1 9 270
SARAO Mecad systems 10 200 1 10 200
SARAO PMP certification 20 417 1 20 417
SAAO PLC training 3 000 1 3 000
SAAO Professional communication and office 13 500 1 13 500
SAAO Intro to PC and MC Office 7 000 2 3 500
TOTAL  2 682 600 574 789

Table 34:  Training costs (continued)
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Employment and vacancies   
Table 35:  Vacancies per programme  

Programme

2017/18 2018/19

Vacancies
Approved 
positions

Number of 
employees Vacancies

Approved 
positions

Number of 
employees Vacancies

Programme 1 – Corporate 74 65 9 81 76 5 6.17%
Programme 2 – Science Engagement 68 63 5 63 61 2 3.17%
Programme 3 – Research and Innovation 
Support and Advancement (RISA) 198 185 13 204 185 19 9.31%
Programme 4 – National Research 
Infrastructure Platform 935 880 55 1018 897 121 11.89%
TOTAL 1275 1196 82 1 366 1 219 147 10.76%

Table 36:  Vacancies per level

Programme

2017/18 2018/19

Vacancies
Approved 
positions

Number of 
employees Vacancies

Approved 
positions

Number of 
employees Vacancies

Top management 8 8 0 8 8 0 0.00%
Senior management 29 26 3 36 32 4 11.11%
Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management 315 292 23 397 354 43 10.83%
Skilled technical and academically 
qualified workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and superintendents 764 717 47 768 679 89 11.59%
Semi-skilled and discretionary decision 
making; unskilled and defined decision 
making 74 72 2 96 89 7 7.29%
Unskilled and defined decision making 85 81 7 61 57 4 6.56%
TOTAL 1275 1196 82 1366 1219 147 10.76%

Recruitment to the organisation remained intensive. A total of 
94 terminations occurred and 133 vacancies were filled. The 
cumulative staff turnover for the year was 9.35%, 7.71% of 
which can be classified as controllable turnover that includes 
resignations, expiring contracts and retrenchments.

This relatively low cumulative turnover can be ascribed partially 
to the current economic situation. As the situation improves and 
stabilises, the NRF will be required to continue its efforts to retain 
staff and to find innovative ways of engaging and incentivising 
staff to reduce the risk of losing key personnel.
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Table 37:  Employment changes as at 31 March 2019 – reasons for staff leaving   

RE
AS

ON
S 

FO
R 

LE
AV

IN
G

Reason
No. of 

employees
% of total 

No. of staff leaving
Absconded 0 0.00%
Deceased 1 0.88%
Dismissal 1 0.88%
Dismissal misconduct 2 1.75%
End of fixed contract 35 30.70%
Ill-health/disability 0 0.00%
Resignation 59 51.75%
Retirement 16 14.04%
Retrenchment 0 0.00%
Transfers 0 0.00%
TOTAL 114 100.00%

Labour relations – misconduct and disciplinary action  
Table 38:  Disciplinary actions

Nature of disciplinary action Number
Dismissal 05
Final written warning 08
Written warning 12
Written performance Warning 03
Verbal warning 01
Counselling 01
Resignation 02
Withdrawal/not guilty 02
GRAND TOTAL 34
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Equity target and employment equity status 
Table 39:  Employment equity performance as at 31 March 2019

EM
PL

OY
ME

NT
 E

QU
IT

Y

Occupational level

Designated Non-designated

TOTAL
Male Female Male

Foreign 
nationals

A C I A C I W W Male Female
Top management 3 0 2 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 8
Senior management 6 2 1 2 0 2 1 14 3 0 31
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and 
mid-management 62 27 9 23 10 4 40 134 33 11 353
Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents 147 109 8 187 62 13 58 71 9 7 671
Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision making 23 25 0 18 17 1 0 1 0 0 85
Unskilled and defined 
decision making 11 18 0 8 12 0 0 1 0 0 50
TOTAL PERMANENT 252 181 20 239 102 20 99 222 45 18 1 198
Non-permanent employees 10 1 0 4 2 1 1 2 0 0 21
GRAND TOTAL 262 182 20 243 104 21 100 224 45 18 1 219

Table 40:  Male equity target and employment equity status

EQ
UI

TY
 TA

RG
ET

 A
ND

 E
MP

LO
YM

EN
T 

EQ
UI

TY
 S

TA
TU

S

Occupational level

Male
African Coloured Indian White

Current
Target 
2020 Current

Target 
2020 Current

Target 
2020 Current

Target 
2020

Top management 3 2 0 0 2 1 1 0 
Senior management 6 9 2 1 1 1 14 6 
Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management 62 57 27 22 9 4 134 76 
Skilled technical and academically qualified 
workers, junior management, supervisors, 
foremen and superintendents 147 188 109 101 8 9 71 80 
Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 23 20 25 15 0 0 1 3 
Unskilled and defined decision making 11 9 18 20 0 0 1 1 
TOTAL PERMANENT 252 285 181 159 20 15 222 166 
Non-permanent Employees 10 16 1 7 0 0 2 9 
TOTAL 262 301 182 166 20 15 224 175 



89NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART D: HUMAN RESOURCES  

Table 41:  Female equity target and employment equity status

EQ
UI

TY
 TA

RG
ET

 A
ND

 E
MP

LO
YM

EN
T 

EQ
UI

TY
 S

TA
TU

S

Occupational Level

Female
African Coloured Indian White

Current
Target 
2020 Current

Target 
2020 Current

Target 
2020 Current

Target 
2020

Top management 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 
Senior management 2 5 0 2 2 0 1 1 
Professionally qualified and experienced 
specialists and mid-management 23 50 10 22 4 5 40 28 
Skilled technical and academically qualified 
workers junior management, supervisors, foremen 
and superintendents 187 177 62 87 13 9 58 53 
Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 18 21 17 11 1 2 0 3 
Unskilled and defined decision making 8 12 12 28 0 0 0 0 
TOTAL PERMANENT 239 267 102 151 20 16 99 85 
Non-permanent employees 4 7 2 1 2 0 1 2 
TOTAL 243 274 104 152 22 16 100 87 

Table 42:  Disabled staff

EM
PL

OY
ME

NT
 E

QU
IT

Y

Occupational Level

Designated Non-designated

TOTAL
Male Female Male

Foreign 
Nationals

A C I A C I W W Male Female
Top management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Senior management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and 
mid-management 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 4
Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision making 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Unskilled and defined 
decision making 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
TOTAL PERMANENT 1 1 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 7
Non-permanent employees 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
GRAND TOTAL 1 1 0 4 0 0 0 1 0 0 7
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The Board is required by the Public Finance Management Act 
(Act 1 of 1999), as amended, to maintain adequate accounting 
records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the 
annual financial statements and related financial information 
included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Board to 
ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the NRF as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period 
then ended. The external auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual financial statements and were 
given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP), including any interpretations, guidelines and 
directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

The annual financial statements are based on appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the 
system of internal financial control established by the NRF and 
places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the Board to meet these responsibilities, 
the Board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing 
the risk of error or deficit in a cost-effective manner. The 
standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within 
a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of 
risk. These controls are monitored throughout the NRF and all 
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards 
in ensuring the NRF’s business is conducted in a manner that in 

all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk 
management in the NRF is on identifying, assessing, managing 
and monitoring all known forms of risk across the entity. While 
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the NRF endeavours to 
minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board is of the opinion, based on the information and 
explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records 
may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial 
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or deficit.

The Board has reviewed the NRF’s cash flow forecast for the year 
to 31 March 2020 and, in the light of this review and the current 
financial position, it is satisfied that the NRF has, or has access 
to, adequate resources to continue operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

Although the Board is primarily responsible for the financial affairs 
of the NRF, it is supported by the NRF's external auditors.

The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing 
and reporting on the NRF's annual financial statements. The 
annual financial statements have been examined by the entity's 
external auditors and their report is presented on page 95.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 99 to 155, which 
have been prepared on the going-concern basis, were approved 
by the Board on 29 July 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

26. BOARD'S RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

Dr Nompumelelo Obokoh
Chairperson: NRF Board

Dr Molapo Qhobela
Chief Executive Officer



NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

94

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 
31 March 2019.

Audit and Risk Committee responsibility
The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has complied with 
its responsibilities arising from section 51(a)(ii) of the PFMA and 
Treasury Regulation 3.1.13.

The Audit and Risk Committee also reports that it has adopted 
appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit and Risk 
Committee charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance 
with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as 
contained therein.

The effectiveness of internal control
The system of internal control applied by the NRF over financial 
and risk management is effective, efficient and transparent. In line 
with the PFMA and the King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
requirements, Internal Audit provides the audit and Risk 
Committee and management with assurance that the internal 
controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means 
of the risk management process, as well as the identification of 
corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls 
and processes. From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, 
the Audit Report on the annual financial statements, and the 
management report of the Auditor-General of South Africa, it was 
noted that no matters were reported that indicate any material 
deficiencies in the system of internal control or any deviations 
therefrom. Accordingly, the Committee can report that the system 
of internal control over financial reporting for the period under 
review was efficient and effective.

Evaluation of annual financial 
statements
The Audit and Risk Committee has:

• reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial 
statements to be included in the Annual Report with the 
Auditor-General and the Board;

• reviewed the Auditor-General of South Africa's management 
report and management’s response thereto;

• reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;
• reviewed the entity's compliance with legal and regulatory 

provisions; and
• reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs with and accepts the 
Auditor-General of South Africa's report on the annual financial 
statements, and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial 
statements should be accepted and read together with the report 
of the Auditor-General of South Africa.

Internal audit
The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the internal audit 
function is operating effectively, and that it has addressed the 
risks pertinent to the entity and its audits.

Auditor-General of South Africa
The Audit and Risk Committee has met with the Auditor-General 
of South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved issues.

27. AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

Mr Ronny Lubisi
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
July 2019



95NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Report on the audit of the financial 
statements

Opinion 

1. I have audited the financial statements of the National 
Research Foundation set out on pages 99 to 155, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 
2019, the statement of financial performance, statement 
of changes in net assets, cash flow statement and the 
statement of comparison of approved budget to actual 
results for the year then ended, as well as the notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the National 
Research Foundation as at 31 March 2019, and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with South African Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) 
and the requirements of the Public Finance Management 
Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

Basis for opinion

3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the auditor-
general’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of this auditor’s report. 

4. I am independent of the entity in accordance with sections 
290 and 291 of the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of ethics for professional accountants 
(IESBA code), parts 1 and 3 of the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) and the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled 
my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA codes.

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Responsibilities of accounting authority for 
the financial statements

6. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the 
requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of 
South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and for such 
internal control as the accounting authority determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

7. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting 
authority is responsible for assessing the National 
Research Foundation’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the appropriate governance structure either intends 
to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is included in the annexure to this 
auditor’s report.

28. REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE   
 NATIONAL RESEARCH FOUNDATION
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Report on the audit of the annual 
performance report

Introduction and scope

10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 
2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the general notice 
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report 
material findings on the reported performance information 
against predetermined objectives for selected programmes 
presented in the annual performance report. I performed 
procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence 
to express assurance.

11. My procedures address the reported performance 
information, which must be based on the approved 
performance planning documents of the entity. I have not 
evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of the 
performance indicators included in the planning documents. 
My procedures also did not extend to any disclosures or 
assertions relating to planned performance strategies 
and information in respect of future periods that may be 
included as part of the reported performance information. 
Accordingly, my findings do not extend to these matters. 

12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information in accordance with the criteria 
developed from the performance management and reporting 
framework, as defined in the general notice, for the following 
selected programme presented in the annual performance 
report of the entity for the year ended 31 March 2019:

Programmes
Pages in annual 

performance report
Programme 3 (RISA): Human capital 
development through bursaries and 
research and equipment grants

27 – 36

Programme 4: National Research 
Infrastructure Platform (National facilities) 37 – 52

13. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported 
performance information was properly presented and 
whether performance was consistent with the approved 
performance planning documents. I performed further 
procedures to determine whether the indicators and related 
targets were measurable and relevant, and assessed 
the reliability of the reported performance information to 
determine whether it was valid, accurate and complete.

14. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information for these 
programmes.

Other matters

15. I draw attention to the matters below. 

Achievement of planned targets

16. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 12 to 
52 for information on the achievement of planned targets 
for the year and explanations provided for the under/ over 
achievement of a number of targets. 

Adjustment of material misstatements

17. I identified material misstatements in the annual 
performance report submitted for auditing. These material 
misstatements were on the reported performance 
information of programme 4 - National Research 
Infrastructure Platform. As management subsequently 
corrected the misstatements, I did not raise any material 
findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information. 

Report on the audit of compliance with 
legislation

Introduction and scope

18. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice issued 
in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material 
findings on the compliance of the entity with specific 
matters in key legislation. I performed procedures to identify 
findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance. 

19. The material findings on compliance with specific matters 
in key legislations are as follows: 

Expenditure Management

20. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken to prevent 
irregular expenditure amounting to R4 374 000 as disclosed 
in note 40 to the annual financial statements, as required 
by section 51(1)(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of the 
irregular expenditure was caused by non-compliance with 
instruction note 3 of 2016-17. 
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Other information
21. The accounting authority is responsible for the other 

information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report which includes the 
directors’ report and the audit committee’s report. The other 
information does not include the financial statements, the 
auditor’s report and the selected programme presented in 
the annual performance report that have been specifically 
reported in this auditor’s report. 

22. My opinion on the financial statements and findings on 
the reported performance information and compliance 
with legislation do not cover the other information and I 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

23. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements and the selected programme presented in the 
annual performance report, or my knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

24. When I do receive and read the directors’ report and the 
audit committee’s report. If I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, I am required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance and request that 
the other information be corrected. If the other information 
is not corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s report 
and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. However, 
if it is corrected this will not be necessary. 

Internal control deficiencies

25. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the 
financial statements, reported performance information 
and compliance with applicable legislation; however, my 
objective was not to express any form of assurance on it. 
The matters reported below are limited to the significant 
internal control deficiencies that resulted in the findings on 
compliance with legislation included in this report.

26. The review and monitoring processes were not sufficient to 
prevent these instances of irregular expenditure. 
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Annexure – Auditor-general’s 
responsibility for the audit
1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, I exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout my audit of the financial statements, 
and the procedures performed on reported performance 
information for selected programme and on the entity’s 
compliance with respect to the selected subject matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the financial 
statements as described in this auditor’s report, I also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the accounting authority.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting 
authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

in the preparation of the financial statements. I also 
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
National Research Foundation’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements about the material uncertainty or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion on the 
financial statements. My conclusions are based on the 
information available to me at the date of this auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
a entity to cease continuing as a going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation

Communication with those charged with 
governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and communicate all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to have 
a bearing on my independence and, where applicable, 
related safeguards.

Auditor-General South Africa
Pretoria
31 July 2019
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Note(s)
2019
R'000

2018
Restated*

R'000

Assets
Current Assets
Inventories 11 4,495 6,129
Other financial assets 7 684,781 629,910
Receivables from exchange transactions 12 489,396 427,923
Grants paid in advance 10 6,788 6,812
Cash and cash equivalents 13 657,789 463,408

1,843,249 1,534,182
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 2,578,997 2,611,856
Intangible assets 4 36,287 41,615
Heritage assets 5 15,479 15,479
Investments in associates 6 13,795 16,133
Employee benefit asset 8 2,044 3,996
Prepayments 9 14,204 16,110

2,660,806 2,705,189
Total Assets 4,504,055 4,239,371

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation 16 36 51
Payables from exchange transactions 19 111,462 107,708
Provisions 17 10,380 35,188
Designated income received in advance 18 1,662,381 1,335,866

1,784,259 1,478,813
Non-Current Liabilities
Finance lease obligation 16 - 36
Total Liabilities 1,784,259 1,478,849

Net Assets 2,719,796 2,760,522
Reserves
SALT Fund 15 13,795 16,133
Capital fund 14 2,630,764 2,668,950
Infrastructure fund 72,878 72,878
Accumulated surplus 2,359 2,561
Total Net Assets 2,719,796 2,760,522

29. ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2019
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Note(s)
2019
R'000

2018
Restated*

R'000

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Sale of goods and services 20 57,058 69,518
Other income 21 28,051 9,963
Interest received - investment 22 53,076 46,264
Gain on foreign exchange 3,363 480
Actuarial gains 8 - 295
Total revenue from exchange transactions 141,548 126,520

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
Parliamentary grant 904,752 860,113
DST contract income 23 2,600,009 2,376,303
Contract income - other 24 470,606 1,247,687
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 3,975,367 4,484,103
Total revenue 4,116,915 4,610,623

Expenditure
Programme 1: Corporate (98,696) (89,954)
Programme 2: Science Engagement (119,248) (169,924)
Programme 3: Research and Innovation Support and Advancement (2,638,804) (2,794,099)
Programme 4: National Research Infrastructure Platforms (1,251,191) (1,028,980)
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities (1,165) (610)
Actuarial losses (2,602) -
Share of deficits from associates using the equity method (2,338) (2,315)
Finance cost 26 (26) (40)
Total expenditure (4,114,070) (4,085,922)

Surplus for the year from continuing operations 2,845 524,701
Discontinued operations 31 - (24,141)
Surplus for the year before asset acquisitions* 2,845 500,560

Statement of Financial Performance

The accounting policies on pages 9 to 32 and the notes on pages 33 to 67 form an integral part of the annual financial statements.

* R504m of the prior year figure was applied to the net acquisition of assets (refer to Statement of Changes in Net Assets).
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets

SALT fund
R'000

Capital fund
R'000

Infrastructure 
fund
R'000

Total 
reserves

R'000

Accumulated 
surplus
R'000

Total net 
assets
R'000

Opening balance as previously reported 18,447 2,209,717 76,066 2,304,230 431 2,304,661
Adjustments
Prior year adjustments - (44,699) - (44,699) - (44,699)

Balance at 01 April 2017 as restated* 18,447 2,165,018 76,066 2,259,531 431 2,259,962
Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year - - - - 500,560 500,560
Transfer from SALT fund (2,314) - - (2,314) 2,314 -
Transfer to capital fund - 503,932 - 503,932 (503,932) -
Transfer from infrastructure fund - - (3,188) (3,188) 3,188 -
Total changes (2,314) 503,932 (3,188) 498,430 2,130 500,560

Restated* Balance at 01 April 2018 16,133 2,668,950 72,878 2,757,961 2,561 2,760,522
Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year - - - - 2,845 2,845
Transfer from SALT fund (2,338) - - (2,338) 2,338 -
Transfer NZG to SANBI - (23,871) - (23,871) - (23,871)
Transfer from Capital fund - (14,315) - (14,315) 14,315 -
Transfer to National Treasury - - (19,700) (19,700)
Total changes (2,338) (38,186) - (40,524) (202) (40,726)

Balance at 31 March 2019 13,795 2,630,764 72,878 2,717,437 2,359 2,719,796

Note(s) 15 14
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Cash Flow Statement

Note(s)
2019
R'000

2018 
Restated*

R'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Parliamentary grant 904,752 860,113
DST contract funding received 2,856,603 1,972,927
Designated income 479,068 1,174,289
Interest income 53,076 46,264
Other receipts 88,457 137,541

4,381,956 4,191,134
Payments
Employee costs (746,638) (612,588)
Suppliers (543,665) (575,293)
Cash flows of discontinued operations - (23,832)
Grants, bursaries and other research (2,624,608) (2,330,425)

(3,914,911) (3,542,138)
Net cash flows from operating activities 30 467,045 648,996

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (250,716) (676,919)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3 421 470
Purchase of other intangible assets 4 (2,612) (3,826)
Net cash flows from investing activities (252,907) (680,275)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease payments (57) (88)
Other cash item (19,700) -
Net cash flows from financing activities (19,757) (88)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 194,381 (31,367)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 463,408 494,775

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 657,789 463,408
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

Budget on Accrual Basis

Final Budget
R'000

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis
R'000

Difference 
between final 
budget and 

actual
R'000 Reference

Statement of Financial Performance
Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
Sale of goods and services 63,645 57,058 (6,587) 42
Other income 5,695 28,051 22,356 42
Interest received - investment 38,025 53,076 15,051 42
Total revenue from exchange transactions 107,365 138,185 30,820

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Ring-fenced income
DST contract income 2,791,266 2,600,009 (191,257) 42
Parliamentary grant 904,752 904,752 -
Other contract income 491,568 470,606 (20,962) 42
Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 4,187,586 3,975,367 (212,219)
Total revenue 4,294,951 4,113,552 (181,399)

Expenditure
Employees related costs (792,037) (716,351) 75,686 42
Depreciation and amortisation (149,783) (263,478) (113,695) 42
Grants, bursaries and other research expenditure (2,413,179) (2,569,761) (156,582) 42
Programme and operating expenses (636,542) (558,349) 78,193 42
Total expenditure (3,991,541) (4,107,939) (116,398)

303,410 5,613 (297,797)
Loss on disposal of assets and liabilities (120) (1,165) (1,045)
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange (480) 3,363 3,843
Actuarial gain/(losses) - (2,602) (2,602)
Share of surpluses or deficits from associates or joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method - (2,338) (2,338)
Finance cost - (26) (26)

(600) (2,768) (2,168)
302,810 2,845 (299,965)

Actual amount on comparable basis as presented in the Budget 
and Actual Comparative Statement 302,810 2,845 (299,965)
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1. Presentation of Annual Financial 
Statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP), issued by the Accounting Standards 
Board in accordance with Section 89 of the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act 1 of 1999).

These annual financial statements have been prepared on 
an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with the 
historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless 
specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

In the absence of an issued and effective Standard of GRAP, 
accounting policies for material transactions, events or conditions 
were developed in accordance with paragraphs 8, 10 and 11 of 
GRAP 3 as read with Directive 5.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses were not offset, except 
where offsetting is either required or permitted by a Standard of 
GRAP. 

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been 
consistently applied in the preparation of these annual financial 
statements, is disclosed below.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Presentation currency

These annual financial statements are presented in South African 
Rand, which is the functional currency of the entity.

1.2 Going concern assumption

These annual financial statements have been prepared based on 
the expectation that the entity will continue to operate as a going 
concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.3 Transfer of functions between entities  
under common control

Definitions 

An acquirer is the entity that obtains control of the acquiree or 
transferor.

Carrying amount of an asset or liability is the amount at which an 
asset or liability is recognised in the statement of financial position.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of another entity so as to benefit from its activities.

A function is an integrated set of activities that is capable of being 
conducted and managed for purposes of achieving an entity’s 
objectives, either by providing economic benefits or service 
potential.

Transfer date is the date on which the acquirer obtains control of 
the function and the transferor loses control of that function.

A transfer of functions is the reorganisation and/or the re-allocation 
of functions between entities by transferring functions between 
entities or into another entity.

A transferor is the entity that relinquishes control of a function.

Common control - For a transaction or event to occur between 
entities under common control, the transaction or event needs 
to be undertaken between entities within the same sphere 
of government or between entities that are part of the same 
economic entity. Entities that are ultimately controlled by the 
same entity before and after the transfer of functions are within 
the same economic entity.

A function is an integrated set of activities that is capable of being 
conducted and managed for purposes of achieving an entity‘s 
objectives, either by providing economic benefits or service 
potential. A function consists of inputs and processes applied 
to those inputs that have the ability to create outputs. A function 
can either be a part or a portion of an entity or can consist of 
the whole entity. Although functions may have outputs, outputs 
are not required to qualify as a function. The three elements of a 
function are defined as follows:

• Input: Any resource that creates, or has the ability to create, 
outputs when one or more processes are applied to it.

• Process: Any system, standard, protocol, convention or rule 
that when applied to an input or inputs, creates or has the 
ability to create outputs.

• Output: The result of inputs and processes applied to achieve 
and improve efficiency. This may be in the form of achieving 
service delivery objectives, or the delivery of goods and/or 
services.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Identifying the acquirer and transferor 

For each transfer of functions between entities under common 
control an acquirer and transferor are identified. All relevant facts 
and circumstances are considered in identifying the acquirer and 
transferor.

The terms and conditions of a transfer of functions undertaken 
between entities under common control are set out in a binding 
arrangement. The binding arrangement governing the terms and 
conditions of a transfer of functions may identify which entity to 
the transaction or event is the transferor(s) and which entity is 
the acquirer. Where the binding arrangement does not clearly 
identify the acquirer or the transferor, the behaviour or actions 
of the entities may indicate which entity is the acquirer and which 
entity is the transferor.

Determining the acquirer includes a consideration of, amongst 
other things, which of the entities involved in the transfer of 
functions initiated the transaction or event, the relative size of the 
entities, as well as whether the assets or revenue of one of the 
entities involved in the transaction or event significantly exceed 
those of the other entities. If no acquirer can be identified, the 
transaction or event is accounted for in terms of the Standard of 
GRAP on Mergers.

Determining the transfer date 

The acquirer and the transferor identify the transfer date, which is 
the date on which the acquirer obtains control and the transferor 
loses control of that function.

All relevant facts and circumstances are considered in identifying 
the transfer date. 

Accounting by the entity as transferor 

Derecognition of assets transferred and liabilities 
relinquished 

As of the transfer date, the entity derecognises from its annual 
financial statements, all the assets transferred and liabilities 
relinquished in a transfer of functions at their carrying amounts.

Until the transfer date, the entity continues to measure these assets 
and liabilities in accordance with applicable Standards of GRAP.

The consideration received from the acquirer can be in the form 
of cash, cash equivalents or other assets. If the consideration 

received is in the form of other assets, the entity measures such 
assets at their fair value on the transfer date in accordance 
with the applicable Standard of GRAP. The difference between 
the carrying amounts of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
relinquished and the consideration received from the acquirer is 
recognised in accumulated surplus or deficit.

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of  
estimation uncertainty

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is 
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related 
disclosures. Use of available information and the application of 
judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in 
the future could differ from these estimates which may be material 
to the annual financial statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables and loans and receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables and loans and 
receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded 
in surplus or deficit, the entity makes judgements as to whether 
there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset. Each 
receivable is reviewed individually at year end.

Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables 
and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. 
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the entity for similar 
financial instruments.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual 
assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 
calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations 
require the use of estimates and assumptions. 

The entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when 
events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest 
level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of 
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cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that 
impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected 
future cash flows for each group of assets. Expected future cash 
flows used to determine the value-in-use of tangible assets are 
inherently uncertain and could materially change over time. 

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate 
based on the information available. Additional disclosure of these 
estimates of provisions is included in note 17 - Provisions.

Post-retirement benefits

The present value of the post-retirement obligation depends on a 
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using 
a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining 
the net cost/(income) include the discount rate. Any changes in 
these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post-
retirement obligations.

Other key assumptions for post-retirement benefits are based on 
current market conditions. Additional information is disclosed in 
Note 8.

Effective interest rate

The entity used the prime interest rate to discount future cash 
flows.

Property, plant and equipment and Intangible 
assets

The entity's management determines the estimated useful 
lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets.  These assessments are made on an annual 
basis and use historical evidence and current economic factors to 
estimate the values.

Administrative computer equipment, office furniture, equipment, 
exhibits and motor vehicles are not componentised.  These 
assets do not have significant parts that are considered to have 
an estimated useful life different to the estimated useful life of the 
asset as a whole.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
(including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the 

production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or 
for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used during 
more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 
as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 
purchase price and other costs attributable to bringing the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. Trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, 
its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in 
exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset 
acquired is initially measured at fair value (the cost). If the 
acquired item's fair value was not determinable, it's deemed cost 
is the carrying amount of the asset(s) given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of property, plant and 
equipment. 

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item 
of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is 
recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant 
and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the 
item and restoring the site on which it is located is also included 
in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is 
obligated to incur such expenditure, and where the obligation 
arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes 
other than the production of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, 
plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the location and 
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condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.

Items such as spare parts, standby equipment and servicing 
equipment are recognised when they meet the definition of 
property, plant and equipment.

Major inspection costs which are a condition of continuing use 
of an item of property, plant and equipment and which meet the 
recognition criteria above are included as a replacement in the 
cost of the item of property, plant and equipment. Any remaining 
inspection costs from the previous inspection are derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on the straight line 
basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual 
value.

The depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic 
basis over its useful life.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a 
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

The depreciation method used reflects the pattern in which the 
asset’s future economic benefits or service potential are expected 
to be consumed by the entity. The depreciation method applied 
to an asset is reviewed at least at each reporting date and, if 
there has been a significant change in the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset, the method is changed to reflect the 
changed pattern. Such a change is accounted for as a change in 
an accounting estimate.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that the entity expectations about the residual value 
and the useful life of an asset have changed since the preceding 
reporting date. If any such indication exists, the entity revises 
the expected useful life and/or residual value accordingly. The 
change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or 
deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when 
the asset is disposed of or when there are no further economic 
benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from 
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, 
if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

The entity separately discloses expenditure to repair and maintain 
property, plant and equipment in the notes to the financial 
statements (see note 3).

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development, in the notes to the financial 
statements (see note 3).

Zoological animals

Zoological animals have not been included as an asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position.  The reason is that the essential 
recognition criteria of measurement for recognising assets cannot 
be met for the majority of the animals.  The majority of zoological 
animals are received as donations, transfers from other zoos or 
from births.  As a result, they do not have a cost.  

It is considered impracticable to assign a fair value to the animals 
due to a variety of reasons.  These reasons include, among other 
things, considerations such as the lack of a market for the majority 
of the animals, because they are not commodities, as well as 
restrictions on the trade of exotic animals, which precludes the 
determination of a fair value.

The animals for which it may be possible to determine an arbitrary 
value approximates 8% of the total animal collection.  It is the 
view of the NRF that it is unethical and not in the best interest of 
the National Zoological Gardens (NZG) to attach values to these 
animals.  In addition, the NZG is not in the business of trading with 
these animals.

Therefore, on the basis that many species cannot be valued and 
any attempt to attach values to any species may be unethical, it 
was considered that any assessment of value would be misleading 
to the users of the financial statements.

1.6 Intangible assets

An asset is identifiable if it either:

• is separable, i.e. is capable of being separated or divided from 
an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, 
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either individually or together with a related contract, 
identifiable assets or liability, regardless of whether the entity 
intends to do so; or

• arises from binding arrangements (including rights from 
contracts), regardless of whether those rights are transferable 
or separable from the entity or from other rights and obligations.

A binding arrangement describes an arrangement that confers 
similar rights and obligations on the parties to it as if it were in the 
form of a contract.

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or 
service potential that are attributable to the asset will flow to 
the entity; and

• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

The entity assesses the probability of expected future economic 
benefits or service potential using reasonable and supportable 
assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the set 
of economic conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset.

Where an intangible asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its initial cost at the date of acquisition is measured at 
its fair value as at that date.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal 
project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be 
available for use or sale.

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or service 

potential.
• there are available technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development 

can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life 
when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to 

the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash 
inflows or service potential. Amortisation is not provided for these 
intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 
For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a 
straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that 
the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for 
impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over 
its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised 
as intangible assets.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an intangible 
asset.

Amortisation is provided to write-down the intangible assets, on a 
straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item
Depreciation 

method
Average useful 

life
Computer software Straight line 3 - 10 years

The entity discloses relevant information relating to assets 
under construction or development, in the notes to the financial 
statements (see note 4).

Intangible assets are derecognised:

• on disposal; or
• when no future economic benefits or service potential are 

expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets 
is included in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.

1.7 Heritage assets

Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, 
historical, natural, scientific, technological or artistic significance 
and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future 
generations.
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An inalienable item is an asset that an entity is required by law or 
otherwise to retain indefinitely and cannot be disposed of without 
consent.

Recognition

The entity recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is probable 
that future economic benefits or service potential associated with 
the asset will flow to the entity, and the cost or fair value of the 
asset can be measured reliably.

Initial measurement

Heritage assets are measured at cost.

Where a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange 
transaction, its cost is measured at its fair value as at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried 
at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
the entity estimates the recoverable amount or the recoverable 
service amount of the heritage asset.

Transfers

Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the particular 
asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage asset.

Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset meets 
the definition of a heritage asset.

Derecognition

The entity derecognises heritage asset on disposal, or when no 
future economic benefits or service potential are expected from 
its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a heritage asset 
is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised.

1.8 Investments in associates

An investment in an associate is carried at cost.

The entity applies the same accounting for each category of 
investment.

The entity recognises a dividend or similar distribution in surplus 
or deficit in its separate annual financial statements when its right 
to receive the dividend or similar distribution is established.

1.9 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or a residual interest of 
another entity.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is 
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus 
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount, and minus any reduction (directly or through the 
use of an allowance account) for impairment or uncollectibility.

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will 
cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
an obligation.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates.

Derecognition is the removal of a previously recognised financial 
asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of financial 
position.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group 
of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the 
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument 
(for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not 
consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and 
points paid or received between parties to the contract that are 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs, 
and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption that 
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the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial 
instruments can be estimated reliably. However, in those rare 
cases when it is not possible to reliably estimate the cash flows 
or the expected life of a financial instrument (or group of financial 
instruments), the entity shall use the contractual cash flows over 
the full contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of 
financial instruments).

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

A financial asset is:

• cash;
• a residual interest of another entity; or
• a contractual right to:

- receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or
- exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another 

entity under conditions that are potentially favourable to the 
entity.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to:

• deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or
• exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under 

conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.

Liquidity risk is the risk encountered by an entity in the event of 
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under 
pre specified terms and conditions.

Loans payable are financial liabilities, other than short-term 
payables on normal credit terms.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, 
interest rate risk and other price risk.

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency 
risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all 
similar financial instruments traded in the market.

A financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to 
make a payment when contractually due.

Financial instruments at amortised cost are non derivative 
financial assets or non derivative financial liabilities that have 
fixed or determinable payments, excluding those instruments that:

• the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition; or
• are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost are investments in residual interests 
that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and 
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Classification

The entity has the following types of financial assets (classes and 
category) as reflected on the face of the statement of financial 
position or in the notes thereto:

Class Category

Trade and other receivables Financial asset measured at 
amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents Financial asset measured at 
amortised cost

Grant deposit accounts & 
infrastructure bridging funding

Financial asset measured at 
amortised cost

Class Category

Trade and other payables Financial asset measured at 
amortised cost

Finance leases Financial asset measured at 
amortised cost

Initial recognition

The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its 
statement of financial position when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The entity recognises financial assets using trade date accounting.
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Initial measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

The entity measures a financial asset and financial liability initially 
at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

The entity measures all financial assets and financial liabilities 
after initial recognition using the following categories:

• Financial instruments at amortised cost.

All financial assets measured at amortised cost, or cost, are 
subject to an impairment review.

Fair value measurement considerations

The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active market. 
If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the entity 
establishes fair value by using a valuation technique. The objective 
of using a valuation technique is to establish what the transaction 
price would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s 
length exchange motivated by normal operating considerations. 
Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, 
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option 
pricing models. If there is a valuation technique commonly used 
by market participants to price the instrument and that technique 
has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices 
obtained in actual market transactions, the entity uses that 
technique. The chosen valuation technique makes maximum 
use of market inputs and relies as little as possible on entity 
specific inputs. It incorporates all factors that market participants 
would consider in setting a price and is consistent with accepted 
economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments. 
Periodically, an entity calibrates the valuation technique and tests 
it for validity using prices from any observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without modification or 
repackaging) or based on any available observable market data.

The fair value of a financial liability with a demand feature (e.g. a 
demand deposit) is not less than the amount payable on demand, 
discounted from the first date that the amount could be required 
to be paid.

Gains and losses

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or deficit when 
the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired, 
or through the amortisation process.

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial 
assets

The entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost:

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial 
assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly 
OR through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the 
loss is recognised in surplus or deficit.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed directly OR by adjusting 
an allowance account. The reversal does not result in a carrying 
amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised 
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised at 
the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is 
recognised in surplus or deficit.

Derecognition

Financial assets

The entity derecognises financial assets using trade date 
accounting.

The entity derecognises a financial asset only when:

• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, are settled or waived;

• the entity transfers to another party substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; or
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• the entity, despite having retained some significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, has transferred 
control of the asset to another party and the other party has the 
practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated 
third party, and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally 
and without needing to impose additional restrictions on the 
transfer. In this case, the entity:
- derecognises the asset; and
- recognise separately any rights and obligations created or 

retained in the transfer.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Financial liabilities

The entity removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial 
liability) from its statement of financial position when it is 
extinguished – i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled, expires or waived.

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability 
(or part of a financial liability) extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in surplus 
or deficit. Any liabilities that are waived, forgiven or assumed by 
another entity by way of a non-exchange transaction are accounted 
for in accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from 
Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Presentation

Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component that is a 
financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in surplus 
or deficit.

Losses and gains relating to a financial instrument or a component 
that is a financial liability is recognised as revenue or expense in 
surplus or deficit.

A financial asset and a financial liability are only offset and the 
net amount presented in the statement of financial position when 
the entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not 
qualify for derecognition, the entity does not offset the transferred 
asset and the associated liability.

1.10 Tax

Tax expenses

The NRF is exempt from paying income tax and Value Added Tax 
(VAT).

1.11 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 
classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

When a lease includes both land and buildings elements, the 
entity assesses the classification of each element separately.

Finance leases - lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of 
the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the 
minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of reduction on the remaining 
balance of the liability.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period in which they 
are incurred.

Operating leases - lessor

Operating lease revenue is recognised as revenue on a straight 
line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating 
leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis 
as the lease revenue.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in statement of 
financial performance.
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Operating leases - lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 
straight line basis over the lease term. The difference between the 
amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments 
are recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.12 Inventories

Inventories are initially measured at cost except where inventories 
are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, then their costs 
are their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of operations less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange or 
distribution.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, costs 
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) formula. The same cost formula is used for all inventories 
having a similar nature and use to the entity.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amounts of those 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the related revenue is recognised. If there is no related revenue, 
the expenses are recognised when the goods are distributed, or 
related services are rendered. The amount of any write-down of 
inventories to net realisable value or current replacement cost 
and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the 
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal 
of any write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net 
realisable value or current replacement cost, is recognised as a 
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

1.13 Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operation is a component of an entity that has been 
disposed of and:

• represents a distinguishable activity, group of activities or 
geographical area of operations;

• is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a 
distinguishable activity, group of activities or geographical area 
of operations; or

• is a controlled entity acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

A component of an entity is the operations and cash flows that can 
be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting 
purposes, from the rest of the entity.

1.14 Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets used with the objective of 
generating a commercial return. Commercial return means that 
positive cash flows are expected to be significantly higher than 
the cost of the asset.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service 
potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential through depreciation/(amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in 
the statement of financial position after deducting any accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets 
used with the objective of generating a commercial return that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets.

Identification

When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that a cash-generating asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable 
amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, 
the entity also tests a cash-generating intangible asset with an 
indefinite useful life or a cash-generating intangible asset not 
yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its 
carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test 
is performed at the same time every year. If an intangible asset 
was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that 
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intangible asset was tested for impairment before the end of the 
current reporting period.

Value-in-use

Value-in-use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its 
useful life.

When estimating the value-in-use of an asset, the entity estimates 
the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived from continuing 
use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal and the entity 
applies the appropriate discount rate to those future cash flows.

Discount rate

The discount rate is a pre tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money, represented by the 
current risk free rate of interest and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted.

Recognition and measurement (individual asset)

If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset is less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater 
than the carrying amount of the cash-generating asset to which it 
relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a 
requirement in the Standard of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation/
(amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset is adjusted 
in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised 
carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic 
basis over its remaining useful life.

Cash-generating units

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the 
recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual 
asset, the entity determines the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs (the asset's cash-
generating unit).

If an active market exists for the output produced by an asset 
or group of assets, that asset or group of assets is identified as 
a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of the output is used 
internally. If the cash inflows generated by any asset or cash-
generating unit are affected by internal transfer pricing, the entity 
uses management's best estimate of future price(s) that could be 
achieved in arm's length transactions in estimating:

• the future cash inflows used to determine the asset's or cash-
generating unit's value in use; and

• the future cash outflows used to determine the value-in-use of 
any other assets or cash-generating units that are affected by 
the internal transfer pricing.

Cash-generating units are identified consistently from period to 
period for the same asset or types of assets, unless a change is 
justified.

The carrying amount of a cash-generating unit is determined on a 
basis consistent with the way the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is determined.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the 
recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount 
of the unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating assets of the unit on a pro rata 
basis, based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 
These reductions in carrying amounts are treated as impairment 
losses on individual assets.

In allocating an impairment loss, the entity does not reduce the 
carrying amount of an asset below the highest of:

• its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);
• its value-in-use (if determinable); and
• zero.

The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have 
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other cash-
generating assets of the unit.

Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-
generating unit, a proportion of the carrying amount of that non-
cash-generating asset is allocated to the carrying amount of the 
cash-generating unit prior to estimation of the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit.
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Reversal of impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods 
for a cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the 
recoverable amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-
generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increase is 
a reversal of an impairment loss. The increased carrying amount 
of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating asset is 
recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the 
depreciation/(amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset 
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on 
a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit 
is allocated to the cash-generating assets of the unit pro rata 
with the carrying amounts of those assets. These increases in 
carrying amounts are treated as reversals of impairment losses 
for individual assets. No part of the amount of such a reversal 
is allocated to a non-cash-generating asset contributing service 
potential to a cash-generating unit.

In allocating a reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating 
unit, the carrying amount of an asset is not increased above the 
lower of:

• its recoverable amount (if determinable); and
• the carrying amount that would have been determined (net 

of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would 
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to 
the other assets of the unit.

Redesignation

The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a 
non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating asset 
to a cash-generating asset only occurs when there is clear 
evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate.

1.15 Impairment of non-cash-generating 
assets

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-
generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service 
potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition 
of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service 
potential through depreciation/(amortisation).

Identification

When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset 
exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable 
service amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the 
entity also tests a non-cash-generating intangible asset with an 
indefinite useful life or a non-cash-generating intangible asset 
not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing 
its carrying amount with its recoverable service amount. This 
impairment test is performed at the same time every year. If 
an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current 
reporting period, that intangible asset was tested for impairment 
before the end of the current reporting period.

Value-in-use

Value-in-use of non-cash-generating assets is the present value 
of the non-cash-generating assets' remaining service potential.

Recognition and measurement

If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset 
is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an 
impairment loss.
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An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than 
the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset to which it 
relates, the entity recognises a liability only to the extent that is a 
requirement in the Standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation/
(amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on 
a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Reversal of an impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any 
indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
a non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the 
recoverable service amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-
generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
service amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment 
loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to 
a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation 
or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset 
is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the 
depreciation/(amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating 
asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-
generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value 
(if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

1.16 Grant deposits

The NRF advances funding to higher education and research 
institutions in the form of grant deposits.  The advances are 
calculated based on the expected grant awards for the year.  
The balance is reviewed annually by the NRF to determine 
the adequacy of the amount.  The advances are done in order 

to facilitate adequate cash flow for the grant making process 
at these institutions. Grant deposits must be preserved and 
maintained at the approved normal level.  Per agreement, the 
interest earned on the grant deposits by the institutions is used to 
fund administration costs, inclusive of staff of the institutions that 
are dedicated to the NRF grant administration process.  Should 
the interest earned be more than funding requisites to fund extra 
human capacity for staff supporting NRF projects, the institution 
has the right to utilise such amounts for research purposes as it 
deems appropriate.  The approved normal level of grant deposits 
are repayable to the NRF on 30 days' notice in an event of the 
funding being discontinued.

1.17 Grants paid in advance

Grant advances to grant holders represent advances paid on 
specific grant awards, for which the conditions of grants were 
finalised, and the specific grant awards released by the NRF.  
The balance of the grant advances is depleted as and when the 
recognition criteria for grants and bursaries expenditure are met, 
i.e. approved and validated claims.

1.18 Employee benefits

Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by an 
entity in exchange for services rendered by employees.

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable as a result 
of either:

• an entity’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment 
before the normal retirement date; or

• an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for those benefits.

Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other 
than post-employment benefits and termination benefits) that are 
not due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the 
period in which the employees render the related service.

Vested employee benefits are employee benefits that are not 
conditional on future employment.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than 
termination benefits) that are due to be settled within twelve 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render 
the related service.
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Short-term employee benefits include items such as:

• wages and salaries;
• short-term compensated absences (such as paid annual leave 

and paid sick leave) where the compensation for the absences 
is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period in which the employees render the related 
employee service;

• bonus, incentive and performance related payments payable 
within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in 
which the employees render the related service; and 

• non-monetary benefits (for example, medical care, and free 
or subsidised goods or services such as housing, cars and 
cellphones) for current employees.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a 
reporting period, the entity recognises the undiscounted amount 
of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange 
for that service:

• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any amount 
already paid. If the amount already paid exceeds the 
undiscounted amount of the benefits, the entity recognises 
that excess as an asset (prepaid expense) to the extent that 
the prepayment will lead to, for example, a reduction in future 
payments or a cash refund; and

• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits 
the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as 
an expense as the employees render services that increase their 
entitlement or, in the case of non accumulating absences, when 
the absence occurs. The entity measures the expected cost of 
accumulating compensated absences as the additional amount 
that the entity expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement 
that has accumulated at the reporting date.

The entity recognises the expected cost of bonus, incentive and 
performance related payments when the entity has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result 
of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be 
made. A present obligation exists when the entity has no realistic 
alternative but to make the payments.

Post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefits are employee benefits (other than 
termination benefits) which are payable after the completion of 
employment.

Post-employment benefit plans are formal or informal 
arrangements under which an entity provides post-employment 
benefits for one or more employees.

Post-employment benefits: Defined contribution 
plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans 
under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligation to 
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets 
to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior periods.

When an employee has rendered service to the entity during a 
reporting period, the entity recognises the contribution payable to 
a defined contribution plan in exchange for that service:

• as a liability (accrued expense), after deducting any 
contribution already paid. If the contribution already paid 
exceeds the contribution due for service before the reporting 
date, an entity recognises that excess as an asset (prepaid 
expense) to the extent that the prepayment will lead to, for 
example, a reduction in future payments or a cash refund; and

• as an expense, unless another Standard requires or permits 
the inclusion of the contribution in the cost of an asset.

Where contributions to a defined contribution plan do not fall 
due wholly within twelve months after the end of the reporting 
period in which the employees render the related service, they are 
discounted. The rate used to discount reflects the time value of 
money. The currency and term of the financial instrument selected 
to reflect the time value of money is consistent with the currency 
and estimated term of the obligation.

Actuarial assumptions

Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible. 

Financial assumptions are based on market expectations, at the 
reporting date, for the period over which the obligations are to be 
settled. 

The rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligations 
(both funded and unfunded) reflect the time value of money. The 
currency and term of the financial instrument selected to reflect 
the time value of money are consistent with the currency and 
estimated term of the post-employment benefit obligations.
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Post-employment benefit obligations are measured on a basis 
that reflects:

• estimated future salary increases;
• the benefits set out in the terms of the plan (or resulting from 

any constructive obligation that goes beyond those terms) at 
the reporting date; and

• estimated future changes in the level of any state benefits that 
affect the benefits payable under a defined benefit plan, if, and 
only if, either:

• those changes were enacted before the reporting date; or
• past history, or other reliable evidence, indicates that those 

state benefits will change in some predictable manner, for 
example, in line with future changes in general price levels or 
general salary levels.

Assumptions about medical costs take account of estimated 
future changes in the cost of medical services, resulting from both 
inflation and specific changes in medical costs.

Other post-retirement obligations

The entity provides post-retirement health care benefits upon 
retirement to some retirees.

The entitlement to post-retirement health care benefits is based 
on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and 
the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs 
of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 
Independent qualified actuaries carry out valuations of these 
obligations at least every three years.

The amount recognised as a liability for other long-term employee 
benefits is the net total of the following amounts:

• the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
reporting date;

• minus the fair value at the reporting date of plan assets (if any) 
out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.

The entity shall recognise the net total of the following amounts as 
expense or revenue, except to the extent that another Standard 
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset:

• current service cost;
• interest cost;
• the expected return on any plan assets and on any 

reimbursement right recognised as an asset;
• actuarial gains and losses, which shall all be recognised 

immediately;

• past service cost, which shall all be recognised immediately; 
and

• the effect of any curtailments or settlements.

1.19 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle 
the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 
expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date.

Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount 
of a provision is the present value of the expenditures expected to 
be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision 
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement 
is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. 
The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount 
recognised for the reimbursement does not exceed the amount 
of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are reversed if it 
is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential will be required, to settle 
the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision 
increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. This 
increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision 
was originally recognised.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating surplus/(deficit).

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation 
(net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised and measured 
as a provision.
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Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. 
Contingencies are disclosed in note 35.

1.20 Commitments

Items are classified as commitments when an entity has 
committed itself to future transactions that will normally result in 
the outflow of cash.

Disclosures are required in respect of unrecognised contractual 
commitments.

Commitments for which disclosure is necessary to achieve a 
fair presentation should be disclosed in a note to the financial 
statements, if both the following criteria are met:

• Contracts should be non-cancellable or only cancellable at 
significant cost (for example, contracts for computer or building 
maintenance services); and

• Contracts should relate to something other than the routine, 
steady, state business of the entity – therefore salary 
commitments relating to employment contracts or social 
security benefit commitments are excluded.

1.21 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential during the reporting period when those inflows result in 
an increase in net assets.

An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives 
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly 
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, 
services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement 
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 
control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction 

can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

• the entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• the entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement 
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 
control over the goods sold;

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction 

can be measured reliably.

Sale of goods includes the sale of isotopes at iThemba LABS.

Rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering 
of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome 
of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following 
conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 

associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date 

can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete 

the transaction can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts 
over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised on a straight 
line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence 
that some other method better represents the stage of completion. 
When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, 
the recognition of revenue is postponed until the significant act is 
executed.
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When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of 
services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only 
to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage of 
completion is determined by services performed to date as a 
percentage of total services to be performed.

Service revenue includes fees for providing tours to the public at 
some business units.

Interest

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding 
interest is recognised when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective 
interest rate method.

1.22 Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service 
potential received and receivable by an entity, which represents 
an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to 
contributions from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that 
the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the 
asset is required to be consumed by the recipient as specified or 
future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to 
the transferor.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not 
exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an entity 
either receives value from another entity without directly giving 
approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another 
entity without directly receiving approximately equal value in 
exchange.

Recognition

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction 
recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to the 

extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same 
inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a 
liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying 
amount of the liability recognised and recognises an amount of 
revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement

Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the 
amount of the increase in net assets recognised by the entity.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the entity 
recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue equivalent to the 
amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition, unless it is also required to recognise a liability. Where 
a liability is required to be recognised, it will be measured as the 
best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at 
the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, 
if any, recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently 
reduced, because a condition is satisfied, the amount of the 
reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind

Gifts and donations, including goods in-kind, are recognised as 
assets and revenue when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits or service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value 
of the assets can be measured reliably.

Government grants and contract income

Government grants and contract income are recognised in the 
statement of financial performance, in the period to which the 
income relates.  The government grant and contract income are 
recognised if there is reasonable assurance that the entity will 
comply with the conditions attached to the grant or contract, and 
that the grant or contract income will be received.

The portion of government grants and contract income that is 
earmarked for a specific purpose and thus conditional, relating 
to expenditure that will be incurred in future financial years, 
is reflected as income received in advance in the statement of 
financial position, as it represents an actual liability if conditions 
are not met.



121NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

1.23 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down 
of inventories to net realisable value and all surplus/(deficit) of 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down 
of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is 
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

The related cost of providing services recognised as revenue in 
the current period is included in cost of sales.

Contract costs comprise:

• costs that relate directly to the specific contract;
• costs that are attributable to contract activity in general and 

can be allocated to the contract on a systematic and rational 
basis; and

• such other costs as are specifically chargeable to the customer 
under the terms of the contract.

1.24 Grants, bursaries and other research 
expenditure

Grants, bursaries and other research awarded are recognised 
as expenditure in the statement of financial performance in the 
period in which the grants, bursaries and other research are 
claimed and validated.  Included in grants, bursaries and other 
research are membership affiliations to research science and 
technology organisations and councils as well as the funding for 
science activities.

1.25 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition 
in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot 
exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign 
currency at the date of the transaction.

At each reporting date:

• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the 
closing rate;

• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction; and

• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items 
or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at 
which they were translated on initial recognition during the period 
or in previous annual financial statements are recognised in 
surplus or deficit in the period in which they arise.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are 
recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the 
date of the cash flow.

1.26 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to 
conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.27 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in 
vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been 
exercised.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The 
expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the 
expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for 
as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.28 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is 
expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in 
contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of 
any applicable legislation, including this Act,

1.29 Segment information

A segment is an activity of an entity:

• that generates economic benefits or service potential (including 
economic benefits or service potential relating to transactions 
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between activities of the same entity);
• whose results are regularly reviewed by management to make 

decisions about resources to be allocated to that activity and 
in assessing its performance; and

• for which separate financial information is available.

Reportable segments are the actual segments which are reported 
on in the segment report. They are the segments identified above 
or alternatively an aggregation of two or more of those segments 
where the aggregation criteria are met.

Measurement

The amount of each segment item reported is the measure 
reported to management for the purposes of making decisions 
about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its 
performance. Adjustments and eliminations made in preparing 
the entity’s financial statements and allocations of revenues and 
expenses are included in determining reported segment surplus 
or deficit only if they are included in the measure of the segment’s 
surplus or deficit that is used by management. Similarly, only 
those assets and liabilities that are included in the measures 
of the segment’s assets and segment’s liabilities that are used 
by management are reported for that segment. If amounts are 
allocated to reported segment surplus or deficit, assets or 
liabilities, those amounts are allocated on a reasonable basis.

If management uses only one measure of a segment’s surplus or 
deficit, the segment’s assets or the segment’s liabilities in assessing 
segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources, 
segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities are reported in terms 
of that measure. If management uses more than one measure of a 
segment’s surplus or deficit, the segment’s assets or the segment’s 
liabilities, the reported measures are those that management 
believes are determined in accordance with the measurement 
principles most consistent with those used in measuring the 
corresponding amounts in the entity’s financial statements.

1.30 Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred.

An asset arising from development is recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be 
available for use or sale.

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.

• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or service 

potential.
• there are available technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development 

can be measured reliably.

1.31 Budget information

The entity is typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of 
appropriations or budget authorisations (or equivalent), which 
is given effect through authorising legislation, appropriation or 
similar.

General purpose financial reporting by the entity shall provide 
information on whether resources were obtained and used in 
accordance with the legally adopted budget.

The approved budget is prepared on an accrual basis and 
presented by economic classification linked to performance 
outcome objectives.

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 4/1/2018 to 
3/31/2019.

The budget for the economic entity includes all the entities' 
approved budgets under its control.

The annual financial statements and the budget are on the same 
basis of accounting therefore a comparison with the budgeted 
amounts for the reporting period have been included in the 
Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts.

Comparative information is not required.

1.32 Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity with the ability to control 
or jointly control the other party, or exercise significant influence 
over the other party, or vice versa, or an entity that is subject to 
common control, or joint control.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services 
or obligations between the reporting entity and a related party, 
regardless of whether a price is charged.
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The entity operates in an economic sector currently dominated 
by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South African 
Government.  As a consequence of the constitutional independence 
of the three spheres of government in South Africa, only entities 
within the national sphere of government are considered to be 
related parties.

Key management are those persons responsible for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including those 
charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with 
legislation, in instances where they are required to perform such 
functions.  All individuals from the level of Corporate Executive up 
to the Board of Directors are regarded as key management.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be 
those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that management in their dealings with the entity.

Only transactions with related parties not at arm's length or not in 
the ordinary course of business are disclosed.

1.33 Events after reporting date

Events after reporting date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the reporting date and the date 
when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Two types 
of events can be identified:

• those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the 
reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date); and

• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the 
reporting date (non adjusting events after the reporting date).

The entity will adjust the amount recognised in the financial 
statements to reflect adjusting events after the reporting date 
once the event occurred.

The entity will disclose the nature of the event and an estimate 
of its financial effect or a statement that such estimate cannot be 
made in respect of all material non adjusting events, where non 
disclosure could influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements.

1.34 Capital Fund

The proportion of income used to acquire property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and heritage assets is transferred 
to the capital fund from the accumulated surplus/(deficit) in 
the proportions and over the periods in which depreciation/
amortisation on such property, plant and equipment, intangible 
asset or heritage asset is charged or when the asset is retired.

1.35 Infrastructure Fund

This fund represents funds set aside to fund future infrastructure 
and related projects.  It can also be utilised for the decommissioning 
of assets, where applicable.



NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

124

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The entity has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the entity’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after April 01, 2019 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation:

Effective date: 
Years beginning 

on or after Expected impact:

IGRAP 1 (revised): Applying the Probability Test on Initial 
Recognition of Revenue 01 April 2020 Unlikely there will be a material impact

Directive 7 (revised): The Application of Deemed Cost 01 April 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact
GRAP 36: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 01 April 2020 Unlikely there will be a material impact
GRAP 38: Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 01 April 2020 Unlikely there will be a material impact
GRAP 110 (as amended 2016): Living and Non-living 
Resources 01 April 2020 Unlikely there will be a material impact

GRAP 7 (as revised 2010): Investments in Associates 01 April 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact
GRAP 18 (as amended 2016): Segment Reporting 01 April 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact
GRAP 20: Related parties 01 April 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact
GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents 01 April 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact
IGRAP 18: Interpretation of the Standard of GRAP on 
Recognition and Derecognition of Land 01 April 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact

3. Property, plant and equipment

2019 2018

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Land 307,736 - 307,736 281,355 - 281,355
Buildings 409,721 (90,459) 319,262 395,898 (75,039) 320,859
Plant and machinery 74,421 (27,735) 46,686 67,228 (21,253) 45,975
Furniture and fixtures 27,183 (15,002) 12,181 28,041 (14,547) 13,494
Motor vehicles 58,639 (32,025) 26,614 61,523 (29,747) 31,776
Office equipment 60,372 (39,246) 21,126 69,119 (43,410) 25,709
IT equipment 187,151 (118,488) 68,663 181,491 (98,416) 83,075
Computer software 102,577 (59,730) 42,847 56,922 (29,896) 27,026
Infrastructure 345,344 (63,855) 281,489 288,280 (49,713) 238,567
Exhibits 7,756 (4,116) 3,640 7,612 (3,472) 4,140

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2019 2018

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Capital work in progress 98,503 - 98,503 984,104 - 984,104
Research equipment 1,860,174 (534,686) 1,325,488 951,758 (398,463) 553,295
Spare parts 26,084 (2,185) 23,899 - - -
Books and journals 1,212 (349) 863 3,048 (567) 2,481
Total 3,566,873 (987,876) 2,578,997 3,376,379 (764,523) 2,611,856

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2019

2019
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Land 281,355 26,381 - - - 307,736
Buildings 320,859 3,892 (54) 10,078 (15,513) 319,262
Plant and machinery 45,975 7,212 (12) - (6,489) 46,686
Furniture and fixtures 13,494 2,535 (105) (1,562) (2,181) 12,181
Motor vehicles 31,776 5,218 (141) (5,077) (5,162) 26,614
Office equipment 25,709 3,941 (59) (3,139) (5,326) 21,126
IT equipment 83,075 17,233 (465) (2,765) (28,415) 68,663
Computer software 27,026 - - 45,655 (29,834) 42,847
Infrastructure 238,567 13,612 - 43,452 (14,142) 281,489
Exhibits 4,140 149 (1) - (648) 3,640
Capital work in progress 984,104 117,147 - (1,002,748) - 98,503
Research equipment 553,295 53,058 (740) 866,154 (146,279) 1,325,488
Spare parts - - - 26,084 (2,185) 23,899
Books and journals 2,481 338 (7) - (1,949) 863
Total 2,611,856 250,716 (1,584) (23,868) (258,123) 2,578,997

Depreciation includes R 0.0476m (2018: R 0.076m), relating to leased assets.  Transfers during the year, relate to assets capitalised 
from capital work in progress, upon completion of the assets.  The major capitalisation consisted of the MeerKAT array, which was 
commissioned on 26 April 2018.  The NZG was also transferred to SANBI on 1 April 2018.  Refer note 33.
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2018

2018
Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Land 100,086 178,825 - 2,444 - 281,355
Buildings 289,290 5,879 - 41,197 (15,507) 320,859
Plant and machinery 46,286 3,216 - 2,462 (5,989) 45,975
Furniture and fixtures 11,546 4,020 (3) - (2,069) 13,494
Motor vehicles 23,768 13,823 (112) - (5,703) 31,776
Office equipment 20,701 5,907 (18) 4,665 (5,546) 25,709
IT equipment 61,333 31,081 (858) 17,126 (25,607) 83,075
Computer software 44,103 - - - (17,077) 27,026
Infrastructure 251,329 253 - - (13,015) 238,567
Exhibits 4,505 304 (2) - (667) 4,140
Capital work in progress 742,856 352,433 - (111,185) - 984,104
Research equipment 506,001 79,899 (87) 43,291 (75,809) 553,295
Books and journals 1,536 1,280 - - (335) 2,481
Total 2,103,340 676,920 (1,080) - (167,324) 2,611,856

Depreciation rates

The depreciation methods and average useful lives of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Buildings Straight line 3 - 50 years
Machinery and equipment Straight line 5 - 31 years
Office furniture Straight line 3 - 48 years
Motor vehicles Straight line 5 - 14 years
Office equipment Straight line 2 - 25 years
IT equipment Straight line 3 - 12 years
Computer software Straight line 3 - 10 years
Infrastructure Straight line 2 - 25 years
Exhibits Straight line 3 - 10 years
Books and journals Straight line 5 - 10 years
Research equipment Straight line 2 - 31 years
Leased assets Straight line 3 years
Spare parts Straight line 10 years

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Assets subject to finance lease (Net carrying amount)
Office equipment 32 80
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2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Details of properties
Portion 1 of the farm Scientia No 627, Pretoria, with buildings thereon
Land 1,277 1,277
Buildings 120,580 119,958

121,857 121,235
Portion 4 of the farm No 996, Blue Downs, Stellenbosch, with buildings thereon
Land 9,717 9,717
Buildings 29,653 29,537

39,370 39,254
Portion 6 of the farm Kuilenburg No 96, Sutherland, with buildings thereon
Land 346 346
Buildings 9,600 9,601

9,946 9,947
Erf 26423, Observatory, Cape Town, with buildings thereon
Land 263 263
Buildings 7,761 7,733

8,024 7,996
Astronomy reserve properties for SKA project, Carnarvon (former farms - register available)
Land 276,638 250,257
Buildings 34,840 31,005

311,478 281,262
Stand No 2859, 211 Nana Sita Street, Pretoria
Land 92 92
Buildings 9,784 9,784

9,876 9,876
Portion 1 of Erf 1, Observatory, Johannesburg
Land 1,685 1,685
Buildings 1,866 1,866

3,551 3,551
Portion 1 of the former farm Losberg No 73, Fraserberg Regional District
Land 7,796 7,796
Buildings 134,029 134,029

141,825 141,825
Mey's Dam Farm No 68, Fraserburg Regional District
Land 8,722 8,722
Buildings 9,550 7,050

18,272 15,772
Leasehold improvements - HartRAO
Capitalised expenditure 1,655 1,655
Leasehold improvements - SAIAB
Capitalised expenditure 30,729 30,123
Leasehold improvements - SKA Klerefontein
Capitalised expenditure 11,739 11,557
Leasehold improvements - SAEON
Capitalised expenditure 2,000 2,000

56 Florence street, Colbyn, Pretoria - SAEON
Land 1,200 1,200
Buildings 5,935 -

7,135 1,200

Total cost of land and buildings 717,457 677,253
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All property in Carnarvon was former farms.  These farms are not being farmed on, but are held as part of the astronomy reserve for the 
SKA project.

The land and buildings situated in Pretoria, on the CSIR campus, are subject to a pre emptive right in favour of the CSIR should the NRF 
decide to sell the property.  It will revert back to the CSIR for no consideration should the NRF be disbanded.

Reconciliation of Work-in-Progress 2019

2019

Land & 
Buildings

Research 
equipment

Included 
within Other 

PPE Total

Opening balance 11,966 959,296 12,842 984,104
Additions/capital expenditure 586 95,577 20,984 117,147
Other movements and transfers - (31,890) 31,890 -
Transferred to completed items (10,078) (948,108) (44,562) (1,002,748)
Total 2,474 74,875 21,154 98,503

Reconciliation of Work-in-Progress 2018

2019

Land & 
Buildings

Research 
equipment

Included 
within Other 

PPE Total

Opening balance 15,843 720,166 6,847 742,856
Additions/capital expenditure 39,764 282,421 30,248 352,433
Other movements and transfers (690) 2,388 (1,698) -
Transferred to completed items (42,951) (45,679) (22,555) (111,185)
Total 11,966 959,296 12,842 984,104

Expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and equipment included in Statement 
of Financial Performance
Contracted services 35,406 37,559
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NZG animal collection

Refer to note 1.5 for reasons why no financial values are attached to the animal collection.

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Number of specimens:
Mammals - 1,229
Aves - 941
Reptiles - 373
Pisces - 1,980
Amphibia - 52
Invertebrates - 383
Total - 4,958

4. Intangible assets

2019 2018

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Computer software, other 73,375 (39,503) 33,872 72,691 (31,725) 40,966
Other intangible assets 2,415 - 2,415 649 - 649
Total 75,790 (39,503) 36,287 73,340 (31,725) 41,615

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2019

2019
Opening 
balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software, other 40,966 846 (7,940) 33,872
Other intangible assets 649 1,766 - 2,415
Total 41,615 2,612 (7,940) 36,287

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2018

2018
Opening 
balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software, other 46,200 3,177 (8,411) 40,966
Other intangible assets - 649 - 649
Total 46,200 3,826 (8,411) 41,615
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5. Heritage assets

2019 2018

Cost / 
Valuation

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses
Carrying 

value
Cost / 

Valuation

Accumulated 
impairment 

losses
Carrying 

value

Collections of rare books, 
manuscripts and records 53 - 53 53 - 53

Objects of scientific and technological 
interest 15,370 - 15,370 15,370 - 15,370

Historical structures and monuments 56 - 56 56 - 56
Total 15,479 - 15,479 15,479 - 15,479

Reconciliation of heritage assets 2019

2019
Opening 
balance Total

Collections of rare books, manuscripts and records 53 53
Objects of scientific and technological interest 15,370 15,370
Historical structures and monuments 56 56

15,479 15,479

Reconciliation of heritage assets 2018

2018
Opening 
balance Total

Collections of rare books, manuscripts and records 53 53
Objects of scientific and technological interest 15,370 15,370
Historical structures and monuments 56 56

15,479 15,479

Heritage assets which fair values cannot be reliably measured

Rare books

The SAAO hosts the National Library for Astronomy of South Africa.  Some of the books are rare as they are hand written, one of a kind 
and irreplaceable.  These books cannot be reliably measured for economic value as there is no market for them and they are irreplaceable.  
These books contributed significantly to the research output of the Observatory in the past and are being preserved for future generations.  
They are being kept for historical purposes only.

National Biological Specimen Collection

The collection of museum specimens comprise over 100 000 containers of fish and other aquatic organisms, such as amphibians, 
invertebrates and diatoms.  Many of the specimens in the collection are unique and largely irreplaceable.  There is also a molecular tissue 
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bank of aquatic samples for genetic analysis and a dry collection of fish skeletons and otoliths.  Some specimens date back more than 100 
years.  The biological collection is supported by scientific graphic images.  The collection cannot be reliably measured for economic value 
as there is no market for it and the collection is irreplaceable.

6. Investments in associates

2019 2018 2019 2018
Name of entity Listed / Unlisted % holding Carrying amount

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. Unlisted 35.92% 35.92% 13,795 16,133

The carrying amounts of associates are shown net of impairment losses.

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Movements in carrying value
Opening balance 16,133 18,447
Share of surplus/deficit (2,338) (2,314)
Total 13,795 16,133

Principal activities, country of incorporation and voting power

Legal name Principal activity
Country of 

incorporation
Proportion of 
voting power

SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. Development, upgrade and operation of an 
11metre telescope for astronomical research S.A. 35.92%

Summary of associate's financial information

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Current assets 92,518 54,868
Noncurrent assets 126,943 143,332
Total liabilities 23,943 22,328
Revenue 41,306 38,005
Surplus/(deficit) (6,509) (6,444)
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7. Other financial assets

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

At amortised cost
Grant deposit accounts 669,470 614,910
The approved grant deposits are repayable to the NRF on 30 days’ notice,
in an event of the funding being discontinued.
Infrastructure bridging funding 15,311 15,000
Funding advanced to institutions for infrastructure, repayable in full to the NRF within 12 months.  
The funding is non-interest bearing.

684,781 629,910

8. Employee benefit obligations

Defined benefit plan

Post retirement medical aid plan

The NRF has a subsidy obligation for those members who did not accept the buy out offer in 2012.  To manage the residual liability that 
has remained, the NRF has acquired an annuity policy which qualifies as a plan asset.

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Carrying value
Present value of the defined benefit obligation-partly or wholly funded (12,233) (12,612)
Fair value of plan assets 14,277 16,608

2,044 3,996

The plan asset consists of an annuity insurance policy.  The annuity portfolio is made up of a growth account and a guaranteed account.  
Increases are guaranteed at a minimum of CPI per annum.  The growth account is used to make up the difference between the guaranteed 
account annuities and the employer contributions.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Opening balance (12,612) (12,759)
Benefits paid 1,367 1,211
Service and interest cost (988) (1,064)

(12,233) (12,612)
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Net expense recognised in the statement of financial performance

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Current service cost 29 26
Interest cost 1,024 1,038
Actuarial (gains) losses 2,265 -
Expected return on plan assets (1,366) (1,359)

1,952 (295)

Calculation of actuarial gains and losses

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Actuarial (gains)/losses – Obligation (33) -
Actuarial (gains)/losses – Plan assets 2,298 -

2,265 -

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Opening balance 16,608 16,460
Expected return 1,366 1,359
Actuarial gains/(losses) (2,298) -
Benefits paid (1,399) (1,211)

14,277 16,608

Key assumptions used

Assumptions used at the reporting date:

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Discount rate used 9.19% 8.57%
Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) 5.70% 6.33%
Real discount rate 1.86% 0.69%
Health care cost inflation 7.20% 7.83%
Normal retirement age 65 65
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Other assumptions

Assumed healthcare cost trends rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in surplus or deficit. A one percentage point 
change in assumed healthcare cost trends, rates would have the following effects: 

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

One percentage point 
increase

Effect on the aggregate of the service cost and interest cost 7 (6)
Effect on defined benefit obligation 6 (6)

Amounts for the current and previous four years are as follows:

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Defined benefit obligation (12,233) (12,612) (12,759) (12,355) (12,411)
Plan assets 14,277 16,608 16,460 13,814 12,870
Surplus (deficit) 2,044 3,996 3,701 1,459 459

Defined contribution plan

It is the policy of the entity to provide retirement benefits to all its employees through the National Research Foundation Pension Fund, 
which is subject to the Pensions Fund Act.  The fund is administered by Alexander Forbes Consultants and Actuaries. 

The entity is under no obligation to cover any unfunded benefits.

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

The amount recognised as an expense for defined contribution plans is 55,958 56,888

9. Prepayments
Prepayments consist mainly of a 10-year usage membership to be part of the Large Synoptic Survey Telescope, which commenced in 
February 2019.

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Prepayment on membership fees 14,095 15,882
Other prepayments 109 228

14,204 16,110
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10. Grants and bursaries paid in advance

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Funding advanced for grants and bursaries 6,788 6,812

11. Inventories

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Consumable stores and maintenance spares 4,495 5,541
Restaurant stock - 588

4,495 6,129

12. Receivables from exchange transactions

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Trade debtors 50,483 74,414
Employee costs in advance 240 240
Prepayments 122,309 102,056
Deposits 4,358 6,730
Designated income and other receivables 312,006 244,483

489,396 427,923

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
Credit risk, with respect to trade and other receivables, is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the NRF's customer 
base, and their dispersion across different industries and geographical areas.

Trade receivables
None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year.

Fair value of trade and other receivables
The fair value of financial assets is not expected to differ materially from their carrying values, due to the short term nature thereof.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables which are less than 3 months past due are not considered to be impaired. At March 31, 2019, R25,006m  
(2018: R20,434m ) was past due but not impaired.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

1 month past due 17,622 15,369
2 months past due 1,777 2,357
3 months past due 5,607 2,709
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Trade and other receivables impaired

As of March 31, 2019, trade and other receivables of R847K (2018: R863K) were impaired and provided for.

The amount of the provision was R847K as of March 31, 2019 (2018: R863K ).

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Opening balance 863 625
Provision for impairment 97 262
Unused amounts reversed (113) (24)

847 863

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in surplus or deficit (note 29). 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The entity does 
not hold any collateral as security.

13. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Cash on hand 67 901
Short-term deposits and bank balances 657,722 462,507

657,789 463,408

The balance includes R257 million for SARAO and R168 million for funding received for the SAIF project.

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand

Cash equivalents and short term deposits are placed with highly rated and National Treasury approved financial institutions.

14. Capital fund

Note(s)
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Opening balance 2,668,950 2,165,018
Net acquisition/transfer of assets (38,186) 503,932
Acquisition of property, equipment and intangible assets 3 & 4 253,328 680,746
Transfer NZG assets to SANBI (23,871) -
Depreciation, amortisation and disposals 3 & 4 (267,643) (176,814)

2,630,764 2,668,950
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15. SALT fund
The SALT fund represents income received from the Department of Science and Technology, for the purpose of investing the funds in the 
SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.  The balance is adjusted with post acquisition surpluses/losses of the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.  Refer note 6

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Income available for the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. 13,795 16,133

16. Finance lease obligation

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Minimum lease payments due
-  within one year 38 59
-  in second to fifth year inclusive - 37

38 96
less: future finance charges (2) (9)

Present value of minimum lease payments 36 87

Present value of minimum lease payments due
-  within one year 36 51
-  in second to fifth year inclusive - 36

36 87

Non-current liabilities - 36
Current liabilities 36 51

36 87

It is entity policy to lease certain equipment under finance leases. 

The average lease term was three years and the average effective borrowing rate was 12% (2018: 18%). 

The entity's obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor's charge over the leased assets. Refer note 3.

Market risk

The fair value of finance lease liabilities approximates their carrying amounts.
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17. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions – 2019

2019
Opening 
Balance Additions

Utilised during 
the year

Reversed 
during the year Total

Provision for performance bonus 35,188 10,380 (32,879) (2,309) 10,380

Reconciliation of provisions – 2018

2018
Opening 
Balance Additions

Utilised during 
the year

Reversed 
during the year Total

Provision for performance bonus 8,374 35,188 (6,688) (1,686) 35,188

The provision represents an estimated amount to be paid for performance bonuses.  The process of finalising performance reviews for the 
current year will be concluded in the next financial year, when the actual payments, and the determination thereof will occur.

18. Designated income received in advance
Funding that is earmarked for a specific purpose, and thus conditional, relating to expenditure that will be incurred in future financial years, 
is transferred to income received in advance, until the related costs are incurred.

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Income not yet expensed 1,662,381 1,335,866

19. Payables from exchange transactions
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Trade payables 43,755 34,957
Accrued leave pay 56,830 61,388
Remuneration accrual 4,408 5,329
Other payables 6,469 6,034

111,462 107,708

20. Sales of goods and services
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Sale of isotopes 54,780 61,934
Services rendered 1,198 6,616
Other sales 1,080 968

57,058 69,518
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21. Other income

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Sundry income 21,125 5,400
Rent received 2,968 3,201
Donations received 55 529
Participation fees 2,092 833
Insurance recoveries 1,811 -

28,051 9,963

22. Interest income

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Bank 53,032 43,370
Interest charged on trade and other receivables 40 66
Interest - other 4 2,828

53,076 46,264

23. DST contract income

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

DST MTEF contract funding received 2,856,603 1,972,927
Net funds carried forward to 2019/20 (256,594) 403,376

2,600,009 2,376,303

24. Contract income

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Department of Science and Technology 70,614 737,446
Other government organisations 301,704 429,551
Private and International organisations 98,288 80,690

470,606 1,247,687

The NRF manages a number of projects/programmes for government departments and local as well as international organisations, on a 
contractual basis.  These funds are designated for specific projects.
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25. Board and Corporate Executive members remuneration

Non-executive Members (Board members)

Short term 
benefits

R'000

Total package 
2019
R'000

Total package 
2018
R'000

Prof HI Bhorat (From 1 October 2018) 23 23 -
Ms CA Busetti (From 1 April 2017) 76 76 66
Dr PG Clayton (From 1 October 2011) 22 22 103
Prof Z Vilakazi (From 1 October 2018) 27 27 -
Prof NM Mkhize (From 1 October 2018) 47 47 -
Dr BD Ngqulunga (From 1 October 2018) 29 29 -
Prof NF Petersen (From 1 October 2018) 43 43 -
Ms J Yawitch (From 1 September 2014) 23 23 63
Ms M Letlape (From 1 March 2015) 37 37 109
Dr V PapuZamxaka (From 1 October 2014) 19 19 51
Prof MV Leibbrandt (From 1 October 2011) 19 19 62
Prof S Sinha (From 1 October 2018) 56 56 -
Mr MR Lubisi (From 1 October 2014) 70 70 73
Prof R Singh (From 1 October 2011) 23 23 80
Prof T Maluleke (From 1 October 2014) 39 39 40
Prof L Nongxa (From 1 October 2014) 47 47 130
Ms GM Campbell (From 1 October 2014) 4 4 31
Prof SD Maharaj (From 1 October 2011) 19 19 51
Prof EM Tyobeka (Up to June 2018) - - 40

623 623 899

Members of the 
Corporate Executive

Short term 
benefits
R’ 000

Bonuses and 
performance 

related 
payments

R’ 000

Retirement 
Fund 

contributions
R’ 000

Medical 
contributions

R’ 000

Other 
benefits
R’ 000

Total 
package 

2019
R’ 000

Total 
package 

2018
R’ 000

* Dr M Qhobela (CEO of 
the NRF) 2,625 252 386 181 43 3,487 3,242

Dr BA Damonse 2,139 - 288 39 40 2,506 2,495
Dr DG Pillay 2,526 224 301 - 41 3,092 2,886
Mr KJ Oagile (from 1 
September 2018) 1,066 - 91 - 19 1,176 -

Mr B Singh 2,335 207 234 54 38 2,868 2,710
Mr PB Thompson (up to 
30 September 2018) 1,320 - - - 8 1,328 3,381

Dr C Nxomani 1,887 - 168 86 34 2,175 1,199
Dr PP Matutu 1,591 - 273 - 35 1,899 1,181
Prof N Chetty (parttime) - - - - - - 282

15,489 683 1,741 360 258 18,531 17,376
Total remuneration 16,112 683 1,741 360 258 19,154 18,275

* Denotes ex officio member of the NRF Board.

Corporate Executive members are considered to be key management personnel as they are the delegated key decision makers.
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26. Finance costs
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Finance lease 8 14
Other interest paid 18 26

26 40

27. Cost of sales
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Sale of goods
Cost of goods sold - Isotopes 29,141 23,506
Cost of goods sold - Other 86 374

29,227 23,880

28. Auditors' remuneration
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Current year audit 1,749 1,117
Prior year audit 3,022 2,862
Other services - 73

4,771 4,052

29. Operating (deficit)/surplus
Operating/(deficit) surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Operating lease charges:
Contractual amounts - Premises 18,201 12,475
Contractual amounts - Equipment 398 420

18,599 12,895

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (1,165) (610)
Gain on exchange differences (3,363) (480)
Finance cost 26 40
Amortisation on intangible assets 7,939 8,415
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 255,539 160,377
Employee costs 716,351 642,284
Defined contribution plan 55,958 56,888
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30. Cash generated from operations

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Surplus 2,845 500,560
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 266,063 175,735
Gain/(loss) on sale of assets and liabilities 1,165 610
Income from equity accounted investments 2,338 2,315
Movements in post-retirement benefit assets and liabilities 1,952 (295)
Movements in provisions (24,808) 26,814
Changes in working capital:
Inventories 1,634 951
Receivables from exchange transactions (61,473) 43,678
Prepayments 1,906 159
Grants and bursaries paid in advance (54,847) 388,396
Payables from exchange transactions 3,754 (27,053)
Designated income received in advance 326,516 (462,874)

467,045 648,996

31. Discontinued operations
The Minister of Science and Technology gazetted the transfer of the NZG from the NRF to SANBI.  The transfer was effective from                 
1 April 2018. The NZG operations was discontinued in the NRF from this date.

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Surplus / Deficit
Revenue - 118,850
Expenses - (142,991)
Surplus or deficit of discontinued operations - (24,141)
Gain or loss recognised on the disposal of discontinued operations - Current year - (24,141)

32. Financial instruments disclosure

2019
At amortised 

cost Total

Financial assets
Other financial assets 684,781 684,781
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 362,489 362,489
Cash and cash equivalents 657,789 657,789

1,705,059 1,705,059



143NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

2019
At amortised 

cost Total

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 50,224 50,224
Finance leases 36 36

50,260 50,260

2018
At amortised 

cost Total

Financial assets
Other financial assets 629,910 629,910
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions 318,897 318,897
Cash and cash equivalents 463,408 463,408

1,412,215 1,412,215

2018
At amortised 

cost Total

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 40,991 40,991
Finance leases 87 87

41,078 41,078

33. Transfer of functions between entities under common control
Transfer of functions between entities under common control occurring during the current reporting period

Entities involved in the transfer of functions were:

• National Research Foundation
• South African National Biodiversity Institute
• The following functions were transferred:
• National Zoological Gardens

The transfer was due to the Minister of Science and Technology gazetting the transfer from the Department of Science and Technology 
to the Department of Environmental Affairs.

The transfer of function took place during the 2018/19 financial year.

The transfer was finalised on 1 April 2018.
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2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Value of assets
Assets transferred
Property, plant and equipment 23,871 -
Inventory 1,916 -
Receivables from exchange transactions 1,637 -
Cash and cash equivalents 11,123 -

38,547 -
Liabilities relinquished
Capital fund reserve 23,871 -
Trade creditors and other payables 14,676 -

38,547 -
Difference between the carrying amounts of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
relinquished and adjustments required to the basis of accounting - -

34. Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Authorised capital expenditure
Already contracted for but not provided for
-  Property, plant and equipment 102,900 122,259
Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority
-  Property, plant and equipment 81,860 27,372
Total capital commitments
Already contracted for but not provided for 102,900 122,259
Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority 81,860 27,372

184,760 149,631
Authorised operational expenditure
Already contracted for but not provided for
-  Goods and services 185,090 181,988
Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority
-  Goods and services 21,144 52,714
Total operational commitments
Already contracted for but not provided for 185,090 181,988
Not yet contracted for and authorised by delegated authority 21,144 52,714

206,234 234,702
Total commitments
Authorised capital expenditure 184,760 149,631
Authorised operational expenditure 206,234 234,702

390,994 384,333

The operational and capital expenditure will be financed from the parliamentary grant (MTEF) and designated funds.



145NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Operating leases - as lessee (expense)

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Minimum lease payments due
-  within one year 14,990 13,208
-  in second to fifth year inclusive 14,043 26,687

29,033 39,895

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the entity for certain of its office properties and equipment. Leases are negotiated 
for a term of between one year and 100 years and rentals escalate between 0% and 10% annually. No contingent rent is payable.

Operating leases - as lessor (income)

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Minimum lease payments due
-  within one year 306 208
-  in second to fifth year inclusive 374 191

680 399

The entity has entered into non-cancellable commercial property leases for the duration of the lease period.  These leases are negotiated 
for a term of between one year and 10 years and rentals escalate between 5% and 10% annually.  There are no contingent rents receivable.

35. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Future grants awarded 5,002,956 5,104,385

The NRF has awarded multi-year grants for up to 5 years, with subsequent years' payments conditional upon receipt of progress reports.

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Removal of historic packageable radioactive waste 4,730 4,730

Packageable radioactive waste consists of low - medium level radioactive contaminated solid waste with relatively short half lives                         
(< 5 years).  All the radioactive waste produced by iThemba LABS, since its inception, has been stored on site.  New regulations, with 
regards to radiation waste management, are envisaged that may result in a possible obligation for the NRF to dispose of such radioactive 
waste from the NRF premises, whilst also meeting set requirements.  The possible obligation calculated represents a best cost estimate 
of such disposal process, for which funding has been set aside.
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36. Related parties

Relationships

Members of key management Refer to note 25
Controlling entity Department of Science and Technology
Associates Refer to note 6

Fellow controlled entities
Academy of Science of South Africa (ASSAf), Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), 
Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC), South African National Space Agency (SANSA) and 
Technology Innovation Agency (TIA)

By virtue of the fact that the NRF is a national public entity, and controlled by national government, any other controlled entity of the national 
government is a related party.  All transactions with such entities are at arm's length, and on normal commercial terms.

Related party balances

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Amounts included in Trade receivables/(Trade Payables) regarding related parties
SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. 1,073 1,937
Prepayment to SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd. 46,565 19,529

The outstanding balance at year end is unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash.  There have been no guarantees received.  
No impairment has been recorded of the amount owed.

Related party transactions

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Payments to the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.
Levy for the use of the telescopes 19,529 17,279

Receipts from the SALT Foundation (Pty) Ltd.
The recovery of services rendered 28,071 23,844

Department of Science and Technology
Parliamentary grant and DST contract income 3,761,355 2,906,391
Other DST contract income 70,614 737,658
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37. Prior period errors
A property, Erf 181 Colbyn, was purchased on 8 October 2014.  The land portion (R1.2 million) was included in work in progress with the 
building instead of being reflected in the land asset category.

The capitalisation of MeerKAT was finalised during the current financial year.  Final calculations resulted in an understatement of the 
MeerKAT AR-1 capitalisation that was done in 2016/17.  In addition, the work-in-progress balance was found to be overstated with items 
that should have been expensed initially.  Income on penalties earned on the MeerKAT project was not recorded.  

The correction of the error(s) results in adjustments as follows:

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Statement of financial position
Property, plant and equipment - 92,482
Work-in-progress - (136,678)
Accumulated depreciation - (32,287)
Capital Fund - 76,483
Accumulated Surplus or Deficit - (31,783)

Statement of financial performance
Depreciation expense - 18,442
Sundry income - (2,800)
Purchases - 7,455
Salaries capitalised - 8,686

38. Risk management
Financial risk management

The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

The entity’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the entity’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department under policies approved by 
the board. Entity treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the entity’s business units. The board 
provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk and investment of excess liquidity.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding. 

The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk through an 
ongoing review of future commitments, through proper management of working capital, capital expenditure and actual vs. forecasted cash 
flows and its investment policy.  Adequate reserves and liquid resources are also maintained.

The table on the following page analyses the entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted 
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
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2019
Less than  

1 year
Between 

1 and 2 years

At 31 March 2019
Trade and other payables 50,224 -
Finance leases 38 -

2018
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 2 years
At 31 March 2018
Trade and other payables 40,991 -
Finance leases 59 37

Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major banks with high 
quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. 
Risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. The 
entity does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counter-party.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank and cash deposits.

Interest rate exposure and investment strategies are evaluated by management on a regular basis.  Interest-bearing investments are held 
with reputable banks in order to minimise exposure.  The entity furthermore manages its interest rate risk by obtaining competitive rates 
from different banks.  No significant risks have been identified with regards to interest rates.

Cash flow interest rate risk

Current 
interest rate

Due in less 
than a year

R'000

Due in one to 
two years

R'000

Financial instrument
Trade and other receivables – normal credit terms 10.00% 50,483 -
Trade and other receivables – normal credit terms -% 312,006 -
Cash in current banking institutions 5.25% 377,079 -
Short-term deposits 7.00% 280,643 -
Trade and other payables -% 50,224 -
Other financial assets -% 684,781 -
Finance leases 12.00% 36 -
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Foreign exchange risk

The entity does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

39. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Other minor expenditure 6 27
Written off by the NRF (6) (27)

- -

Each of these have been investigated and disciplinary steps have been taken, where necessary.  The 2018/19 expenditure relates to               
2 incidents, 1 relating to a penalty fee and the other to a missed flight and accommodation due to the late arrival of a shuttle.

40. Irregular expenditure
2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Opening balance 1,516 3,075
Add: Irregular Expenditure – current year 4,374 30,460
Less: Amounts condoned (5,854) (32,019)

36 1,516

Analysis of expenditure awaiting condonation per age classification

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Current year 15 1,136
Prior years 21 380

36 1,516

2019
R'000

2018
R'000

Details of irregular expenditure – current year Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings
Non-compliance with Instruction note 9 of 2017/18 Internal disciplinary steps taken 30
Non-compliance with Instruction note 3 of 2016/17 Internal disciplinary steps taken 3,061
Non-compliance with Practice Note 8 of 2007/08 Internal disciplinary steps taken 1,283

4,374
Details of irregular expenditure condoned Condoned by (condoning authority)
Non-compliance with Practice Note 8 of 2007/08 Internal delegated authority 2,097
Non-compliance to Instruction Note 9 of 2017/18 Internal delegated authority 30
Non-compliance to Instruction Note 3 of 2016/17 Internal delegated authority 3,653
Non-compliance to Instruction Note 7 of 2017/18 Internal delegated authority 29
Non-compliance to section 56 of the PFMA Internal delegated authority 45

5,854



NRF Annual Report 2018/19

PART E: FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

150

41. Segment information

General information

Identification of segments

The entity is organised and reports to management on the basis of seven business units of the entity.  The segments were organised 
around the type of service delivered.  Management uses these same segments for determining strategic objectives.

Information reported about these segments is used by management as a basis for evaluating the segments’ performance and for making 
decisions about the allocation of resources. The disclosure of information about these segments is also considered appropriate for external 
reporting purposes.

The Corporate office is regarded as an administrative department, which does not generate economic benefits or have service potential. 
It has subsequently been disclosed as a reconciling item to the entity surplus/deficit.

Types of goods and/or services by segment

These reportable segments as well as the goods and/or services for each segment are set out below:

Reportable segment Goods and/or services

Research and Innovation 
Support and Advancement 
(RISA)

The business unit provides for the promotion and support of research and research capacity development in 
all fields of knowledge and technology, through investing in knowledge, people and infrastructure; developing 
research capacity, and advancing equity and equality, to unlock the full creative potential of researchers; assisting 
with the development of institutional capacity; and, facilitating strategic national and international partnerships 
and knowledge networks.

iThemba Laboratory 
for Accelerator Based 
Sciences (iThemba LABS)

The facility provides advanced, viable, multidisciplinary facilities for training, research and services in the fields of 
subatomic nuclear science and applied radiation medicine.

South African Astronomical 
Observatory (SAAO)

SAAO is the national centre for optical and infrared astronomy in South Africa.  Its primary function is to conduct 
fundamental research in astronomy and astrophysics.  SAAO operates SALT, located at its site near Sutherland, 
on behalf of an international consortium and promotes astronomy and astrophysics in Southern Africa.

South African Institute 
for Aquatic Biodiversity 
(SAIAB)

SAIAB serves as a research hub for aquatic biodiversity in southern Africa by housing and developing the National 
Fish Collection and associated resource collections as research tools and resources of aquatic biodiversity data.  
It also generates knowledge on aquatic biodiversity through interactive and collaborative scientific research, and 
disseminates scientific knowledge at all levels.

South African Agency for 
Science and Technology 
Advancement (SAASTA)

SAASTA is positioned as a science engagement agency in advancing the public awareness, appreciation and 
understanding of science, engineering and technology in South Africa, as well as the integration of science 
awareness activities across the entity.

National Zoological 
Gardens of South Africa 
(NZG)

The NZG is a national facility and an active participant for research in terrestrial biodiversity.  The NZG will 
be officially transferred to the custodianship of the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) from         
1 April 2018.

South African 
Environmental Observatory 
Network (SAEON)

SAEON is a research unit that establishes and maintains nodes (environmental observatories, field stations or 
sites) linked by an information management network to serve as research and education platforms for longterm 
studies of ecosystems that will provide for incremental advances in our understanding of ecosystems and our 
ability to detect, predict and react to environmental change.  An application has been submitted to the Minister of 
Science and Technology to declare SAEON as a national facility.

South African Radio 
Astronomy Observatory 
(SARAO)

The SKA project is an international effort to build the world's largest radio telescope, with about a square kilometre of 
collecting area.  Deploying thousands of radio telescopes, in three unique configurations, it will enable astronomers to 
monitor the sky in unprecedented detail and survey the entire sky thousands of times faster than any system currently 
in existence.  All existing and future radio astronomy activities are now incorporated into a single radio astronomy 
observatory called the South African Radio Astronomy Observatory (SARAO), which includes MeerKAT, KAT-7, AVN, 
HartRAO and international radio astronomy experiments in the SKA site. 
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Segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities

2019

RISA
R'000

iThemba 
LABS
R'000

SAAO
R'000

SARAO
R'000

SAEON
R'000

SAIAB
R'000

SAASTA
R'000

Inter-
segment 
transfers 

& 
Corporate 

office
R'000

Total
R'000

Revenue
Parliamentary grant 483,612 179,825 54,332 28,583 12,253 19,209 25,022 - 802,836
Ring-fenced income 1,845,591 22,907 9,272 590,405 58,891 9,304 56,117 - 2,592,487
Designated income 379,395 2,155 29,426 45,311 2,814 3,807 7,674 - 470,582
Revenue from exchange 
transactions 436 58,115 3,408 16,885 76 206 3,996 - 83,122

Inter-segment transfers 20,728 41,106 25,822 19,202 21,706 33,679 6,874 (169,117) -
Interest revenue 41 3 - 12,775 - 1 - - 12,820
Total segment revenue 2,729,803 304,111 122,260 713,161 95,740 66,206 99,683 (169,117) 3,961,847

Corporate office revenue 181,237 181,237
Corporate inter-segment 
transfers (29,577) (29,577)

Total revenue 
reconciling items 151,660 151,660

Entity’s revenue 2,729,803 304,111 122,260 713,161 95,740 66,206 99,683 (17,457) 4,113,507

Expenditure
Salaries and wages 113,867 144,824 69,160 225,497 37,472 25,787 28,891 - 645,498
Grants, bursaries 
and other research 
expenditure

2,458,631 5,829 3,184 55,425 4,679 6,062 30,640 - 2,564,450

Programme and 
operating expenditure 66,328 151,659 52,861 423,593 33,824 22,688 38,888 - 789,841

Inter-segment transfers 113,693 7,521 2,412 16,263 10,024 618 2,264 (152,795) -
Total segment 
expenditure 2,752,519 309,833 127,617 720,778 85,999 55,155 100,683 (152,795) 3,999,789
Total segmental 
surplus/(deficit) (22,716) (5,722) (5,357) (7,617) 9,741 11,051 (1,000) (16,322) (37,942)

Total revenue 
reconciling items 151,660 151,660

Corporate office 
expenditure (156,772) (156,772)

Corporate inter-segment 
transfers 45,899 45,899

Entity’s surplus/(deficit) 
for the period (22,716) (5,722) (5,357) (7,617) 9,741 11,051 (1,000) 24,465 2,845
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2019

RISA
R'000

iThemba 
LABS
R'000

SAAO
R'000

SARAO
R'000

SAEON
R'000

SAIAB
R'000

SAASTA
R'000

Inter-
segment 
transfers 

& 
Corporate 

office
R'000

Total
R'000

Opening segment 
accumulated surplus/
(deficit)

(23,842) 7,982 2,617 1,607 (270) 681 (144) 13,930 2,561

Transfer from SALT 
fund - - 2,338 - - - - - 2,338

Segment net capital 
expenditure (3,814) (24,478) (6,319) (172,439) (24,032) (12,081) (739) - (243,902)

Depreciation and 
amortisation 16,979 30,586 9,920 189,636 8,645 8,480 1,820 - 266,066

Corporate office net 
capital expenditure - - - - - - - (7,849) (7,849)

Funds surrendered to 
National Treasury - (10,600) - (5,400) - - - (3,700) (19,700)

Accumulated 
Surplus/(Deficit) (33,393) (2,232) 3,199 5,787 (5,916) 8,131 (63) 26,846 2,359

Assets
Segment assets 1,209,468 483,897 117,845 2,338,686 158,880 111,493 83,786 - 4,504,055
Total assets as per 
Statement of financial 
Position 4,504,055

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 982,128 236,078 30,416 344,385 84,679 44,975 61,598 - 1,784,259
Total liabilities as per 
Statement of financial 
Position 1,784,259

Segment assets and liabilities for the RISA segment includes Corporate office assets and liabilities as these are not separately identified 
or internally reported.
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Segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities

2018

RISA
R'000

iThemba 
LABS
R'000

SAAO
R'000

SARAO
R'000

SAEON
R'000

SAIAB
R'000

SAASTA
R'000

NZG
R'000

Inter-
segment 

adjustments 
& Corporate 

office
R'000

Total
R'000

Revenue
Parliamentary grant 469,429 171,099 51,696 27,196 11,658 18,277 23,503 65,851 - 838,709
Ring fenced income 1,415,282 - 7,903 922,732 21,000 8,986 - 7,500 - 2,383,403
Designated income 1,045,904 12,958 27,906 49,425 39,864 3,667 62,734 1,391 - 1,243,849
Revenue from 
exchange transactions 231 63,520 3,301 10,700 90 384 1,177 44,108 - 123,511

Inter-segment transfers 10,234 58,703 23,286 15,860 31,713 26,455 8,737 29,703 (204,691) -
Interest revenue 63 3 - 18,942 - 1 - - - 19,009
Total segment 
revenue 2,941,143 306,283 114,092 1,044,855 104,325 57,770 96,151 148,553 (204,691) 4,608,481
Corporate office 
revenue 154,687 154,687

Corporate inter-
segment transfers (33,824) (33,824)

Total revenue 
reconciling items 120,863 120,863

Entity’s revenue 2,941,143 306,283 114,092 1,044,855 104,325 57,770 96,151 148,553 (83,828) 4,729,344

Expenditure
Salaries and wages 110,137 133,975 66,493 184,663 33,620 24,590 26,424 84,184 - 664,086
Grants, bursaries 
and other research 
expenditure

2,608,610 7,767 2,596 58,391 5,528 3,925 26,643 - - 2,713,460

Programme and 
operating expenditure 75,032 137,337 44,792 347,268 29,874 19,031 40,287 58,807 - 752,428

Inter-segment transfers 158,334 6,273 2,027 9,515 4,480 444 2,620 1,901 (185,594) -
Total segment 
expenditure 2,952,113 285,352 115,908 599,837 73,502 47,990 95,974 144,892 (185,594) 4,129,974
Total segmental 
surplus/(deficit) (10,970) 20,931 (1,816) 445,018 30,823 9,780 177 3,661 (19,097) 478,507

Total revenue 
reconciling items 120,863 120,863

Corporate office 
expenditure (151,731) (151,731)

Corporate inter-
segment transfers 52,921 52,921

Entity’s surplus/
(deficit) for the period (10,970) 20,931 (1,816) 445,018 30,823 9,780 177 3,661 2,956 500,560
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2018

RISA
R'000

iThemba 
LABS
R'000

SAAO
R'000

SARAO
R'000

SAEON
R'000

SAIAB
R'000

SAASTA
R'000

NZG
R'000

Inter-
segment 

adjustments 
& Corporate 

office
R'000

Total
R'000

Opening segment 
accumulated surplus/
(deficit)

(26,811) 8,629 513 (2,051) (374) 927 (316) - 19,914 431

Transfer from SALT 
fund - - 2,314 - - - - - - 2,314

Transfer to 
infrastructure fund - 3,188 - - - - - - - 3,188

Segment net capital 
expenditure (3,217) (53,158) (6,643) (543,899) (36,633) (17,245) (1,846) (8,084) - (670,725)

Depreciation and 
amortisation 17,156 28,392 8,249 102,539 5,914 7,219 1,842 4,423 - 175,734

Corporate office net 
capital expenditure - - - - - - - - (8,941) (8,941)

Accumulated 
Surplus/(Deficit) (23,842) 7,982 2,617 1,607 (270) 681 (143) - 13,929 2,561

Assets
Segment assets 1,111,526 333,693 110,448 2,328,611 129,739 104,485 82,322 38,547 - 4,239,371
Total assets as per 
Statement of financial 
Position 4,239,371

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 879,896 69,552 20,001 321,294 72,477 41,819 59,134 14,676 - 1,478,849
Total liabilities as per 
Statement of financial 
Position 1,478,849

Segment assets and liabilities for the RISA segment includes Corporate office assets and liabilities as these are not separately identified 
or internally reported.
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Measurement of segment surplus or deficit, 
assets and liabilities

Basis of accounting for transactions between 
reportable segments

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those 
described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

The nature of differences between the 
measurements of the reportable segments’ 
surplus or deficit and the entity’s surplus or 
deficit and discontinued operations

Inter segment transfers: segment revenue and segment expense 
include revenue and expense arising from transfers between 
segments.  Such transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

The Corporate office is regarded as an administrative department 
and is a reconciling item to the entity's surplus/deficit.

The nature of differences between the 
measurements of the reportable segments’ 
assets or liabilities and the entity’s assets or 
liabilities

There are no differences between the measurements of the 
reportable segments' assets or liabilities in comparison with that 
of the entity.

Information about geographical areas

The entity’s operations are in different regions around the 
country.  However, geographical areas are not used by the entity 
for decision making purposes and information is not reported or 
collected in such a manner.

42. Budget differences

Material differences between budget and 
actual amounts

The budget is prepared well in advance of the financial year.  
Significant differences can occur between the budget compared 
with the actual results.  The entity normally receives additional 
contract income during the financial year and funds carried 
forward are only confirmed at year end, thus subsequent to the 
preparation of the budget.

Income

The decrease in sales at iThemba Labs is due to the lower export 
revenue from isotope sales as a result of equipment breakdown 
during the year.  Other income increased due to penalties levied on 
MeerKAT contracts for contractors not meeting agreed milestones.  
Interest income increased mainly due to higher than expected 
cash balances in the bank during the financial year.  Decreased 
DST contract income is attributable to the carry forward of 
funding on the National Equipment programme, SARCHi and 
Science Missions.  Other contract income decreased due to the 
carry forward of funding on the DHET Scarce Skills programme. 

Expenditure

Total expenditure on the Statement of Financial Performance is 
higher than the budget, although the total expenditure budget of 
the NRF also includes capital expenditure.  Total expenditure of 
the NRF, including capital expenditure, was less by R 196 million 
due to the decrease in revenue.  The decrease in employees' 
remuneration is due to the reclassification of a portion to cost 
of sales for isotope sales as well as delays in the recruitment of 
personnel for two projects at SAEON.  Depreciation increased 
in line with the capitalisation of MeerKAT in April 2018.  Grants, 
bursaries and other research expenditure increased due to the 
dti THRIP grants uptake, Research & Development Infrastructure 
and higher than expected payments for scholarships and 
bursaries.  Programme and operating expenses decreased 
mainly within SARAO as a result of delays in the SKA 1 roll-out.
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ACEP African Coelacanth Ecosystem Programme
AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa
AMS Accelerator mass spectrometry
AOSP African Open Science Platform
ARC Agricultural Research Council
ARIC Applied research, innovation and collaboration
ARU Afromontane Research Unit
ARUA African Research University Alliance
ASCA Agulhas System Climate Array
ASSAf Academy of Science of South Africa
ATAP Acoustic Tracking Array Platform
AVN African VLBI Network
B-BBEE Broad-based black economic empowerment
BEA Bio-energy Atlas
BI Business Intelligence 
BIS Business Information System 
BRIC Biotechnology Regional Innovation Centre
BRICS Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Arica
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CERN European Organization for Nuclear Research (Organisation européenne pour la recherche nucléaire)
CHE Council on Higher Education
C-HRTEM Centre for High-resolution Transmission Electron Microscope
CIKS Centre in Indigenous Knowledge Systems
CODATA Committee on Data for Science and Technology 
CoE Centre of Excellence
CoEs Centres of Excellence
CRTS Catalina Real time Transient Survey
CSA Chemical Structure Association
CV C CV Central
DAFF Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries
DBE Department of Basic Education
DBSA Development Bank of South Africa
DEA Department of Environmental Affairs
DFID Department for International Development
DHET Department of Higher Education and Training

ACRONYMS

ACRONYMS
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DIRCO Department of International Relations and Cooperation
DMR Department of Mineral Resources
DoE Department of Energy
DoH Department of Health
DST Department of Science and Technology
EQDB Research Equipment Database
ERC European Research Council
ERM Enterprise risk management 
ERP Energy Research Programme 
ERP Enterprise resource planning
ESRF European Synchrotron Radiation Facility
EU European Union
GHG Greenhouse gas
GIS Geographic Information System
GMSA Grant Management and Systems Administration
GNSS Global Navigation Satellite System
GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 
GRDMS Geodetic Research Data Management System
GRI Global Reporting Initiative 
GSI German Federal Institute of Research
GSN Graduate Student Network
GRC Global Research Council
HartRAO Hartebeesthoek Radio Astronomy Observatory
HCD Human capacity development
HEI Higher education institution
HERA Hydrogen Epoch of Reionization Array
HICD Human and infrastructure capacity development
HR Human resources
HRTEM High-resolution Transmission Electron Microscopy 
HSRC Human Sciences Research Council
IAU International Astronomical Union
ICP Institutional Capacity Programme
ICRF International Celestial Reference Frame
ICSU International Council for Science
ICT Information and Communications Technology
ICTP International Centre for Theoretical Physics
IDRC International Development Research Centre
IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineering
IGS International GNSS Service

ACRONYMS
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ILTER International long-term ecological research
IRIS Incorporated Research Institutions for Seismology
IKS Indigenous Knowledge System
IMU International Mathematical Union
IO Intelligent observatory
IPAP Industrial Policy Action Plan
IPMS Integrated Performance Management System
IRSF Infrared Survey Facility
ISC International Science Council
ISI Institute for Scientific Information – now known as Web of Science 
IT Information technology
ITIL Information Technology Infrastructure Library
IUFoST International Union of Food Science and Technology
iThemba LABS iThemba Laboratory for Accelerator Based Sciences
JINR Joint Institute for Nuclear Research
KAS Knowledge advancement and support
KPI Key performance indicator
LHC Large Hydron Collider
LSPs Large Survey Projects
LSST Large Synoptic Survey Telescope
LTSER Long term Socio-Economic & Eco-system Research
MARS Marine and Antarctic Research Strategy 
MBA Main-belt asteroids
MDP Management Development Programme 
MIMS Marine Information Management System
MRC Medical Research Council
MST Mathematics, science and technology
MTEF Medium-term Expenditure Framework
MTSF Medium-term Strategic Framework
MV megaVolt
MWLA Multi-wavelength astronomy
NACH National Anti-Corruption Hotline 
NACI National Advisory Council on Innovation
NCBR National Centre for Research and Development (Poland)
NDP National Development Plan 2030
NECSA Nuclear Energy Corporation of South Africa
NEP National Equipment Programme
NFCS National Framework for Climate Services
NGI

ACRONYMS
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NIThep National Institute for Theoretical Physics
NNEP National Nanotechnology Equipment Programme
NRIP National Research Infrastructure Platforms
NPEP Nanotechnology Public Engagement Programme 
NRDS National Research and Development Strategy
NRF National Research Foundation
NSFAS National Student Financial Aid Scheme
NSI National System of Innovation
NZG National Zoological Gardens
OECD Organisation for Economic Corporation and Development
OHS Occupational health and safety
OWASAP Open Web Application Security Project 
PDP Professional Development Programme
PFMA Public Finance Management Act
PPC Parliamentary Portfolio Committee
PPPFA Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act
R and QCIS
RCCE Research Chairs and Centres of Excellence
R&D Research and development
RDM Research data management
RE Research and evaluation
RI Research infrastructure
RISA Research and innovation support and advancement
ROSS Research Output Submission System
ROV Remotely operated vehicle
RRI Responsible research innovation
SA South Africa
SAAO South African Astronomical Observatory
SAASTA South African Agency for Science and Technology Advancement
SAASTE South African Association for Science and Technology
SADC Southern African Development Community
SAEON South African Environmental Observation Network
SAEOS South African Earth Observation Strategy
SAEOSS South African Earth Observation System of Systems
SAIAB South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity
SAIF South African Isotope Facility 
SAIP South African Institute for Physics
SALT Southern African Large Telescope
SAMRC South African Medical Research Council

ACRONYMS
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SANBI South African National Biodiversity Institute
SARChI South African Research Chairs Initiative
SARIR South African Research Infrastructure Roadmap
SARVA South African Risk and Vulnerability Atlas
SASAC South African Systems Analysis Centre
SASDI South African Spatial Development Infrastructure
SAWS South African Weather Service
SCM Supply chain management
SDG Sustainable development goals
SET Science, engineering and technology
SGC Science Granting Council
SGCI Science Granting Councils Initiative
SKA Square Kilometre Array
SKA-SA Square Kilometre Array South Africa
SMCRI Shallow Marine and Coastal Research Infrastructure
SPP Strategic Platforms Programme
SPP Strategy, Planning and Partnership
SSC Separated Sector Cyclotron
STEMI Science, technology, engineering, mathematics and innovation
STI Science, technology and innovation 
STISA Science, Technology and Innovation Strategy for Africa 2014
TCA The Conversation Africa
the dti Department of Trade and Industry
THRIP Technology and Human Resources for Industry Programme
TIA Technology Innovation Agency
TWAS The World Academy of Sciences
UK United Kingdom
USA United States of America
VLBI Very Long Baseline Interferometry
WIOMSA Western Indian Ocean Marine Science Association
WoS Web of Science
WSP Workplace Skills Plan 
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